
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 OCTOBER 2016
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification” that has been disclosed to the Monitoring Officer. 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 6 September 2016 3 - 10

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 16/00578/R3FUL - Jack Hunt School, Ledbury Road, Netherton, 
Peterborough

11 - 72

5.2 15/01839/MMFUL - Pasture House Farm, The Causeway, 
Thorney, Peterborough

73 - 106

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Public Document Pack



Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recordi
ng.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: Harper (Chairman), Serluca (Vice Chairman), Bull, Casey, Hiller, Stokes, Martin, 
Sylvester, Bond, Clark and C Ash

Substitutes: Councillors: Bisby, Iqbal, Sandford and Saltmarsh

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 6 SEPTEMBER 2016

Members Present: Councillors Harper (Chairman), Serluca (Vice Chairman), Bull, Casey, 
Hiller, Stokes, Martin, Sylvester, Clark, Bond, and Ash

Officers Present:  Nick Harding, Head of Planning
Hannah Edwards, Planning and Highways Lawyer 
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highways)
Pippa Turvey, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

No apologies for absence were received.

2. Declarations of Interest

Councillor Harper declared that, in relation to item 5.1 ‘16/01340/FUL – Rear of 160 
Broadway, Peterborough, PE1 4DQ’, he had been lobbied by Ward Councillor 
Nadeem. The remaining Members of the Committee confirmed that they had also been 
lobbied in such a fashion. It was noted that this would not impact on their consideration 
of the item.

Councillor Bond advised that, although he was Ward Councillor Gunthorpe, he had not 
been involved in any discussion in relation to item 5.2 ‘16/01209/FUL – 78 Storrington 
Way, Werrington, Peterborough PE4 6QP’. 

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

No Members’ declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillors 
were received.

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on:

4.1 5 July 2016

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 July 2016 were approved as a correct record.

4.2 26 July 2016 – Extraordinary Committee

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2016 – Extraordinary Committee were 
approved as a correct record.

4.3 26 July 2016

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2016 were approved as a correct record.

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

3



5.1 16/01340/FUL – Rear of 160 Broadway, Peterborough, PE1 4DQ

The Committee was presented with an application for the construction of one new 
dwelling at the rear of 160 Broadway, Peterborough, with new vehicular crossing.

The Head of Planning provided an overview of the application and highlighted a 
number of key issues within the report and update report. 

Councillor Shearman addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 
Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

● It was noted that the residents association had sent in a representation which 
had been acknowledged by the planning department but had not been included 
in the report.

● It was advised that Councillor Peach was in agreement with the development.
● The proposed property was not directly overlooked.
● It was believed that the design was sympathetic to surrounding properties, 

more so than other buildings nearby.
● It was advised that in 1986/87 officers recommended granted permission for a 

five bedroom building and in 2004 recommended approval for the building to 
be demolished and replaced with flats. 

● There was an established precedent within the area for building on green sites.
● There had been very few local objections.
● The design of the building was considered to be of a better design than others 

in the vicinity.
● It was believed that a few additional vehicles would not adversely affect the 

traffic although not everyone agreed.

Mohammed Iqbal addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted 
included:

● The property size within the surrounding area was varied. 
● It was not believed that the removal of tress, pruning or potential for root 

damage was significant enough to refuse planning permission. 
● It was considered that the overbearing impact or overshadowing to surrounding 

buildings was acceptable. 
● The location of the property within the plot was emphasised, and the distance 

from boundaries.
● It was highlighted that the proposed access utilised the existing pedestrian 

entrance.
● In was considered that all the points raised in the pre-application had been 

addressed.

In response to questions from the Committee the Head of Planning clarified that the 
distance between the host building’s bay window, and the line of the proposed 
development was 3.8 metres. It was further explained that, during pre-application 
process officers indicated the problems with the application, but did not advise that 
addressing these issues would ensure the application was approved.

The Committee discussed the application and considered that the proposal was too 
large for the plot, particularly in relation to the impact this would have on the amenity 
of the host dwelling. It was further suggested that the development would have an 
overbearing impact and was not in keeping with its surroundings within the 
conservation area.

4



It was noted that while the size of the proposed gardens for the new dwelling and the 
host dwelling would be considered acceptable within a more dense area, as the area 
surrounding this site was characterised by large spaces and gardens, such distances 
would be out of keeping. 

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be refused, as per 
officer recommendation, for the reasons set out in the report. The motion was carried 
8 voting in favour and 2 voting against.

RESOLVED: (8 voted in favour, 2 voted against, 0 abstained from voting) that planning 
permission is REFUSED for the reasons set out below.

Reasons for the decision:

The proposal was unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material 
considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan 
and for the specific reasons given in the report.

5.2 16/01209/FUL – 78 Storrington Way, Werrington, Peterborough, PE4 6QP

The Committee was presented with an application for the change of use of 78 
Storrington Way, Werrington, from A3 to A4. Specifically to application was for a Micro 
Pub, including the refurbishment of a vacant shop unit, the installation of an internal 
accessible toilet, and the creation of a cool room with associated condenser unit to the 
rear of the property.

The Head of Planning provided an overview of the application and highlighted a 
number of key issues within the report and update report. 

Councillor Fower addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 
Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

● It was noted that CS15 policy encouraged business development in local 
centres.

● The junction opposite the proposed site was not used appropriately. It was 
considered that the application may result in the junction being re-designed.

● It was unclear if the flat above the site were consulted.
● It was suggested that adequate waste and recycling facilities should be 

considered, alongside appropriate parking and a possible dropped kerb.
● It was thought that one of the three parking spaces outside the venue should 

be classified as disabled, as access would be difficult from the rear car park.
● Assurance was requested that tables and chairs would not be sited outside.
● It was further requested that the rear of the building not be used by customers.
● The majority of those in the area were in favour of the application. 
● Better signage was thought to be needed to prevent parking on double yellow 

lines. Councillor Fower was pleased to see there was a ramp for disabled 
access on the proposed plans.

● Anti-social behaviour had been a problem in the past however this had been 
addressed. It was however a problem when anti-social behaviour orders were 
issued in Werrington Centre, it tended to move on into the application area.

The Head of Planning advised that planning conditions could only be applied to the 
property on the application.

5



John Lawrence, Applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted 
included:

● The applicants had past experience in running pubs in Peterborough. 
● An alcohol licence had already been granted to the applicants for the site 

without conditions. 
● It was considered that if the opening hours of the micropub were reduced over 

the weekend, it would not be commercially viable to open.
● Mr Lawrence had developed a good working relationship with the police and 

local officers.
● A micropub differed to a traditional pub in a number of ways, namely with limited 

hours, limited drinks, no food, not television, and no gambling.
● The applicants were also looking also to open as a coffee shop in the morning 

and to be a meeting space for free local use.
● Occasional music from a Spanish guitarist would occur monthly. 
● There would be two small tables at the front of the building, which had included 

and within the licensing permission.
● Under 18’s would not be permitted on the premises.
● Noise and disturbance to neighbours would be kept to a minimum.
● The land at the rear of the site was intended to be used for smokers, with a 

shelter, keeping smokers at the rear of the property rather than the front, in a 
contained, fenced area which was deemed preferable. 

Councillor Bull declared that she was an acquaintance of the one of the applicants for 
this site and, as such, retired from the meeting before questions were asked.

The Head of Planning advised that there was an error in the report, and that condition 
2 should read:

1) The ‘micro’ pub use hereby approved shall be open for business solely during 
the following times:
- 15:00 hours to 22:00 hours Monday to Friday
- 12:00 hours to 22:00 hours Saturdays
- 12:00 – 20:00 Sundays and Bank Holidays.

In response to questions from the Committee the Head of Planning clarified that the 
Committee had no power to regulate activity outside of the application area. As such, 
the Committee could not impose a condition to restrict smoking at the front of the 
property, however could do so within the yard. This had been recommended in 
condition 5.

The possibility of imposing a condition in relation to the yard area that restricted 
drinking, but permitted smoking, was discussed. The Committee considered that this 
would be preferable to having people smoke outside the front of the building, as it was 
believed this would have a greater detrimental impact on the amenity of residents in 
the flats above.

The Head of Planning commented that such a condition may be difficult to enforce if 
complaints were received. It was further advised that if any smoking shelter was 
intended, that this may been its own planning permission, depending on the nature of 
the shelter.

6



The Committee discussed the application and considered that it was broadly in favour 
of such a proposal. Concern was expressed around the possibility of smoking at the 
front of the premises, however.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, subject to the amendment of condition 2 and 5. The motion 
was carried 8 voting in favour and 1 abstaining from voting.

RESOLVED: (8 voted in favour, 0 voted against, 1 abstained from voting) that planning 
permission is GRANTED subject to:

2) The conditions set out in the report; and
3) The amendment of condition 2 to read ‘The ‘micro’ pub use hereby approved 

shall be open for business solely during the following times:
- 15:00 hours to 22:00 hours Monday to Friday
- 12:00 hours to 22:00 hours Saturdays
- 12:00 – 20:00 Sundays and Bank holidays.’; and

4) The amendment of condition 5 to read ‘Notwithstanding the submitted 
information the rear yard area of the building may be used for smoking, but 
shall not be used by customers for drinking.’

Reasons for the decision:

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable 
having been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing 
against relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

- The proposed use would not adversely impact upon the amenities of the 
residents of flats above the row of shop units of which the applicant unit was a 
part or the amenities of the occupiers of the residential properties close by in 
accordance with policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD

- The use of the premises as a 'micro' pub was acceptable within the shopping 
parade, as defined as a local centre in the Peterborough Development Plan. 
This would be to the benefit of the viability of the other businesses in the 
shopping parade in accordance with policy CS15 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy

- There was adequate space to accommodate the vehicles that would be 
generated by the customers of the micro pub in accordance with policy PP13 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

5.3 16/01248/FUL – 195 – 197 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE1 2PL

Councillor Bull re-joined the meeting at this point.

The Committee was presented with an application for a Shisha Bar to the rear of 195 
– 197 Lincoln Road, Peterborough.

The Head of Planning provided an overview of the application and highlighted a 
number of key issues within the report and update report. 

Councillor Ferris addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 
Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

7



● Councillor Ferris had met with the applicant, who appeared to be a responsible, 
committed business man within an established multi-cultural area.

● People currently travel to Leicester or London to smoke Shisha.
● Previously the applicant’s business was located in the Taverners Road area, 

where there are already the worst air quality issues in Peterborough and locals 
were being exposed to unpleasant conditions.

● Shisha smoke would have differing odours depending on the flavour used.
● There had been some incidents of anti social behaviour which were not related 

to poor management of customers.
● It was considered that the application enhanced street scene at rear of property.
● It was believed unlikely that residents would be disturbed.
● No alcohol would be served, which it was believed would keep noise and 

behaviour under control.
● Conditions could be applied to the application in relation to opening hours, if 

the Committee wished.
● It was believed that the proposal would enhance a vibrant business in the area.

David Shaw, Agent, and Paul Ingle, Architect, addressed the Committee in support of 
the application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

● Impact on adjoining residents was considered to be minimal. The wall of the 
flats neighbouring was windowless, which would minimise the impact of noise 
and smell.

● No objections had been received relating to the application from neighbouring 
properties or occupants of the flats.

● Peterborough City Centre Pollution Team had suggested that a temporary 
permission would be appropriate for a year and then reviewed.

● The restaurant would open from 12:00 hours to 23:00 hours every day and the 
same hours were requested for the application site.

● Alcohol would not be sold on the premises although diners would allowed to 
bring drink with them.

● The top metre of the shelter would be visible over the fence from Green Lane 
and would have a visual impact on the area. This was thought to be preferable 
as an improvement on the current appearance. 

● The rear outside area would be used for smoking and it was unlikely to be used 
as a drinking area although food would be served in the outside space.

● The smoking experience took approximately 30 minutes.
● Acoustic measures had been included within the application.

In response to questions from the Committee the Head of Planning clarified that, if the 
Committee was minded to approve the application, conditions could be included within 
the permission to address hours of operation and to impose a temporary period for the 
permission to run.

The Committee discussed the application and considered that, if permission were to 
be granted on a temporary basis, it would allow for a better understanding of whether 
amenity would be impacted. It was not considered that residents of the adjacent flats 
would be greatly disturbed, as no windows would look directly onto the proposal. It was 
further considered that the proposal may constitute an improvement in the visual 
amenity of the area. 

The Committee further discussed what would constitute appropriate opening times for 
the proposal, and whether these should be less than the current opening times of the 

8



existing restaurant. It was concluded that any reduction in opening hours could be 
reviewed following the end of the temporary period.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, contrary 
to officer recommendation, as it was considered that any detriment to the amenity of 
residents of the adjacent block of flats, resulting from noise and odour disturbance, 
would be minimal. The motion was carried 8 voting in favour and 2 voting against.

RESOLVED: (8 voted in favour, 2 voted against, 0 abstained from voting) that planning 
permission is GRANTED subject to:

1) A condition limiting the permission to a 1 year temporary period;
2) A condition limiting the opening times to reflect the opening times of the 

restaurant (Monday – Sunday: 12:00 hours – 23:00 hours);
3) A condition in relation to compliance with the approved plans; and

Reasons for the decision:

It was considered that any detriment to the amenity of residents of the adjacent block 
of flats, resulting from noise and odour disturbance, would be minimal. A 1 year 
temporary permission was believed to be appropriate to determine whether the impact 
of disturbance exceeded acceptable levels.

Chairman
1.30pm – 4.00pm

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



Planning and EP Committee                                                                  Item 
1

Application Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL 

Proposal: New dining and teaching block and science laboratory, all-weather pitch 
with associated external works including car parking and landscaping

Site: Jack Hunt School, Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough
Applicant: Peterborough City Council

Agent: Miss Heike Becker
Frank Shaw Associates

Referred by: Councillor E Murphy 
Reason: Wider public concern 

Site visit: 12.04.2016

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to conditions   

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises the Jack Hunt School, an 11-19 age secondary school located 
within Netherton.  There is an overall capacity at present for 1,800 pupils and in January 2016 the 
number of staff employed on the site stood at 114 teachers (107.82 full-time equivalent) and 137 
support staff (full-time equivalent).  

The site is formed by a mixture of single storey and two storey buildings located within the 
northern-most portion of the site, fronting on to Ledbury Road.  The main vehicular access to the 
site is taken from Bradwell Road, with a large car park situated to the west of the site albeit there is 
a smaller parking area and vehicular access from Ledbury Road.  There is a large sports centre 
within the site, including a swimming pool operated by Vivacity.  To the rear of the built form are 6 
no. multi-use games areas (MUGAs) which are floodlit.  The remainder of the site is formed by 
open grass playing fields which are intersected by Blind Lane public footpath running east-west 
and linking Audley Gate and Bradwell Road.  

The surrounding area is predominantly residential, with dwellings surrounding the site on all sides 
along Audley Gate, Glamis Gardens, Ledbury Road, Bradwell Road, Thorpe Road and Hardwick 
Court.  These dwellings are a variety of styles and a mix of single and two storeys in height.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for:

a) Construction of a two storey detached building to provide a new dining hall/canteen at ground 
floor and 11no. classrooms at first floor (including a new ICT suite);

b) Construction of a single storey extension to provide a new science laboratory;
c) Construction of an all-weather pitch with associated fencing including a 3 metre high acoustic 

fence;
d) Additional parking representing an increase by 17no. spaces;
e) Associated external works including hard and soft landscaping. 

13



It should be noted that the scheme has been amended from that which was originally submitted, to 
remove the 12 metre high floodlighting columns from the all-weather pitch (AWP).  

The AWP is proposed for both school and community use but with limited hours of operation for 
the latter as follows:   

Term Time
Monday to Friday 17:00 – 20:00 hours
Saturday 09:00 – 13:00 hours
Sunday 10:00 – 12:00 hours

School Holidays
Monday to Friday 09:00 – 20:00 hours
Saturday 09:00 – 13:00 hours
Sunday 10:00 – 12:00 hours

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
P1032/86 Two single storey extensions to science 

block
Comments 
to County 
Council 

21/01/1987

P0224/87 Single storey extensions to school Permitted 30/04/1987
P0351/87 Alterations to existing site road layout to 

facilitate access to school
Permitted 17/07/1987

    91/P0755 Erection of extension and alteration to staff 
and administrative block

Permitted 08/11/1991

92/P0474 Extension to car park Permitted 19/10/1992
96/P0802 Extension to existing dining area Permitted 28/11/1996
97/P0079 Extension to provide additional 

teaching/library space (outline) as amended 
by drawings received on 06.06.97

Permitted 17/07/1997

97/00891/OUT Residential development Permitted 17/12/1997
97/01062/REM Extension to provide new library and 

classroom block (outline of planning 
permission 97/P0079 refers)

Permitted 14/11/1997

98/00570/FUL Extension to form new classroom (phase 3) 
addition to scheme approved by 97 P0079 
and 97/1062

Permitted 15/07/1998

01/00321/FUL Extension to form new classroom and 
alterations to form new entrance

Permitted 03/05/2001

01/00353/FUL Extension to science room Permitted 02/05/2001
03/01794/R3FUL Refurbishment of sports hall and 

conversion into a gymnastics facility 
including single storey extension for storage

Permitted 04/02/2004

05/00296/R3OUT New and extended school buildings 
relocation of existing play areas, car 
parking, relocation of cycle facilities and 
amend access arrangement to Bradwell 
Road and associated works - amended 
plans received 25/04/05

Permitted 25/05/2005

05/01570/FUL New and extended school buildings, 
relocation of existing hard play areas, new 
car parking and amended access 
arrangements from Bradwell Road

Permitted 20/12/2005

14



06/00343/FUL Extension to existing day nursery Permitted 28/04/2006
07/01043/FUL Retention of temporary car park and access 

link from the main car park
Permitted 04/03/2008

09/00098/FUL Installation of 10 column-mounted 
floodlights to existing hard play areas

Permitted 16/06/2009

12/00827/FUL Construction of part two storey, part single 
storey extension to Block 4, single storey 
extension and internal remodelling of Block 
3 including new external openings and 
associated external works

Permitted 26/07/2012

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Section 8 - Safe and Accessible Environments 
Development should aim to promote mixed use developments, the creation of strong neighbouring 
centres and active frontages; provide safe and accessible environments with clear and legible 
pedestrian routes and high quality public space.

Section 8 - Social, Cultural and Recreational Facilities 
Developments should plan for the provision and use of shared space, community services and 
other local services; guard against the unnecessary loss of valued services/facilities; allow 
established shops, facilities and services to develop/modernise; and ensure an integrated 
approach to the location of housing, economic uses and communities facilities and services.

Section 8 - School Development 
Great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

Section 8 - Open Space 
Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings/land (including playing fields) should not be 
built on unless an assessment has been undertaken which clearly shows the open space is surplus 
to requirements; the open space would be replaced by an equivalent or better provision; or the 
development is for alternative sports and recreation provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh 

15



the loss.

Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk 
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.

Section 11 - Biodiversity 
Development resulting in significant harm to biodiversity or in the loss of/deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats should be refused if the impact cannot be adequately mitigated, or 
compensated.  Proposals to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be permitted and 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity into new development encouraged.  

Development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest or other specified sites should 
not normally be permitted  where an adverse effect on the site's notified special interest features is 
likely. An exception should only be made where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development 
requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered or 
determined.

Section 11 - Noise 
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted; 
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to 
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.

Section 11 - Light Pollution 
Lighting should be designed to limit pollution on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 
areas of nature conservation.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

16



CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS18 - Culture, Leisure and Tourism 
Development of new cultural, leisure and tourism facilities will be encouraged particularly in the city 
centre.

CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative 
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.

CS22 - Flood Risk 
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

17



4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (27.04.16)
No objections – The LHA, although supporting the additional proposed parking spaces, would also 
encourage that a parking strategy be formed through the school Travel Plan to encourage staff and 
other users into using other modal forms of transport.  The Applicant has demonstrated that a 
sufficient amount of cycle parking is already provided with an amount of capacity available.  The 
findings of the pedestrian, cycle and on street parking surveys are accepted and discussions with 
the Council’s Sustainable Transport team have found that improvements could be made to key 
routes.  These could be conditioned.  

Existing on-street parking has been highlighted as a concern due to irresponsible parking at peak 
school times, generally along Ledbury Road and Bradwell Road.  There are already parking 
restrictions to these immediate areas and therefore, no further restrictions are suggested.  
Emphasis must be placed on encouraging more favourable modal use, such as public transport, 
walking or cycling.  

A revised Travel Plan is required to address the issue and set SMART targets.  A Parking 
Management Plan has not been submitted.  This will be required to manage the drop-off/pick up of 
pupils on the surrounding highway network.  Where management plans have been set up for other 
schools, this has been successful.  The CMP could be conditioned prior to commencement on site.  

PCC Pollution Team (28.04.16)
No objections – Comments relating to lighting impact have been submitted however, given that the 
proposal no longer includes floodlighting to the AWP, these no longer apply.  

There is no specific authoritative guidance on assessing noise from sports facilities.  However, 
Sport England has produced guidance which is based upon numerous examples of existing sports 
facilities.  Sport England considers that World Health Organisation guidance on upper noise limits 
is the most relevant.  

The noise levels used in the submitted assessment for the application are equivalent to those 
identified by Sport England, and can therefore reasonably be used for the purposes of considering 
the potential noise impact from the facility.  The predicted noise levels are within Sport England’s 
determining upper noise limit criteria.  It is interesting to note that predicted levels for general 
playground use do approximate the Sport England upper noise limit criteria.  However, in both 
circumstances, the predicted noise is more than 5dB below the existing measured noise 
environment.  

Archaeological Officer (14.04.16)
No objections – The proposed development site and surrounding area contain no known heritage 
assets.  Therefore, the archaeological potential of the site is unknown.  Evaluation by trial 
trenching, to be secured by condition, would be sufficient to characterise the site however should 
the development entail minimal ground excavations, monitoring could be an alternative.  Without 
further information on the depths of groundwork, an informed recommendation cannot be made.  

Lead Local Drainage Authority (16.09.16)
Objection – From the details submitted, the ground conditions appear suitable for infiltration 
techniques on site.  As such, we would not expect to see a connection to the adjacent surface 
water sewer.  It seems that infiltration could be achieved without significant changes to the 
proposals.  Confirmation is needed on the proposed route of surface water disposal and, if there 
are reasons for not utilising the infiltration capacity, these should be clarified along with 
confirmation from Anglian Water that a connection to the sewer is acceptable.  

PCC Conservation Officer (19.09.16)
No objections – The revised scheme omits the proposed floodlighting and this removes any impact 
on heritage assets in the locality.  

18



PCC Wildlife Officer (19.09.16)
No objections – The proposal appears to involve the removal of areas of vegetation which may 
support nesting birds.  Recommend that a standard bird nesting informative be attached should the 
scheme be approved.  Satisfied that the proposal is unlikely to affect bats, and external light levels 
appear acceptable.  The areas around the school buildings do not represent good quality bat 
foraging habitat and pleased to note that there is now to be no provision of lighting to the AWP.  
Planting plans appear broadly acceptable, and the use of native species where appropriate is 
recommended.  

PCC Tree Officer (16.09.16)
No objections – To facilitate the proposal, there is the potential loss of two trees.  These have very 
limited public amenity and their loss will be mitigated by the trees as identified on the landscape 
masterplan.  With the additional trees proposed, there is the potential for a net increase in tree 
cover on the site.  

The tree protection plan within the arboricultural report is not adequate in describing the protective 
fencing or its location.  This needs to be updated to include all trees likely to be affected by the 
proposal.  

PCC Travel Choice 
No comments received.

Historic England (30.08.16)
No comments – The application should be determined in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance, and on the basis of your specialist Conservation advice.  

Sport England (16.09.16)
A full copy of Sport England’s comments is can be found at Appendix 1. In summary, Sport 
England has no objections – The proposal would meet with exceptions policy E5 and specifically:
- It has been demonstrated that the proposed position of the AWP will not adversely affect other 

grass pitch provision on the site and that it is located in the preferred position from an 
operational point of view, as alternative locations would disrupt existing [pitch provision or be 
too remove from the school buildings.  

- Notwithstanding this, the impact on adjoining residential properties needs to be assessed by the 
relevant qualified Environmental Health Officers.

- The proposed surfacing is primarily suitable for football use but can also be used for general 
multi-sport use during PE lessons.  It is however not suitable for competitive adult hockey use.  

- The Applicant has adequately demonstrated the reasoning for choice of this surface and 
operational restrictions will be in force to minimise adverse impact on the facility at The Grange.  

- It has been demonstrated that the proposed emergency access will not have an adverse impact 
on the existing games court.  

- It has been demonstrated that there is a curriculum need for the proposal and a facility of this 
type will undoubtedly benefit the school in delivering PE and games lessons.  The need for an 
all-weather surface is intensified by the increasing number of pupils at the school.  

- Peterborough has general artificial grass pitch provision below the national average with a 
nominal deficit of 1.2 pitches in the City.  Modelling calculates that all grass pitches in 
Peterborough are operating at full capacity and as such, an additional pitch would not affect 
existing usage of other pitches during peak period especially as proposed community usage at 
Jack Hunt is extremely limited due to the lack of floodlighting.  

- The removal of floodlighting from the scheme will significantly reduce the potential for residential 
amenity to be affected.  However, from a sport perspective, this reduces the benefits as the 
main value from such a facility comes from hiring it out to local clubs for midweek winter 
training. 

- The school has acknowledged detrimental impact upon The Grange and suggested a series of 
measures to reduce this.  The loss of revenue to The Grange from the school no longer using it 
will harm this facility.  However, weighed against this are the benefits to the school. 

19



Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) (07.09.16)

No further comments, observations or suggestions.  

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 351
Total number of responses: 557 (as of 30 September 2016)
Total number of objections: 122
Total number in support: 433

Throughout the determination of the planning application, there have been two consultation 
periods: 21st April 2016 (for a period of 26 days) and 26th August 2016 (for 28 days).  Consultation 
has taken place via individual letters, site notices and press adverts (see Section 5(a) below).  

For ease of presentation of the comments received, the responses have been split into Round 1 
(original submission) and Round 2 (revised proposal).  

Round 1 responses

Objections
A petition of 121 signatories (some of whom have written in individually) has been received which 
raises the following:

‘This petition is signed by residents affected by the all-weather pitch proposals.  We are not 
against the principle of the school’s expansion but we oppose the unnecessarily full sized – 
whether floodlit or not – all-weather pitches and their location, which will seriously affect our 
residential amenity.  Our amenity will be affected because of the sheer size of the AGP, the 
number, height and brightness of its floodlighting, if it is floodlit, as well as the overbearing 
noise generally ad also the amenity disturbance in the evenings and at weekends.  As such 
we wish to indicate our objection to the planning application.  The application should be 
withdrawn or refused and a new application made without the full sized all-weather pitches, 
irrespective of whether they are floodlit or not.  Also, the only consultation regarding the 
schools expansion was at very short notice and only the residents of Glamis Gardens and a 
few residents of Audley Gate were advised of this, not the estate in general.  The expansion of 
the school will have a big impact on the whole area, with regards to traffic, parking, noise etc.’

122 individual objection letters have been received from members of the public raising the 
following:

Need for the all-weather pitch
 The community does not need a hard court as it has one at the Grange.
 Although the school’s business plan plays down the idea that the pitch will be used much for 

community use, I am sure that once it is there the school will not be able to resist the extra 
revenue that would ensue.  Although, at present there are sufficient sport amenities in the City 
so perhaps not many organisations would want to use it.  

 The need for expansion of sport facilities at the school is appreciated but on my calculations 
(resident of Audley Gate), 2/3 of the pitch is unnecessary.  

 The community has no need at present of this extra facility.  Indeed, there is already under-used 
capacity at the nearby Grange so it would seem that the construction as proposed is not 
necessary. 

 We had initially thought that the AWP would solely be for the use and benefit of the pupils of 
Jack Hunt, in which case the installations might have been acceptable.  But this is not the case 
and the primary object appears to be to let out the pitches to raise money for the school.  

 There are already 3 all-weather pitches available at The Grange and these are not fully utilised.  
Six such pitches within a few hundred yards on one side of the city seems to be unjustified.  
There is a limit to the number of teams in the immediate area and I would not think that the 

20



prospect of travelling from one side of the city to the other would appear to teams from further 
afield. 

 Surely if there is a genuine need for AWPs, they should be situated in areas where they are 
lacking?

 The need, size and location have not been thoroughly investigated.  
 It is most unlikely that the proposed pitch would raise sufficient income to justify the capital 

expenditure.  
 I (resident of Glamis Gardens) query the need for this number of pitches for school use when 

that already provided at the site seems perfectly adequate. School number proposals show only 
a modest increase in numbers.

 Proper maintenance of playing fields enables their use throughout the school year. Why the 
need for all weather?

 I (resident of Glamis Gardens) do not believe this facility is needed as we have similar amenities 
nearby, including The Grange and Bretton Gate, plus the Power League is only 5 miles away 
and has facilities for 9 outdoor pitches.  

 The Clubs (Netherton Community Sports Association) has no objection to the provision of the 
3G all-weather playing pitch of the type outlined in the consultation exercise (pre-application).  
The Club believes the provision of the pitch within the schools curtilage will be beneficial to the 
schools own sports provision although we are a little surprised that, given the very close 
proximity of the Grange, the provision of the pitch was seen as a priority.  The Club has very 
strong objections to the provision of floodlights and the intended community use of the facility 
into the evening and weekends. There is no educational need for the floodlight facility

 We (Netherton Community Sports Association) have been told that Sport England require 
community use in exchange for the grass pitches being lost at the School to building works. If 
this is the case then Sports England need to be challenged to make the case before public 
money is poured into this aspect of the project. It is impossible to understand how the loss of 
non-community used grass pitches at the School should convert into a requirement to build a 
facility for community use at the School. The club is very concerned indeed at the prospect of 
competing against a state funded competitor and we believe that there already is ample 
community provision for this type of facility in the area. 

 At the Open evening (pre-application), the Head Teacher cited a need for hard surface 
expansion for use at break and lunch times during wet weather, but the proposals reduce the 
school’s hard surface area.  The AWP is not a suitable surface for such usage.

Neighbour amenity
 The continuous noise these extensions cause is too much to ask people to bear having only just 

suffered a year of it with Thorpe Primary making it unbearable to be at home. 
 There is dirt and dust. 
 The proximity of the construction to my house and garden (Audley Gate) is unacceptable.  The 

nearest point of construction should be at least 50 metres, and desirably 65 metres.  The plans 
suggest only 15 metres.  The consequent noise level outside of normal school hours, and 
especially in evenings and weekends, will be unacceptable.  If using the garden for recreational 
purposes, it will not only be the noise but the bad language which we often hear now, and if 
adults and local teams use the pitch it would become far worse.  

 The proposals by the school for planting trees and erecting a ‘sound wall’ will not contain the 
noise and will make it even worse visually.  

 The erection of floodlights would indicate that it is expected that the pitch will be used after 
nightfall which is bad enough in itself, but the height of the lamps has not been researched fully 
as they are too high to be at all acceptable.  

 We (residents of Audley Gate) consider it immoral that the school should make money by 
causing nuisance and distress to its neighbours out of school hours.  

 The AWP is sited too close to the family houses in Audley Gate, particularly to the northern end.  
The school is not so short of space that the AWP needs to be squeezed against residences.  A 
little rearranging and using the sports area to the south of Blind Lane seems the obvious choice.  

21



 The noise and light this will cause will be detrimental to the sleep and health of babies and 
young children living along Audley Gate.  The proposed trees will take ages to grow and will not 
be effective in winter when the trees will be bare.  

 Concerned that the hours of use of the floodlights (proposed to 8pm) could be extended without 
consultation.  

 Considerable increase in litter which, with the prevailing winds, is always being blown into our 
gardens.  

 The proposal would overwhelmingly “interfere with peaceful enjoyment of [our] property” and is 
not in the public interest.  This is contrary to Article 1 of the Human Rights Act.  

 The installation of floodlights which will be in use to 10pm will create an intolerable degree of 
light pollution.  

 The impact on the amenities of our property (Audley Gate) would be unacceptable.  
 The relevant guidance from the Football Association ‘Football Facilities in Schools’ states: 

“There should be a minimum of 65 metres from the perimeter of the [AGP] pitch to the nearest 
residential property”.  Mine would be only 41 metres away, less than 2/3 the recommended 
distance.  

 The floodlights at The Grange, quite some distance away, can already be seen by residents in 
many areas of the Netherton estate when they are lit.  Also, the noise of sports events at The 
Grange and Bretton gate can be heard quite clearly.  Any nearer than that, the noise will be 
intolerable.  

 The Human Rights Act, Section 8 states that everyone has the right to a private and family life 
with protection from noise (AWP) and pollution (floodlights) and action can be taken if these 
rights are breached.  

 There have been medical reports that these 3G AWPs can be a cancer risk as chemicals are 
leached into the soil.  We are concerned about this as we (Audley Gate) and other residents 
have very productive soft fruit and vegetable patches on the school boundary.  

 I (resident of Glamis Gardens) have very significant concerns around the construction traffic that 
will be using Glamis Gardens as the entrance for the duration of the build and the associated 
noise that it will cause. I work from home a considerable amount of the week and being 
adjacent to the site entrance and building work, the noise could cause considerable issues 
whilst working from home.

 As a resident of Glamis Gardens, whilst accepting that a degree of disruption from the 
Construction and Contractors' traffic is inevitable, I have serious concerns about potential 
damage to the road and residents' properties and request that the Planning Committee impose 
suitable restrictions upon Carillion, to ensure that damage and disruption is kept to an absolute 
minimum and the safety of local residents and general members of the public is maintained at 
all times.

 Loss of natural light due to the noise barrier. 

Transport and highways
 Staff should be encouraged not to drive to school.
 The community cannot take any more traffic impact.
 Thorpe School (which has just been extended) and Jack Hunt School start at exactly the same 

time and finish within 5 minutes of each other.  The current level of traffic is extremely high and 
will only increase with the expansion of Jack Hunt.  This is exacerbated by drivers dropping off 
their children at Jack Hunt School who ignore the road markings (i.e. parking over pavements 
and on the ‘Keep Clear’ markings).

 A staggered start and finish time for Jack Hunt School is proposed, in order to help with the 
volume of traffic.  Someone should also be sent to monitor the parking issues outside the 
school, and explain to the drivers the parking restrictions.  

 A pedestrian crossing, as per Ledbury Road, should be installed on Audley Gate near the 
junction due to it being a 3-way junction and the high volume of traffic/pedestrians using Audley 
Gate and Ledbury Road. 

 The layby outside the flats on Ledbury Road should be made residents’ parking only.  As a 
disabled person, there have been occasions when my taxi has not been able to park near to my 
property owing to parents dropping off children.  

22



 Lighting should be installed to the layby as it is a very dark area.  
 During the period of construction, both the pitch and school buildings, there will be a significant 

increase in lorries and vans.  Whilst this may only be temporary, it is real concern for those of us 
(many who are elderly) who have to back out onto the road.  

 There have already been several ‘near misses’ and the congestion and the north-end of Audley 
Gate between 8-9am, 3-4pm and 5-6pm is considerable and may lead to an accident sooner 
rather than later.  Any further traffic from the school will further exacerbate this problem.  

 The interpretation of the Transport Assessment is also devious.  It states that the percentage of 
cyclists is highest in Year 7 but omits the fact that the percentage of pupils being transported to 
and from school by car and van is also highest in Year 7.  This does not bode well for the future 
amount of traffic being generated when another 150 pupils attend the school.  

 There is no more need for additional parking.  Jack Hunt does not care about the residents that 
surround its grounds, and never has.  Constructing buildings that oppress the streets they 
reside on, and increasing air pollution in the neighbourhood by granting an excessive number of 
parking spaces to staff, teachers and students. 

 The proposed access for construction traffic via Glamis Gardens may well be the best, if not 
only, way into the site.  However the roads leading to Glamis Gardens from the south do not 
provide easy access for heavy goods vehicles.  The turning into Audley Gate from either 
direction on Thorpe Road is awkward and long vehicles have difficulty negotiating the traffic 
island.  

 At rush hour, traffic backs up onto Audley Gate beyond the Glamis Gardens junction.  There 
should be a requirement included on any permission that goods vehicles should not be allowed 
to enter the site until 09.00 hours.   There should also be a restriction that vehicles should not 
park to await the end of the time restriction within 1km of the Glamis Gardens/Audley gate 
junction. 

 Whilst accepting the need to use Glamis Gardens for construction traffic, as half of residents are 
retired and 3 of us over 90, it is requested that construction vehicles be restricted to after 8am 
and should cease by 6pm.  

 The restrictive covenant in the conveyance to the Authority prohibiting public access from the 
Glamis Gardens hammerhead must not be contravened.

 There is no enforcement of the parking rules and careless opening of car doors is a serious 
hazard as is the sudden exit from the Bradwell car park. People on their mobiles leaving the car 
park or just distracted have caused me (resident of Doddington Drive) to brake in my car and on 
my bike to avoid an accident.

 The proposed route, if it were to go ahead, via Glamis Gardens would be highly disruptive and 
unsuitable for construction traffic.  

 Concerned that there will not be sufficient parking to cope with the increased capacity and 
surrounding streets will have to accommodate those vehicles that cannot find spaces within the 
school’s car park.  This will be to the detriment of local residents.  

 It should not be necessary to commence heavy traffic and deliveries at 07:30am in the 
morning.  The start time should be 09:00am after the early morning ‘rush hour’ traffic.

Design impact
 If the extension is two storey and between the present gap, it will be seen from Ledbury Road. 
 Extensions are changing the look of the area and less sky can be seen.
 They are making it unpleasant to live here. 
 The size and intended commercial use of this facility is not in keeping with the area.  
 The suggested 3 metre high acoustic barrier is not going to look anything less than ugly.  

Landscape impact
 Longthorpe and Netherton should be open and green legally, you will be destroying this. 

Ecology
 Our garden (Audley Gate) has a roosting and nesting area for at least 5 species of birds. We 

would undoubtedly lose this if the development, with its lighting, goes ahead.  

23



 Since Peterborough is widely known as an environmentally friendly city, I feel that giving over 
any area to an artificial surface would be to the detriment of that image.  

 We (Audley Gate) have bats, newts, toads, fieldmice, red kites, sparrow hawks and a lot of 
nesting birds in our garden.  The noise and floodlights will harm this wildlife.  

Other matters
 The school was only ever meant to be a small single storey building with a small intake of 

pupils.
 Agree with the expansion of the school to reduce overcrowding however disagree with the extra 

students because then the school will still be crowded and we want to reduce this.  
 It is obvious that the school intends to make quite a profit or it would not be able to reduce its 

fees to younger clients.  
 The proposed plans show no indication that the Gas Housing Location structure will not be 

accessible to the general community.  It has previously had to be fenced off because of youths 
who used to go and sit on the roof.  

 The Environmental Noise Assessment monitored background levels in the wrong location.  
Surely this should have been done where the AWP is closest to the houses, not in a location 
which is bound to give a more favourable result?  This is misleading, to say the least.  

 The pitch area would be separated from the school’s playing field, reducing the area available to 
the pupils during their break times at a stage when even greater numbers are expected.  

 How will security arrangements covering the school buildings and fields cope with out of hours 
use? 

 It is a waste of a perfectly good tennis court that they have already spent public funds on to 
build that they will now tear down to put car parking there.  This does not make sense when 
they bill themselves as a sports focused school.  

 The car parking is closer to Bradwell Road and not Glamis Gardens.  No correspondence or 
meetings have taken place with residents of Bradwell Road who would be most affected by the 
additional parking and noise/pollution this would cause.  

 If this development goes ahead, it will have a serious impact on The Grange and Bretton Gate 
sports finances.  

 I (resident of Glamis Gardens) do not think the School/LEA or Carillion construction have 
properly consulted with the local community, totally underestimating the impact it will have on 
local residents and the local community.

 No objection to the expansion but object to the AWP and floodlights.
 No objection to the expansion or AWP but object to the floodlights. 
 Loss of value to resident properties. 
 No objection to such a facility (AWP) being created for use by the school during term time and 

normal school hours.  
 We (residents of Audley Gate) understand that the proposed building costs of the new facility 

would be £600,000 together with annual running costs of £25,000 which we consider to be a 
complete misuse of local taxpayers’ money.  

 Apart from a meeting (pre-application) of which only a few days’ notice was given, and at which 
an apparently fully formed scheme was presented with no opportunity for open discussion, there 
has been no consultation about this proposal.  Hence it has been put forward in ignorance of 
the many key considerations set out in the report (from Nortoft Planning).  

 Whist I (resident of Audley Gate) can assure you that we will oppose the proposal in its present 
form with all the force at our command, we will be happy to enter into discussions to try to agree 
a way forward. We invite the withdrawal of the application so that if at all possible an agreed 
alternative can be submitted, which will not only be acceptable in planning terms (as the present 
application is not) but which will meet the needs of the school for speedy progress in its 
development planning.

Objector’s Report

In addition to the comments raised above, a detailed 48 page report ‘Planning Assessment on the 

24



loss of grass pitches and other sports facilities and the proposed new artificial grass pitch’ (April 
2016) prepared by Nortoft Planning on behalf of the residents of Audley Gate and Glamis Gardens 
has been received.  This report has been updated during the second round of consultation and as 
such, this earlier version is not discussed in detail. 

Councillors

Councillor Murphy - I would like this matter referred to committee if it has not already as lots of 
residents are very concerned about these proposal. Planning does seem to be the top issue in 
Netherton.  The impact of increased traffic and noise beyond working hours will impact on local 
residents.

Supporters

A total of 415 support letters have also been received from members of the public.  Of these, 200 
were standardised letters (a copy of which is provided for information at Appendix 2).  

Need for proposal
 Expansion in the local community, with corresponding growth in 4 of the 7 Primary feeder 

schools, makes expansion of Jack Hunt School critical to maintaining a sense of community.  
 Expansion will preserve the crucial relationships which enable a smooth, productive transition 

from Primary to Secondary education.  
 Our field is always waterlogged and for that reason, we aren’t able to be on the field in the 

winter or when it’s raining.  
 Peterborough is in a state of transition as far as education is concerned, with a desire to raise 

standards and life experiences for all young people educated in the City.  This must include the 
opportunity to inspire and create a sense of awe and wonder in all that our young people 
participate.  The Government’s agenda in its drive for fitness and health and to tackle obesity, is 
bout encouraging participation and supporting elite sporting experience.  It is clear that when 
any child steps upon our (Arthur Mellows College) full-size AWP, the feeling of being part of 
something great and worthwhile in terms of sport, is palpable and there is no doubt that 
participation in a range of sports has increased.  

 From our experience (Arthur Mellows College), it is important that a facility of this size is lit as 
this allows work with students to continue throughout the winter months beyond the normal 
finish time and allows the community to come into the College and benefit from a high quality 
resource.  It also serves as an incredible attraction to feeder primary school students.  

 In this day and age, given the historical underperformance of education in Peterborough, the 
idea that it is ‘OK’ for the students of one of our largest, most successful comprehensives, to 
walk off-site to gain access to a national initiative, exists.  This seems a complete anathema 
against the drive to improve.  

 As a Headteacher in a previous school, I made the mistake of accepting a mini AWP.  It was 
impractical and became a large white elephant which could only be used effectively for staff 
after school in leisure time.  It did not meet the needs of young people and was a waste of tax 
payers’ money.  

 The curriculum benefit of the AWP cannot be questioned.  All children should have, as a basic 
right, access to the best resources to ensure they are able to achieve or exceed their potential 
both academically and physically.  The addition of an AWP will help Jack Hunt School to 
achieve this. 

 As a Sports College, Jack Hunt is in desperate need of an all-weather pitch.  Our track record of 
producing international athletes demonstrates that it will be put to excellent effect both during 
lessons and as part of an extra-curricular programme.  

 As the next largest school community to mine (Thomas Deacon Academy), I am clear that to not 
allow Jack Hunt School to have an AWP would have a serious detrimental effect on the ability of 
the school to offer its students and the community the facilities that are required of a 21st century 
school. 

25



 Reflecting on our own AWP at Thomas Deacon Academy, it is used every lesson throughout the 
day throughout the school year.  Not to have an AWP on site would create significant 
restrictions on our ability to deliver high quality physical education provision.  

Benefit of all-weather pitch
 Jack Hunt School should have an AstroTurf pitch because most other schools in Peterborough 

have one.  
 Jack Hunt is one of the few Secondary schools without an on-site AWP facility, a factor that 

unnecessarily disadvantages students.  
 Another reason to get an all-weather pitch is because of people who love sport.
 It seems wilfully neglectful not to construct an All-Weather Pitch for such a large school, which 

includes sports as one of its specialisms.  
 The encouragement of sport backed up by the provision of facilities that can be used all year, in 

and after school, as a potential transformational improvement to the quality of life for students, 
staff and the local community alike. 

 The new AWP, marked for both hockey and football, will meet the diverse needs of the PE 
curriculum at the school.  

 Lighting the AWP will enable extra-curricular activity and provide the opportunity for sport to be 
a vehicle for both community cohesion, health and wellbeing.  

 Jack Hunt School does make use of The Grange facility and is a community partner of 
Netherton Community Sports Association.  As such, it would not want to damage or negatively 
impact on this valued relationship.  However, to enable the school to make use of the Grange, 
timetabling constraints have to be imposed on the whole school.  An on-site AWP would result 
in more time for PE, and would allow for more innovative curriculum modelling and 
development.  The same is also true of the use of the Bretton Gate AWP.  

 An AWP at Jack Hunt School would enable the work of the primary sports partnership to grow 
and expand so more primary aged children are engaged in regular physical activity and 
competitive sport.  

 The AWP would significantly improve the quality of provision for lunchtime play which is 
currently substandard.  

 The quality of the AWP surface would make a huge difference to the teaching of a huge number 
of sports – football, rugby, hockey, athletics, rounders, softball, ultimate Frisbee, handball, 
tchoukball, rocketball and fitness to name a few.  

 We (Vivacity) operate holiday clubs using the schools facilities and this AWP will only further 
improve what we can offer the children. 

 The health agenda work Vivacity undertake is expanding and developing.  Over the next 3 
years we intend to complete more outreach work in communities to focus on rehabilitation with 
heart failure groups, mental health, diabetes, cancer patients and obesity groups to name but a 
few.  The additional spaces created by this AWP could allow sessions to take place more often 
and on the community’s doorstep.  

 The inclusion of floodlighting within the plans is critical to the facility being of value to the local 
community and indeed, for ensuring the fullest possible use by the school for their PE and 
School Sport offer.  Without floodlighting, use will be severely curtailed and the opportunity to 
improve participation in sport/active recreation will be lost. 

 The opportunities provided by this development can contribute to improving levels of 
participation in the city which are well below regional and national averages, and which 
contribute to similarly poor health statistics.   

 We (Sacred Heart RC Primary School), along with 9 other schools, use the Jack Hunt premises 
for a range of sporting activities.  More recently, we have also used the facilities at The Grange 
however this venue causes problems as we are unable to walk there as we normally do when 
competing at Jack Hunt.  All of our children benefit physically, socially and academically from 

26



our collaborative sporting work with Jack Hunt and the expansion of their sporting facilities 
would further enhance the super work that is currently taking place.

 We (Thorpe Primary School) are committed to the Olympic Legacy challenges and this facility 
will enable far more children from Thorpe to participate in sporting activities in the winter when 
our field is too muddy. 

 The All-Weather Pitch would be used by our pupils (Middleton Primary School) and their 
facilities during and after the school day.  This would be a significant addition, as 77% of our 
pupils are in the lower quartile for the most deprived children nationally.  

 When we play football in the winter (students), we have to waste almost half the lesson 
travelling to the nearby all-weather pitch, it reduces our lesson time drastically.  

 The proposed multi-use 3G surface of the AWP will be marked for both hockey and football and 
has been chosen, primarily, to meet the diverse needs of the PE curriculum at Jack Hunt 
School.  

 As a 3G pitch, we (Peterborough Hockey Club) believe it will offer an excellent facility for the 
club to use particularly in the arena of junior sports participation.  We believe that a new pitch at 
Jack Hunt School opens up a whole host of opportunities for the Hockey Club to work with the 
school and the community to increase sports participation in a fun and engaging manner without 
the need to bus the children over to the hockey club.  

 The school is at the heart of the community and is a key to providing support for young people 
both during school times and also outside of the school day stopping them from ‘hanging 
around on the streets’ and potentially causing ASB in the community and will provide a safe and 
regulated place for young people in the early evening.

Benefit of school expansion
 Building another canteen would be a great idea because more people are coming to the school.  

Without another canteen there would be no room for the new students.  
 Agreement to the construction of the new canteen will make the lives of students and teachers 

easier. 
 Jack Hunt School has to hold 30 extra students each year, and to provide those children with 

the same amount of resources we will need more classrooms, and a bigger canteen.  
 It is hard to find a place in the canteen already due to the amount of people already at the 

school.  How will us students managed when even more students come?
 Block 5 would be helpful as we can have a new science lab, more ICT suites and new improved 

English classrooms.  
 As Jack Hunt School expands, it will give greater chance for local children to use a school on 

their doorsteps with excellent new facilities.  
 This school is already oversubscribed because of its good educational standard.  New facilities 

will ease that pressure.  
 Equipment is too low in numbers for the new students.  This will result in more school hours and 

maybe no lunchtime for children.  This would cause even more trouble as the children will be 
hungry, causing them to be angry, upset and demand change which will cause even bigger 
disruption.  

 Due to financial constraints, previous expansions have neglected some of the older parts of the 
school, leaving some facilities below standard.  The new block will enable the badly needed 
modernisation of facilities needed by the English department to deliver curriculum more 
effectively.  

 Some of the existing corridors were designed to accommodate a smaller student population.  
The addition of 11 new classrooms would allow for the relocation of a curriculum area, meaning 
student movement around the school will be improved.  This will in turn improve the learning 
experience of children and working conditions of staff. 

 As a student, I think it is outrageous that the proposed expansion is being delayed.  If the 
Council has already agreed to adding 30 students to each year even though there are already 
1800 students, they should also give us provisions to support these students.  

 It is our education which is being compromised because of other’s opinions.  Please support the 
students of Jack Hunt and help our school grow.  

27



 Increased chance for local pupils to attend the same secondary school as their siblings.
 Reducing the numbers of students travelling across the city to attend other secondary schools 

that are not in their catchment area.  
 Jack Hunt School has formed effective partnerships with both Highlees and Eyrescroft Primary 

Schools.  Students are familiar with the school and are starting to develop relationships with 
staff.  This is invaluable and the expansion will only enhance this further.  

Transport and highways
 We do not believe that the proposal expansion will have any adverse effect on the traffic 

situation. 
 The increase in car parking is needed to accommodate the workforce of the school and will help 

to alleviate local resident concerns regarding there not being enough on-site parking.
 I am a local resident (Thorpe Road) and do not consider that the additional traffic caused by an 

additional intake of 30 students per year will have any noticeable effect on local roads.    

Neighbour amenity
 The lights will not affect people who live in the area as they won’t be on all day and night.  In 

theory, they would only be on for about 7 hours.  
 We (Jack Hunt School) have a long tradition of working positively with the local community.  

Mindful of wishing to maintain this relationship with our neighbours, we (Headteacher) have 
restricted the community use of the AWP to 8pm in the evenings and limited times at the 
weekends. 

 
Planning balance

 Experience has confirmed that there will always be a degree of disruption with any building 
project.  However, the ongoing improvement in the School has also confirmed that the irritations 
of expansion have easily been outweighed by the benefit.  

Round 2 responses

Objections
4 further objections have been received during the second round of consultation.  Of these, all 
have been received from persons who have previously made comments.  Many of the comments 
contained within the additional objections are summarised above, however some additional 
comments as follows have been raised:
 The actual positioning of the pitch is still the same as in the previous planning application, 

despite many objections from local residents.  The P & DG report states that only a “handful” of 
objections were received in respect of the previous application, but a petition was signed by 
every household greatly affected by these plans.  Every household with the exception of 6 
houses which were either empty, or families were away at the time of the petition.  A total of 47 
households out of 53 signed.  This surely must prove that the proposed AWP, especially the 
positioning of it, will greatly affect residents lives as they are not in keeping with this quiet area. 

 It is noted that the application for the pitches to be floodlit has been withdrawn, but there is no 
guarantee that in the future, permission will not be granted.  It was admitted at the last public 
meeting in July that there was no guarantee that a later application for floodlights would not be 
made, and that the footings for these would still be put in place when the pitch was constructed.  

 One argument the school makes for not using the existing Grange AWP, which are within easy 
walking distance of the school, is that Jack Hunt is the only school in the area without facilities 
on site.  This is incorrect.  One example is the local Kings School and they manage to arrange 
their curriculum around this.  

 If approval is granted for the revised scheme, it should be conditional to the extent that no future 
application for floodlighting will be entertained by the Local Planning Authority.

 The business plan is unsound. 

Objector’s Report 

28



As detailed above, a revised/updated version of the objection report submitted on behalf of 
Residents’ produced by Nortoft Planning has been submitted.  This report comprehensively sets 
out the objections of local residents on the grounds of: need for the proposed AWP (in terms of 
school and community need); need for the AWP in policy terms; design and layout of the AWP and 
impact upon residential amenity; traffic impacts; wildlife; and security.   Many, albeit not all, of the 
objections contained within the report are covered above however for completeness, the Executive 
Summary to this report is provided below.  

Executive Summary

An assessment has been made by Nortoft of the supposed need for a full sized AGP (Artificial 
Grass Pitch, also called ‘all weather pitch’), and of changes proposed to other outdoor sports 
facilities, as part of the planning application for an expansion of the Jack Hunt School in 
Peterborough (PBC-16/00578/R3FUL).

The level of serious concern about the very significant and unacceptable levels of residential 
amenity impact of the AGP can be judged by the fact that a residents’ meeting held on 24th 
April 2016 had 27 residents attending, and by that date 117 local residents had signed a 
petition expressing these serious concerns.  By any standards this is a large number of active 
and concerned members of the community and not what the Applicant suggests as ‘a few local 
residents’. The Applicant also suggests that more people are in favour than not, and whilst this 
may be true of the overall application in relation to the school buildings (which are needed) this 
cannot be reasonably applied to the impact of the AGP.

Need

It is clear from the evidence detailed in this Nortoft report that there is not a requirement for the 
school to have a full-sized floodlit Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP). There is no substantive new 
data in the Applicant’s August report updates (Design and Access Statement, Planning 
Response or related documents) that robustly alters this conclusion. 

The need for school sports land, in relation to school expansion, is set out by national 
guidance. The Department for Education (DfE) BB103 Guidance Notes are very clear that: 
“The guidelines will not necessarily have to be met in every case and should always be 
applied flexibly in the light of particular circumstances”

Most existing schools do not meet the ideal DfE standards, and that is perfectly acceptable. 
This often because they are on tight urban sites and/or have expanded over the years within 
such sites. In the Jack Hunt School context the actual need for more ‘playing field space’ can 
be calculated by assessing the current facilities and increasing them by the planned 10.8% 
increase in pupils.  The Applicant does not suggest any more robust alternative to this method. 
National Planning Policy (NPPF), DfE and other national guidance (Sport England) all work 
from the basis of the effect of development on what is there already. It is thus reasonable and 
appropriate to use this method. 

It is also noted that with the current facilities, the school has also been recognised by many 
other external organisations for the excellent PE work they achieve. These include: Living 
Sport (County Sports Partnership) School of the Year in 2014, 2011 and 2010; a 
commendation by Living Sport in 2015 for continued outstanding contribution to sport; the 
Youth Sport Trust Closing the Gap Award 2015 for using sport to raise achievement, 
especially among disadvantaged groups; and the Youth Sport Trust Gold Quality Mark 
recognising the pivotal role of the PE curriculum, leadership opportunities, sport and 
community activities play in the school. 

29



The school’s current facilities do not seem to be resulting in a significant constraint. Whilst 
facilities can always be improved, and the residents/Nortoft’s suggestions support this, the 
school is doing very well for its pupils, including those from disadvantaged groups.

Hard court areas, including the current tennis, netball multi-use use games areas, are 
considered first in this report, as the Government specifically highlight that such surfaces 
should take priority in the provision of sports and leisure facilities in schools (specifically 
including priority over grass pitches and AGPs). Indeed the DfE Guidance specifies the 
importance of extra netball and tennis courts (hard courts) for larger secondary schools such 
as Jack Hunt.

Essentially the Applicant’s proposals result in a net loss of these priority facilities. An AGP as 
proposed with its soft surface and 40cm pile cannot replace the hard surface that is used for 
tennis and netball. The Lawn Tennis Association would not recommend a 40mm surface for 
tennis. The Castor & Ailsworth Tennis Club which had to relocate to Jack Hunt after their hard 
court facilities at Woodlands Drive were reduced, now face a reduction in courts from 6 down 
to 2 plus 2 further courts of a reduced size. They play on Tuesdays and Wednesdays for 30 
hours a year. Vicvacity holiday club also uses the tennis courts as part its 240 hours use of the 
school facilities. 

In relation to the provision of hard court tarmac area, PCC/the school is proposing to lose 
1,307sqm (net of current), leaving only 2,836sqm of hard court. It should really be increasing 
the hard court area by 10.8% or 447 sqm to the needed 4,590sqm. 

In relation to the need for an AGP, the area required will be to add space to take account of 
the 10.8% additional grass playing pitch area needed for the increase in students and add any 
loss of grass pitch that will be covered by an AGP. The amount of 3G AGP actually needed is 
4,889 sqm. This is only about two-thirds of the full-sized AGP proposed. It is to be noted that 
according to DfE Guidelines it could be even less if there are other space limitations or other 
constraints.

In relation to a need for floodlighting for the school’s own use, the school very rarely use the 
floodlights at the very local AGP it currently uses (at The Grange Recreation Ground AGP). 
The school has now removed the floodlighting element of the AGP. 

From detailed research it is very clear that there is no need for community use of the AGP,or 
the grass pitches, for playing field sports. No new information has been provided by the 
Applicant in its August 2016 update that changes this, or addresses the main concerns the 
Nortoft report has already raised. Nortoft provides new additional information on the 
unsuitability of the surface for community use.

In relation to football, the consultation with the Football Association at regional level and with 
the key local football club, identifies that community provision in the form of a fullsized floodlit 
3G AGP would specifically cause harm to community use, even without floodlights there is the 
real potential to compete with the existing community AGPs to their detriment.  Given the 
amount of current supply of accessible AGPs in the school’s catchment area and the 
assessment by the Football Association on the City-wide and local supply and demand, it is 
very clear that there is no need for community use of any proposed 3G AGP for football at the 
school. 

A key quote from the FA on football states:

30



“The FA still wish to object to this proposal as even given the change in terms of the lack of 
floodlighting and restricted community use (as set out above) they believe the proposal will still 
have a detrimental impact on the nearby 3G facility at The Grange”1

Even the RFU (Rugby Union) have concerns and state2

“The facility will not be suitable for Rugby Union, and it seems a shame that the facility will be 
a hybrid surface that will not meet the needs of any particular sport ... The lack of an up to date 
Playing Pitch Strategy makes it difficult to assess AGP needs across the city”.

There is no current community hockey use at the school, nor is there a real need for such for 
hockey use by the City of Peterborough Hockey Club, except for some limited training by its 
mini/youth sections. The new facility at Jack Hunt school may be ‘a nice to have’ facility for the 
club as it is on the club’s doorstep, but there are several accessible alternatives sites with 
better surfaces for the minis.

The AGP surface suggested by the Applicant is specifically classified as unsuitable by the 
National Governing Body [NGB] England Hockey based on very recent guidance by England 
Hockey. Most of the uses the Applicant and the Hockey Club aspire to are not appropriate 
uses for the type of surface being proposed. This has been checked with the England Hockey 
National Clubs and Facilities Officer (September 2016). For example, the surface is not 
suitable for secondary school hockey competitions, ‘Back to Hockey’ or normal club use. 
England Hockey state that describing the Desso AGP as a ‘world class AGP’ in relation to 
Hockey is quite incorrect.

The clear conclusion is that the school plans should replace the hard court areas being lost 
and potentially increase the hard court areas, pro-rata to the pupil increase of 10.8%, to 4,590 
sqm. This would effectively be to replace the current 6 hard courts with 7 courts. Only a 
smaller AGP may be needed (e.g. a maximum of 4,889sqm being two-thirds size or less). This 
would enable a more flexible site layout and so reduce unacceptable amenity impact on close-
by residential properties. 

The Applicant suggests that there are no possible layout arrangements whereby additional 
hard courts can work properly. It hasn’t considered not having an AGP and improving the 
grass pitches to a far better standard, which would meet curriculum need and it dismisses a 
smaller AGP. 

The school implies that providing a full size pitch for hockey and football is the only way it can 
meet its curriculum requirements. This is not so. The Government’s curriculum guidance is set 
out in ‘Physical  Education Programmes of Study: Key Stages 3 and 4 National Curriculum in 
England’ (DfE 2013). The main relevant section in relation to what playing fields might need to 
accommodate is:
“Play competitive games, modified where appropriate [for example, badminton, basketball, 
cricket, football, hockey, netball, rounders and tennis] with a note in bold that states: 
“Schools are not required by law to teach the example content in [square brackets].

PE teaching at 6th Form is not compulsory part of the curriculum. That is not say it is not 
important, but that the school does have significant flexibility in the way it is offered, and 
providing a full size 3G onsite is not a requirement. For the 6th form having a full-sized 3G 
available within 8 minutes walk at the Grange cannot be seen as an impediment to 
encouraging sport, nor the 14 minutes’ walk (3 minutes cycle) to Bretton Gate Hockey Club. 

1 Sport England formal consultation with the FA as reported in 16/09/16 response.
2 Sport England formal consultation with the FA as reported in 16/09/16 response. 

31



These two facilities also offer the specialist surfaces that the FA and England Hockey advise 
are important and for which the proposed surface at Jack Hunt School will not offer. 

The Applicant seems to have chosen the largest AGP suitable for adult club competition 
football and club hockey. This is not justifiable from a community need and is not justifiable 
from a financial operational point of view as the school clearly states it does not need 
community income to make the facility viable. It is worth noting that the Chairman of the 
Netherton Community Sports Association, whose AGP is used by Jack Hunt School, 
concludes that the only reason he could see for the school wanting a full sized floodlit AGP is 
‘to trade’ and make money, despite the detrimental effect this would have on The Grange 
Community AGP Operation.

The school’s main argument suggests that the time wasted and cost of hiring nearby AGPs, 
and taking students there, is prohibitive. But given the extra cost of maintaining an AGP 
(typically £20,000 to £25,000+ per annum including a sinking fund (Sport England/FA costs), 
then the cost the school identifies of £2,000 per year for hire and travel is minimal. The level of 
use of external AGPs can only be very low given this low annual spend. The school also 
highlight the time taken to use the off-site facilities however this includes changing time, which 
the students would have spent anyway.

It is accepted that although it may not be needed, it may well be helpful to the school to have 
some type of on-site AGP, but a small AGP would suffice.

Design and Layout

There are significant issues with the design and layout of the proposed outdoor sports 
facilities. The issues include the flaws in the baseline criteria from which the assessments 
were made and misinterpretation of quoted national guidance by the Applicant.

Facilities that could be reasonably and easily moved, such as the cricket area (including 
wicket) and the athletics track painted on the grass have been assumed to be immoveable. 
This is still the case in the Applicant’s updated reports (August 2016), despite Nortoft holding 
two detailed meetings with PCC officers and with the School explaining and showing how 
more layout flexibility can be achieved. 

The Applicant confirms3

"The position of the all-weather pitch has not altered from the original submission. The only 
difference is that the floodlights have been removed”. The distances between the AGP and 
residential property have been misjudged. This was pointed out in the April Nortoft report, but 
the Applicant’s new updated report has not corrected the sectional plans which still show the 
houses to be further away than they actually are. This remains misleading.

The Applicant’s August reports introduce a new argument about anti-social behaviour and 
vandalism. This is a flawed argument as leaving a narrow gap behind a 3m high acoustic wall 
close to the residential properties is far more likely to lead to such behaviour than not having a 
wall, or having a wall elsewhere.

There is an unnecessary net loss of hard court area and the practical options that could allow 
for at least their retention (albeit not with the current layout) have not been assessed, or 
planned for. 

3 Email 02/09/16 from Louise Lovegrove to Mr & Mrs Ward “The position of the all-weather pitch has not 
altered from the original submission.  The only difference is that the floodlights have been removed.”

32



The Applicant makes a strong play on the fact some of the current pitch sites may be prone to 
flooding and frost restrictions. This not quantified and its significance is therefore not able to be 
assessed.

The sensible and affordable option of bringing some or all of the current pitches (north and 
south) up to standard by full pitch improvements, including new drainage, has simply not been 
assessed. This would normally be the way forward for a sports pitch, as it cost less than 
having an AGP. A senior pitch size grass pitch would cost £35,000 full a very high quality pitch 
improvement (Sport England costs) compared to over £600,000 for an AGP.  A completely 
new large pitch would only cost about £85,000.

Also importantly the Applicant has not considered the improvement and use of the south 
playing fields for pitch use, including for senior student football. The site is likely to be suitable 
even allowing for the mid area gradient slope, the mature oak and the need for one side of 
security fencing. In the layouts for summer and winter submitted with the application it states 
‘not marked out in winter’. As Figure 2 [Appendix 3] shows this has clearly not been the case.

The options considered in the Applicant’s April reports were fatally flawed as a result of the 
above, including the size of a potential AGP (if needed at all), its location and the way the 
Applicant’s final option was chosen.  The new reports (Aug 2016) offer several more options 
before returning to the original layout with a full sized AGP. There are clearly other workable 
options which Nortoft explores in this current report which do not require a full sized AGP.

The Design and Access Statement, the Masterplan and the wider location of buildings, sports 
facilities and landscaping remain significantly flawed.

Residential Amenity: Light, Noise and Visual Impact

The reasons behind having such guidelines are in relation to affects on residential amenity 
such as visual impact (generally and including floodlighting) and noise impact. 

The Applicant has subsequently withdrawn the AGP floodlighting element, but residents 
remain concerned that a future floodlighting application will be made. For the record the 
floodlighting concerns are left in this current report, although it is understood this application 
will not be decided on what might happen in the future.

As explained the floodlighting impact requires a 65m offset. Using the Applicant’s own plans 
(which are contradictory) the nearest residential building’s rear elevation is measured at about 
33m, with the next nearest houses at 37m and 39m distance from the floodlighting columns. 
The impact would have been unacceptable both on lighting and an on its overbearing visual 
impact.

Other unacceptable visual impact on residential amenity will come from the size, location and 
scale of other elements of the AGP being too close to the rear gardens and houses of the 
adjacent properties in Audley Gate and Glamis Gardens. There is no significant change (if 
any) to these plans in the Applicant’s August 2016 update. These impacts include the 3m 
acoustic wall and the 3m mesh fence. The mitigation being planned has been shown in this 
report to be inadequate, although more minor landscaping seems to be proposed.

In the August 2016 planning response update the Applicant introduces a new argument about 
anti-social behaviour and vandalism. The application leaves a narrow hidden gap behind a 3m 
high acoustic wall and close up to the residential properties rear gardens. 

33



The Applicant recognises that the design and layout will cause major issues with noise and 
has undertaken a noise assessment and concluded there is a need for a 3m acoustic wall.

There are concerns on the Applicants noise assessment. Nortoft/the residents appointed 
expert national independent noise consultants ‘Acoustic Consultants’ and ‘MAS Consultants’ 
to undertake their own modelling and to assess the AECOMs conclusions. Whilst the 
measurement of sound effects is complex involving a range of differing measurements the 
following can be concluded:
 The Applicant has not fully measured the intensity, frequency and duration of the noise 

effects.
 The average noise levels will significantly exceed acceptable levels for residential amenity 

without an acoustic barrier. 
 Even with an acoustic fence the average noise levels at playtime on the AGP will exceed 

acceptable limits.  
 Intermittent single event noise levels (e.g. hockey balls hitting wooden backboards, whistles 

and yelling) are likely to cause significant annoyance in the adjacent rear gardens, 
especially in the evenings and at weekends.

 The Applicant’s Environmental Noise Report uses challengeable baseline studies and 
inappropriate comparators

The AGP aspect of the application will result in a development that will have very significant 
impacts on: 
 The residential amenity in terms of noise and disturbance for the occupiers of adjacent 

houses and; increased opportunities for vandalism and disorder. 
 Due to the size and location of the AGP, it with the 3m acoustic walls and the wire posts 

and mesh will have an ‘overbearing impact’ on adjacent properties. 
 It is noted that the Applicant’s Planning Response in [August 2016] specifically excluded 

this key ‘overbearing impact’ element of the PP3 Policy Statement, whilst listing all the other 
elements. It is also noted that the Football Association advises that a 4.5m high mesh 
would be needed, so as to avoid balls flying out (in this case into adjacent gardens). This is 
another reason to set the AGP further back from properties.

The AGP element clearly fails the City Council’s Planning Policies (PP3) on Impacts of New 
Development, as well as other planning policies referred to later in this report.

Traffic & Transport

In addition there are issues with traffic and transport.  (The impact of lighting on wildlife, 
specifically bats, was not robustly assessed, however, without the AGP floodlighting it might be 
assumed this is no longer a significant impact).

In relation to traffic and transport, whilst much of this can be dealt with through Planning 
Conditions, these Conditions need to have had detailed prior community consultation (that has 
not yet happened to an acceptable level) prior to approval. No works of any kind should 
commence until such Conditions have been agreed.  This should also be covered in a 
‘Construction Community Needs Plan’.

It is understood that any School Travel Plan will be by its nature a difficult plan to progress given 
the typically car dominated culture of staff, parents and pupils. The proposed targets are to be 
welcomed, but they do not go far enough and are limited only to run to 2017. This is far too 
short a period and the targets need to be set until 2021 at the least. There needs to be a 
significantly higher net reduction in traffic levels, which by the schools own assessment are 

34



already causing significant problems to residential amenity and some worrying health and safety 
issues. A longer-term, more robust, better and more openly funded School Travel Plan is 
needed, with deliverable targets. These targets should be conditioned in any planning 
permission. This report has a Planning Conditions section.

Conclusion

The residents concerned with the production of this report (over 117 individuals – and not just ‘a 
few’ residents the Applicant states), once again offer an early engagement with PBC planners, 
PBC-LEA and the school so as to find a workable solution.

The need for an expanded school is not questioned in this report, however the outdoor sports 
facilities have major planning issues, including in relation to residential amenity, which have 
been well known to the Applicant, and raised in consultations, but not resolved before the 
application was submitted, nor since its re-submission. This has been very frustrating as the 
issues may well have been able to be resolved if the school and the Applicant (the 
LEA/Carillion) had sought to properly engage with the local community on these matters, as 
clearly required in National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPF Para 72): 
‘Local planning authorities should ... work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key 
planning issues before applications are submitted’.

The fundamental flaws in the application’s baseline studies, evidence base, options 
assessment, masterplan, design and access statement, as well as the long term very significant 
affects on residential amenity, result in a clear recommendation to Members of the Planning 
Committee to refuse this application on the basis it does not meet policies and guidance as set 
out in NPPF 74 and NPPF 123 as well as PCC Policies CS16, CS19 and PP3.

Given the wider social need to make timely progress in the provision of needed education 
facilities, an improved and more robust application will have a better chance of being found 
acceptable, and not being challenged (and so delayed), so it is strongly advised that the current 
application is withdrawn and/or amended so as to accommodate the planning concerns raised 
in this report in relation the sports infrastructure. This was the advice given at the start of the 
year, again in April and again at meetings in July 2016. The Applicant has persisted 
unnecessarily with an insistence on applying for a full sized AGP. Any delay in the delivery of 
the important need for the new school buildings (supported by the residents) will be down to this 
obdurate approach by the Applicant.

There is a practical and deliverable way forward that can lead to a far more robust and 
acceptable application, and so help the delivery of the school’s expansion and curriculum needs 
in a timely manner, and the residents wish to work alongside the school and PBC in order to 
achieve this. Two workable options present themselves: 

 An 84m x 56m AGP (years 7, 8 and 9). This would allow for more hard court space; and fits 
far better into the available space and away from residential properties, and may not need 
the acoustic fence.

 A 96m x 61m AGP (years 7 to 11), and fits better into the available space and away from 
residential properties, and may not need the acoustic fence, but does not allow more hard 
courts.

In both cases there should be:
 A legally binding agreement that now or in the future there is: no community use; no 

floodlighting; and use only during weekday school hours (see Conditions suggested).
 That the Planning Conditions suggested are applied.

35



 As an alternative to withdrawal, permission could be granted subject to a condition that the 
maximum size of the AGP should be 96x61m, and that the actual size and location of the 
AGP and surrounding fencing be a Reserved Matter, then after full consultation, this detailed 
element can be agreed and submitted for planning approval.

Supporters
34 further letters of support have been received.  Of these, some have been received from persons 
who have previously made comments.  Many of the comments contained within the additional 
objections are summarised above, however some additional comments as follows have been 
raised:
 Jack Hunt is an extremely successful school achieving exam results statistically significantly 

above national averages for six consecutive years.  This has been within a climate of rising 
rolls, increasing numbers of mid-term arrivals, the majority speaking English and an additional 
language, or not speaking English at all.  No school in the city can make such proud claims.  In 
order to sustain this success and absorb the rising number of school age children in the city, 
the school needs to expand.  It also requires an enhancement in the amount and standard of 
its facilities if it is to attempt to catch up with other schools in this regard.  

 I (teacher at the school) cannot see how NIMBYism can be allowed to prevent the young 
people of Peterborough, our future, having the best start in life that they possibly can.  

 Although there is much diversity in the catchment, a general ethos of working hard and making 
the most of experiences has been nurtured. This can only grow with the new facilities. I have 
worked at several different schools and Jack Hunt stands out as an exceptional place to 
develop young minds. My Husband also uses the sport facilities as a member of the general 
community and supports the application.

 As one of the parents who attended the July consultation evening, I have had a look at the 
Supporting Planning Response document. I appreciate that it has thoroughly experimented 
with the suggestions, put forward in the evening, for alternative layout plans for the AWP.

 I (parent) also think it forward-thinking to keep the infrastructure for floodlighting in the proposal 
because I also believe that technology is always developing so that one day the new 
generation of floodlighting will cause negligible disturbance to the neighbours of the school.

 I (parent) feel that much of the objection to the location of the proposed football pitch is out of 
anxiety rather than experience.

 Whilst one of my daughters attends the school, I want to voice that as a resident of Westwood 
Park Close, the new facilities at West Town (with external lighting) has not proved to be 
problematic, in fact I think the local area is safer due to the frequent use and activity of the 
sports ground. It is, bizarrely, a counter measure to anti-social behaviour.

 As Jack Hunt is a Sports college, the addition of the all-weather sports field is essential. In fact 
I am surprised that they don’t already have the facilities in place now.

Neutral
One letter of representation has been received from a resident who has not previously commented 
during Round 1.  They have commented as follows:
 It is noted that if and when construction begins, strict timing of construction vehicle arrivals will 

be in progress to limit or prevent any tail back of vehicles in Glamis Gardens and adjoining 
roads.  This must also include the area around Blind Lane cycle and footpath, and the property 
access to 216 and 214 Thorpe Road, where waiting of vehicles would cause an obstruction and 
danger to pedestrians/cyclists.  

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Community engagement/consultation
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Highway implications
 Neighbour amenity

36



 Ecology
 Impact upon heritage assets
 Trees and landscaping
 Surface water drainage and flood risk 

a) Community engagement/consultation
Several of the objections received have raised concern regarding the level of public consultation 
undertaken prior to the submission of the planning application.  Whilst there is no statutory 
provision requiring pre-application consultation prior to the submission of planning applications 
(other than wind farms), paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) refers to 
the value of community engagement at pre-application stage 

The Applicant undertook a series of public consultation events as follows, which taken together 
may be regarded as meeting the expectations of the NPPF:

 Planning Department January 2016 – general discussions took place regarding the 
documents required to accompany an application.

 Residents of Glamis gardens February 2016 – residents were invited to attend a meeting 
with the Applicant, representatives of Jack Hunt School and the contractor to discuss the 
impacts and concerns relating to the use of Glamis Gardens for the construction access.

 School Governors March 2016 – Governors were briefed on the design of the proposal at a 
meeting with the Applicant, representatives of Jack Hunt School and the contractor.

 Local residents March 2016 – residents were invited to attend a Public Exhibition whereby 
the proposed plans were displayed for comment.  The Applicant, representatives of the 
school and the contractor were present to answer any queries raised.  

The submitted supporting Design and Access Statement details the outcome of these 
consultations.  Following these consultations and post-application responses, the scheme was 
revised, moving the AWP further from residential properties towards the school buildings and 
deleting the proposed floodlighting from the AWP. 

With regards to this planning application, the original public consultation comprised:
 Issuing of 351 individual letters to surrounding residential properties, being all properties 

located up to 130 metres from the site boundary and some further away which were judged 
to be potentially affected by the proposal;

 Erection of 6no. site notices at key locations/junctions surrounding the site; and
 Advertisement within the local paper.  

This exceeds the statutory duty placed on the Local Planning Authority, which requires a site 
notice, an advertisement and letters only to those neighbours who have an immediately adjoining 
boundary.  

Further to this, consultation on a revised/additional suite of documents and plans was undertaken.  
The above consultations, along with notification to any person who had made representations 
(above and beyond the original letters) were undertaken and, as the consultation period partially 
conflicted with the end of the school summer holidays, the deadline for comments was extended to 
28 days (7 days longer than that statutory period).  

b) Principle of development

Need

Paragraph 72 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) requires that Local Planning 
Authorities give great weight to the need to expand or alter schools.  The proposal seeks to expand 
the current facilities at Jack Hunt School in order to accommodate one additional form of entry (an 
additional 30 pupil class per year group) resulting in an additional 150 pupils in Years 7-13.  
Following this expansion, the school would have a maximum capacity of 1,950 pupils.  The 
application proposal, including the AWP, directly relates to this expansion.  

37



Some local residents have objected to the expansion of the school as they consider there is no 
need to accommodate additional pupils.  However the City Council’s Schools Organisation Plan 
(which covers the period to 2020) clearly identifies pressure for additional secondary school places 
across the City.  

The pressure placed upon education places results from Peterborough being the United Kingdom’s 
fastest growing city.  There is a focus upon growth set out within the adopted Local Plan, and a 
target of 25,500 new homes over the current plan period of 2011-2025.  In the year to March 2015, 
a total of 1,300 new dwellings were constructed and it is predicted that a further 878 were 
completed in the year to March 2016.  In addition to this, Peterborough has steadily had a high 
birth rate, with 3,130 new births registered in the year 2013-14 along with high levels of net 
migration.  

In light of this growth, the Peterborough mainstream primary school population has increased by 
29% between 2006 and 2015, with the main increase in Reception years of 40.7%.  To meet this 
demand, it should be noted that the five of the seven Primary feeder schools serving Jack Hunt 
(Gladstone, Thorpe, Ravensthorpe, Middleton and West Town) have recently been expanded to 
increase pupil admission numbers as follows:

PAN (pupil 
admission 
numbers) increase

Additional 
places total

Maximum 
capacity

Gladstone 60 (2 additional 
classes per year) 420 840

Thorpe 30 (1 additional class 
per year) 210 680

Ravensthorpe 30 (1 additional class 
per year) 210 420

Middleton 15 (0.5 additional 
classes per year) 105 420

West Town 45 (1.5 additional 
classes per year) 330 630

The pupils attending these schools will eventually require places within the Secondary schools of 
Peterborough and the School’s Organisation Plan clearly highlights pressure for places from 2017 
onwards:

38



The above clearly identifies that without additional expansion of pupil admission numbers, growth 
will not be met.  It should be noted that the above already takes into account the proposed 
expansion of Jack Hunt School and as such, without the current proposal, the gap between needs 
and provision will be wider.  

With regards to Jack Hunt specifically, the Organisation Plan identifies that within its catchment, 
there will be significantly more students living within the area than places available.  This will only 
be partially met by the proposed expansion and there will still be unmet demand even after the 
proposed increase. 

School expansion 
The proposed two storey building, single storey extension and additional car parking relate directly 
to the need to provide additional/improved facilities to accommodate this influx of pupils.  Many of 
the supportive representations received from staff, pupils and parents have raised the issue of the 
insufficient canteen facilities already in place.  The proposal would provide a new purpose-built 
dining hall/canteen which is capable of accommodating such a large number of children.  In 
addition, 11no. new classrooms and a science laboratory would be provided.  

All-weather pitch for school use
There has been significant opposition from local residents with regards to the proposed all-weather 
pitch (AWP).  These objections relate to a number of matters (discussed in more detail in the 
sections below) however the primary concern, as set out in detail within the updated report 
produced by Nortoft Planning (hereinafter referred to as the objection report), is that there is no 
need for an AWP either for school or community use.  

At present, Jack Hunt School benefits from 6no. multi-use games areas (MUGAs) totalling an area 
of 4,143 sqm which are hard surfaced and flood lit.  In addition, there is extensive playing fields 
totalling an area of 56,200 sqm.  The proposed detached two storey building (dining hall and 
classrooms) would occupy part of the existing MUGA area and requires a new dedicated fire 
service access which would further reduce the area of MUGA hardstanding.  As such, the proposal 
would result in the loss of 1,307 sqm of MUGA area (leaving 4 courts).  In addition, the school 
presently utilises the off-site AWP facilities at The Grange (Mayor’s Walk) and Bretton Gate.

The objection report references Department for Education guidance ‘Building Bulletin 103: Area 
Guidelines for Mainstream Schools’ (March 2015).  This guidance sets out non-statutory guidelines 
for school buildings and sites, including outdoor play space.  It should be noted that this document 
is guidance only and, as identified, non-statutory which means that it is not legally binding.  This is 
indeed clearly stated within the document itself which states ‘…these guidelines will not necessarily 
have to be met in every case and should always be applied flexibly in light of these particular 
circumstances’ (page 3). As the Nortoft report notes, the DfE also provides for flexibility in the way 
in which PE is provided to pupils across the key stages. This reflects the fact that the provision and 
teaching of the national curriculum is an operational matter for schools, in consultation (in the case 
of maintained schools like Jack Hunt) with the LEA.

The objection report identifies that the additional pupil capacity would result in a 10.8% increase in 
pupil numbers at Jack Hunt.  Taking into account this increase and the current level of provision 
(before the development takes place), under the DfE guidance, a total of 62,270 sqm of grass 
playing field (+ 6,070 sqm) and 4,590 sqm of hard court (MUGA) (+ 447 sqm) should be provided.  
However, as identified above, the proposal would result in the loss of some MUGA area, thereby 
leaving only 2,925 sqm.  

The DfE guidance sets out a hierarchy of outdoor space provision as follows: hard informal and 
social areas (including outdoor play area); hard outdoor PE space ideally in the form of a MUGA; 
soft informal and social area; and finally, soft outdoor PE which can include AWPs.  The objection 
report places significant emphasis on this hierarchy, stating that the application should seek to 

39



provide the additional and lost outside space in the form of a MUGA.  They suggest that to do so, 
would result in the need for an AWP of only 88 metres x 56 metres, or 96 metres x 61 metres the 
latter of which would equate to 2no. mini-hockey courts/football pitch for Under 15/16s (school 
years 10 and 11).  .  

Initial suggestion was creation of AWP of 86 x 56 (first report), more recently in updated report 
objectors put forward both this and an alternative proposal for 96 x 61m. 

In order to demonstrate both positions proposed, the objectors have submitted layout drawings to 
this effect which can be found at Appendix 3.

Applicant has submitted the detailed response report from P & DG to justify the need for a full-size 
AWP.  This report was prepared ahead of the objection report being revised and highlights that at 
present, there are an insufficient number of multi-use games areas along with poor quality grass 
pitches which are liable to water logging and freezing.  As such, they are not available for use 
throughout the school year.  Furthermore, whilst two nearby AWPs are utilised for PE lessons, the 
travelling time to/from these sites results in a loss of lesson time by approximately 50 minutes per 
lesson.  The report criticises the estimations of the objectors’ report in terms of provision need, as it 
fails to take into account the deficiencies of existing provision.  The revised objection report goes in 
some way to addressing these objections.  However it is the view of Officers that the design of the 
curriculum and its delivery is essentially a matter for the School to determine.  Officers consider 
that the application has been accompanied by evidence which sets out the school’s position in 
relation to curriculum delivery and need, and explains why the proposals in the current application 
are directly related to the delivery of that curriculum.  There are other issues relating to the report, 
such as its failure to consider the school’s reasonable wish to provide 6th form students with 
appropriate PE sporting provision.    

Officers have also had regard to the response of Sport England in this respect. Sport England have 
raised no objections to the proposal as revised, and consider that the proposal meets their own 
exceptions policy with regards to the loss of grass playing fields (Policy E5).  It is the view of Sport 
England that the benefits arising from the proposed outdoor sports facility are sufficient to outweigh 
the detriment caused by the loss of the playing field.  

It is acknowledged that the DfE guidance would indicate that a smaller AWP could be sought.  
However, the school would not be able to provide a full curriculum timetable on such a limited area 
as it would not be suitable for all sports and all ages at the school.  The proposed full-size AWP 
would enable a full timetable to be played across a variety of sports and ages, and would go in a 
large way to addressing the deficiencies of the existing pitches which are not fit for purpose.

Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal has adequately demonstrated that there is a 
curriculum need for a full-size AWP and, in line with paragraph 72 of the NPPF, this need should 
be given great weight.  

All-weather pitch – Community use
The Applicant has proposed that the AWP be available for community use during times when it is 
not needed for PE lessons and after-schools clubs.  A draft Community User scheme was 
submitted to accompany this application, however it should be noted that this was based upon a 
floodlit AWP.  As the floodlights have been removed from the application scheme, the available 
hours for community use have been reduced.  

The supporting report from the Applicant identifies that at present, the school works with a number 
of community users, providing sports facilities.  It is intended that the AWP would extend this 
existing provision albeit on a limited basis.  Users would include organised sports clubs and 
associations and not members of the general public, concerns about which have been expressed 
by objectors.  

40



Furthermore, concern has also been expressed that the intended community use would result in a 
detriment to The Grange facility, as the proposed AWP would be in direct competition.  The 
objectors report provides detail assessment of current community pitch provision throughout the 
City, including catchment areas in terms of access on foot and by car.  However, it is noted that the 
proposed surface and lack of floodlights would result in the application proposal being inferior in 
quality to The Grange and other existing community AWPs.  The proposal would not be capable of 
accommodating competition level sports whereas The Grange and others presently do.  As such, it 
is not considered that this would be in direct competition.  Notwithstanding this, the matter of 
competition within the planning system is not a material planning consideration.  

It is considered that the Applicant has adequately demonstrated that the principal need for the all-
weather pitch relates to education and curriculum needs and not community use (see above).  As 
such, it is accepted that there is not a community need for the proposal as there is considerable 
provision elsewhere within the locality.  However, simply because there is not a need does not 
result in community use being unacceptable in principle. 

Loss of playing field/open space
Under the provisions of the NPPF, open space is defined as any open area of public value and this 
can include private playing fields (such as the application site).  The application proposal would 
result in the loss of some playing field both through the proposed dining hall/classroom building 
and AWP.  

Both Policy CS18 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and paragraph 74 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012) seek to protect and retain existing areas of open space as they 
are acknowledged as vital to the quality of the environment serving communities.  The NPPF 
states that existing playing fields should not be built upon unless: it can clearly be shown that the 
land is surplus to requirements; the loss would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in 
terms of quantity and quality, in a suitable location; or that the development is for alternative 
sports/recreational provision, the needs of which outweigh the loss.  

The objectors report has assessed the proposal against these criteria in detail and concludes that 
the policy is failed.  It is the view of this objectors report, and other objections that: 

 the playing field is not surplus to requirement, as the school needs additional playing fields 
to accommodate the increased pupil numbers; 

  the AWP would not be of an equivalent or better provision as: it does not replace the hard 
court area; results in harm to neighbour amenity; represents an unnecessary cost to the 
Council; and is not in a suitable location owing to the harm to neighbour amenity; and

 There is no need for a full-size AWP for curriculum or community purposes and as such, 
there is nothing to outweigh the loss.  

All of the above concerns are noted, however Sport England is the statutory consultee in respect of 
developments relating to playing fields and, for the purposes of determining this planning 
application, it is their professional comments/position which must be given the most weight.  

Specifically, Sport England has advised that normally, community access to such facilities is 
sought as it can help deliver wider benefits.  However, in this instance there have been concerns 
raised both in regard to the impact upon nearby residential properties and the potential adverse 
operational impact upon other artificial pitches within the area.  The proposal has been submitted 
primarily to meet the curriculum requirements of the school with only limited community use 
proposed.  This represents an approach intended by the Applicant to meet both the school’s 
requirements and address the concerns of local residents but raises concerns with regards to the 
viability of the proposal in the long-term.  However, overall and on balance, Sport England 
considers that the benefit to the school in meeting its curriculum need will outweigh any detriment 
caused by the loss of the grass pitch.  

It should be noted that Sport England has requested that conditions be imposed with regard to the 
community use of the pitch (hours to be in accordance with the submitted proposed detailed in 

41



Section 1 above) and to ensure a finalised community use agreement is entered into.  Without 
these conditions, Sport England would object as the proposal would not be of overall benefit to 
outweigh the loss of the playing fields.  

c) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area

Building and extensions

The proposed two storey detached building would be sited to the rear of the main built form of the 
school site and as such, would only be readily visible from the rear gardens of neighbouring 
residential properties, the end of the Glamis Gardens cul-de-sac, and from glimpsed views along 
Blind Lane.  The building would stand at a maximum height of 8.4 metres and extend to an 
external area of 1,738 sqm.

It is considered that the proposal has been designed so as to respect and reflect the context of the 
site and its surroundings.  Whilst the building is of considerable size/scale, the proposed use of 
differing cladding colours would introduce a more vertical emphasis, thereby reducing the overall 
mass and bulk.  Furthermore, it would stand lower than the existing Sports Hall building but taller 
than the main school buildings, acting as a stepping feature to the height of development within the 
site.  

Turning to the proposed single storey extension, this would be sited within the main existing built 
form of the site, between existing buildings.  Whilst the height of the building would be marginally 
taller than those which surround it (by 0.5 metres), it is not considered that this difference would be 
obtrusive.  Subject to the use of appropriately matching materials, this element of the proposal 
would not appear incongruous or at odds with its surroundings.

All-weather pitch

The proposed all-weather pitch would occupy an area of approximately 7,526 sqm and would be 
fully enclosed by virtue of a 3 metre high green weld-mesh fence.  In addition, to the eastern, 
northern and southern boundaries (closest to residential properties) of the pitch, would be a 3 
metre high solid wooden acoustic fence.  

It is acknowledged that the height, size and scale of the proposed AWP would be considerable in 
the context of the surrounding residential area.  This is identified in a number of the objections 
received which consider that the scale of this element of the proposal would be at odds with the 
residential nature of the surrounding built form.  The objectors report also identifies that, in their 
opinion, the visual impact of the proposal has not been sufficiently assessed and that a lack of 
visual assessment from principal sensitive receptors results in a flawed application.  However, it is 
not considered that the application is of such significant scale that a detailed visual impact 
assessment is required or justified.  The submitted drawings are sufficient to enable an adequate 
assessment of the likely visual impacts.

Views towards the AWP are considered to be limited, only available from residential gardens 
surrounding the site, the end of the Glamis Gardens cul-de-sac and limited views from along Blind 
Lane.  Notwithstanding this, it is acknowledged that public views are possible.  However, such 
facilities are commonplace in many secondary school sites and the size/scale of buildings at Jack 
Hunt School are already far larger than those properties which surround it.  Furthermore, the 
playing field land upon which the AWP would be sited is set approximately 1 metre below the 
ground level of properties along Audley Gate/Glamis Gardens.  As such, from these residential 
properties and public space, the height of the fence would be diminished to some extent by virtue 
of the lower land height. In addition, landscaping by means of a grass arena to the south and 
woodland buffer planting to the eastern boundary (which could be secured by condition) would 
ensure that the impact is minimised as far as possible.  

42



It is considered that, whilst the proposal would have some impact to the character of the locality, it 
would not be to such a considerable extent that it would represent unacceptable harm.   

Car park extension and other external works 

The proposed additional car parking would be located immediately adjacent to the existing car 
park, on the western side of the site.  The car park would be sited to the rear of the sports hall 
building and within an existing area of MUGA.  This would be accessed via the existing staff car 
park and would provide 23no. parking spaces.  The extent of hardsurfacing would not be above 
and beyond the present situation and as such, would not materially alter the appearance of the 
site.  

With regards to other external works, these comprise hard and soft landscaping.  The hard 
landscaping would provide circulation areas between the new dining hall/classroom building, AWP, 
MUGAs and existing school built form and would appear a natural extension to the built form of the 
site.  

Crime and anti-social behaviour

It is noted that some residents of Audley Gate have expressed concerns regarding the potential for 
crime and anti-social behaviour arising from the community use of the AWP.  IN particular, concern 
is raised that persons may be able to access the roof of the Gas Housing Location (GHL) and 
create disturbance which has occurred in the past.  These concerns are noted however access to 
the GHL will not materially alter as a result of the proposal.  A secure line to the school site would 
be maintained and as such, access to the playing field area (including the AWP and GHL) would 
be restricted to only those persons who have booked the AWP.  As detailed within the supporting 
information, it is intended for community use to take the form or groups and organisations.  As 
such, any persons using the AWP will be supervised at all times.  This does not differ from the 
open access presently within the secure line of the school and as such, it is not considered that 
any increase in crime or anti-social behaviour would result.  It should also be noted that this is the 
view of the Police Architectural Liaison Officer who has raised no objections to the proposal.  

Conclusion

Taking into account the above, whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed AWP and dining 
hall/classroom building would be visible from the surrounding area, it is not considered that an 
unacceptable degree of harm would result to the character, appearance or visual amenity of the 
locality.  Accordingly, the proposal is in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

d) Highway implications

Construction

The application has been accompanied by a draft Construction Management Plan which sets out 
the phased approach to construction of the development.  The main construction route to/from the 
site would utilise an existing gated service entrance from Glamis Gardens.  The construction period 
is anticipated to extend to over a year with the haul route using Thorpe Road and Audley Gate  

It is considered that this approach represents the best access taking into account the constraints of 
the site.  Construction traffic would be kept separate from school traffic for a large part and would 
avoid the most congested areas within the locality, along Ledbury Road.  It is noted that the 
residents of Glamis Gardens have expressed concern with regards to the impact of construction 
upon the road and junctions, with primary concern relating to parking and hours of construction.  
The Applicant proposes for all contractor parking and delivery loading/unloading to take place 
within the site which is considered acceptable.  Subject to the imposition of a condition requiring a 
detailed Construction Management Plan, compliance with these proposals can be secured.  This 

43



would ensure that disruption to the surrounding highway network and residents will be kept to a 
minimum.  In terms of construction hours, it is considered necessary to restrict the times at which 
heavy goods vehicles carrying deliveries to avoid peak school drop-off/pick-up times.  This would 
ensure that the flow of traffic and pedestrian safety is not placed at undue risk.  

With regards to the junction of Thorpe Road/Audley Gate, it is acknowledged that the manoeuvring 
is restricted.  However, this junction is already used by large buses and vehicles and is considered 
capable of accommodating construction traffic.  Subject to avoiding peak times (as above), no 
undue impact should result.  

Existing situation

The application has been accompanied by a Transport Statement (TS) which has been reviewed 
by the LHA.  This TS reviews existing parking/traffic conditions at the site, accessibility, on-street 
parking and assesses the impact of the development proposal in terms of trip generation.  The 
LHA accepts the methodology, contents and conclusions of this statement.  

Turning first to the current situation, in January 2016, the School undertook a Pupil and Staff Travel 
Survey to gain a better understanding of existing methods of travel to/from the school.  For pupils, 
the results identified that 55% walk, 6% cycle, 6% use buses or shared transport, and 33% 
arrive/leave by private car (this equates to a maximum of 575 pupils/vehicles).  The percentage of 
students walking is significantly higher than the average for secondary schools within 
Peterborough, however so too is the percentage of students using private car.  Overall, 67% of 
students travel by sustainable modes of transport which is significantly lower than the 
Peterborough average of 80%.  In terms of staff, only 67% responded however the results 
identified that 6.9% walk, 1.5% cycle, 4.6% use buses or shared transport, and 87% travel by 
private car.  

In addition, a Parking Survey has been undertaken along Ledbury Road, Atherstone Avenue, 
Audley Gate, Bradwell Road and Elmore Road.  During the morning peak of 8.30am, a maximum 
of 18 vehicles were observed parking at any one time.  The highest number of vehicles was 
observed parking immediately to the front of the school site along Ledbury Road, which accords 
with the comments raised by local objectors.  During the afternoon peak of 3.00-3.10pm, a 
maximum of 46 vehicles were observed.  Again, the highest number of vehicles was observed 
parking immediately opposite the school site along Ledbury Road.  During this time, numerous 
parking violations were observed including blocking of residential driveways and obstruction of 
double yellow lines and school keep clear markings.  

In terms of accident data, an assessment has been undertaken over a 5-year period preceding the 
submission of this application on all roads surrounding Jack Hunt School.  During the morning 
peak (school start time), 4 accidents have been recorded (1 serious and 3 slight) of which 2 
involved child pedestrians.  During the afternoon peak (school end time), 7 accidents have been 
recorded of which 4 involved child pedestrians and 3 involved cyclists.  The increased level of 
accidents is considered to correspond to the respective higher proportion of vehicular traffic in the 
vicinity at afternoon peak.  

Taking the above into account, it is therefore acknowledged that there are existing highway safety 
issues for all users (motorists, pedestrians and cyclists) predominantly caused by the significant 
number of parents dropping off and picking up students.  As such, careful consideration must be 
given to the additional impacts arising from increased capacity resulting from the application 
proposal.  

Traffic generation

Turning first to traffic generation, the submitted TS has used the travel survey data to predict the 
likely traffic impacts arising from the proposed expansion.  The overall maximum increase in traffic, 
if current travel proportions were maintained, would result in a total of 76 additional vehicular 

44



movements associated with the proposed development.  The expansion of the school is proposed 
to be annual, with one additional form per year for 5 years.  As such, this would equate to 22 
additional vehicular movements in 2017/18 (first year) with 11 additional movements per year for 4 
years thereafter.    

It is acknowledged that this would further exacerbate the existing issues within the surrounding 
public highway network, particularly from additional parents dropping off and picking up students at 
peak times.  The submitted TS identifies potential mitigation for this, in terms of reducing conflict 
between cars, pedestrians and cyclists, to impose a new Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to prevent 
vehicles parking on the opposite side of Ledbury Road (to the front of residential properties).  The 
LHA does not consider that this is an essential measure to offer mitigation as such a TRO would 
impose its own impacts upon the highway network.  In particular, this would push the inevitable 
waiting cars of parents further along the highway network which could create safety dangers at the 
key junctions within the wider network.  As such, it is not considered appropriate to secure a new 
TRO in this location.  

In addition to this, the TS identifies significant room for improvement in terms of the proportion of 
students arriving by means of sustainable transport.  The LHA considers that a revised Travel Plan 
is needed to accommodate these additional measures which would include, amongst others, 
improvements to traffic management outside the school.  Similar improvements have recently been 
undertaken at St Michael’s Primary School in Cardea (Stanground South) whereby the school has 
active presence by staff members at peak drop off/pick up times.  Education is provided to parents 
through conversation and leaflets as to the need to park responsibly.  This has seen a significant 
improvement in the number of vehicles parked dangerously and the LHA considers that this could 
be adopted at Jack Hunt School to improve the current situation and mitigate the impact of 
additional traffic arising from the proposed development.  
In addition, the TS has also reviewed the primary cycle and pedestrian routes to/from the school 
which are used by students.  There are improvements, as follows, which could be made to these 
routes which would make them more accessible and therefore usable:

i) Northern (City Hospital) footbridge southwards towards Buckland Close
- Removal of large amounts of vegetation to improve passive surveillance;
- Improvements to lighting; and
- Installation of solar studs to improve wayfinding.

ii) Southern (Bradwell Road) footbridge westwards towards Bickleigh Walk
- Removal of chicanes and replacement with bollards;
- Installation of white lining to indicate priority;
- Improvements to lighting; and
- Installation of signage and solar studs at key locations to improve wayfinding.

iii) Workhouse cycleway from Bradwell Road
- Widening to 3 metres in width;
- Improvements to lighting; and
- Installation of signage and solar studs at key locations to improve wayfinding.  

It is considered that the above measures, as agreed by the LHA and which could all be secured by 
condition, would improve the proportion of students arriving by sustainable modes of travel thus 
reducing reliance on private car.  This would therefore result in a decrease in the level of traffic 
congestion on roads surrounding the application site and improve highway safety.  

Parking

At present, there are 203no. parking spaces within the application site available for staff and 
visitors.  The area of car park immediately to the rear of residential properties on Bradwell is 
restricted by virtue of a restrictive condition on the planning permission under which it was granted 
(07/01043/FUL) to not be used at weekends or outside the hours of 07.30 to 20.30 on weekdays.  
This condition was imposed to ensure the impact to neighbouring residential properties, through 
noise and disturbance, was mitigated as far as possible.  The proposal seeks to create a new 

45



parking area of 23no. spaces adjacent to the existing car park.  However, owing to reconfiguration 
of the existing parking to provide access into the new parking area, the proposal would only 
represent an increase of 17no. spaces.  The LHA has raised no objections to this level of parking.  
It is considered that this would meet the demands for staff/visitor parking resulting from the 
proposed extension and, partly address existing known deficiencies in the current parking 
provision.  It is noted that some objectors have raised concerns that there is no need for additional 
parking however the submitted TS clearly identifies a need.  

The LHA has advised that the updated Travel Plan (discussed above) should include a parking 
strategy, encouraging staff and other users to utilise other modes of travel.  This is considered 
reasonable and necessary to ensure that the demand for parking within the site is managed and 
reduced as much as possible.  

With regards to cycle parking, the school presently has a significant level (253 spaces) which is 
covered and located securely within the site.  From site visits, it is evidenced that this cycle parking 
is well-used, with the cycle stands relatively full throughout the day.  However, the TS has 
identified existing capacity and, whilst new cycle parking is not proposed to serve the new 
development, the LHA is content that the level of provision as existing is sufficient.  

Conclusion

It is acknowledged that there is presently significant congestion on the public highway surrounding 
the school at peak drop off/pick up times, with the afternoon peak between 3.00 and 3.10pm the 
worst.  This results from a higher than average proportion of students arriving by private car and 
not utilising sustainable methods of travel.  Parking in dangerous locations, including the blocking 
of residents driveways and obstruction of Traffic Regulation Orders frequently occurs and this 
exacerbates the impact of congestion.  

The proposal would result in an increase in student and staff numbers at the school which would 
further worsen this issue, however the LHA is of the view that mitigation can be undertaken.  A 
robust Travel Plan, including active management by the school of parent parking and parking 
management plan within the site, and off-site works to improve existing cycle/footway routes 
to/from the school, should reduce the reliance on travel by private car and thus reduce the level of 
congestion.  This is therefore considered sufficient to mitigate the impacts of the proposed 
development so that no unacceptable level of harm results to the safety of pedestrians and 
cyclists.  The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

e) Neighbour amenity

Noise from the AWP

At present, sport is played on the school’s playing fields during summer months throughout the 
school day and in the winter, until light fades and when weather conditions permit.  Furthermore, 
there is no formalised or restricted position associated with the existing fields, albeit it is noted that 
existing summer and winter pitch layouts have been provided as part of the application submission.  
It should also be noted that community use of these playing fields can take place at any time when 
not in use by the school.  There are no restrictions imposed through the planning system which 
prevents this and as such, this must be considered as the ‘fall-back’ position for the purposes of 
assessment of the application proposal.  Therefore, it must be noted that a certain level of impact 
already results to neighbouring residents through noise and general disturbance.  

However, the proposed AWP would allow sport to be played throughout the year during daylight 
hours and would introduce certain features (such as fencing) that would generate additional noise 
impacts.  Furthermore, the proposal includes community use of the AWP outside of school term 
times/dates which would result in sport being playing during the evenings and school holidays.  

46



Whilst this does not presently occur on a formalised basis, it could begin at any time without the 
need for planning permission.  Notwithstanding this, it is accepted that the proposed AWP would 
represent an intensification in the usage of the school’s playing fields and that the noise and 
disturbance impacts felt by surrounding residents would be extended.  

The application has been accompanied by an Environmental Noise Assessment which has 
considered the current ambient noise levels at the school and the predicted impacts arising from 
the proposed development.  Particular focus has been paid to the proposed AWP and impact upon 
the nearest residents along Audley Gate and Glamis Gardens. The ambient noise levels were 
monitored to the rear of No.19 Audley Gate.  

It is noted that several objectors to the proposal consider that the methodology for calculating 
these ambient noise levels are not adequate, as the location is not representative of the noise 
impacts which arise.  However, no objection to this has been raised by the City Council’s Pollution 
Control Officer and it is considered that these ambient levels are an adequate baseline to predict 
the impact from the proposal.  The average ambient noise level at the site is approximately 56dB 
with lower levels recorded during the evenings (6-8pm).  

Whilst the contents of this assessment are noted, the Pollution Control Officer has advised that 
there is no specific authoritative guidance on assessing noise from sports facilities.  Sport England 
have produced a design guidance note ‘Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) Acoustics – Planning 
Implications’ (2015) which identifies that whilst there is no specific noise criteria for assessing an 
AWP, avoidance of moderate annoyance during the daytime and evenings, as set by the World 
Heath Organisation’s ‘Guidelines for Community Noise’ should be observed.  This guidance sets 
an upper noise limit of 50dB to residential properties within external living areas (e.g. gardens).  

The Sport England guidance also goes on to advise that assessments undertaken of existing 
AWPs (for all users and differing sports including football and hockey), have highlighted that 
highest noise levels were found to be just behind the halfway line, with most significant noise levels 
deriving from the voices of players and hockey balls hitting perimeter strike boards (fencing).  The 
guidance advises that the typical noise level arising from an AWP (at a distance of 10 metres) 
would stand at approximately 58dB, which is above and beyond the WHO upper limit.  However, 
mitigation can be incorporated into the design of AWPs to reduce this. 

The submitted noise assessment has carried out noise surveys of 2 similar developments – at 
Gladstone Primary School during ‘break time’ and Bushfields Sports Centre when the full-size 
AWP was in use as 2no. 7-a-side pitches simultaneously).  The latter survey found noise levels of 
54dB at 20 metres from the pitch.  Whilst this is not directly comparable to the current proposal (the 
nearest residential property being 19.6 metres from the pitch), the Pollution Control Officer has 
advised that this level is equivalent to those identified by Sport England, and can therefore 
reasonably be used for the purposes of considering the potential noise impact from the facility.  

The proposal includes the construction of a 3 metre high close boarded acoustic fence which 
would provide approximately 10dB of attenuation for noise sources closest to it.  Given that noise 
sources further away from the acoustic fence (i.e. on the opposite side of the pitch) would have a 
lesser attenuation, the assessment has applied an 8dB reduction for the acoustic barrier.  It should 
be noted that this is to a height of 1.8 metres above ground level to take into account the raised 
land heights of residential properties along Audley Gate/Glamis Gardens.  

The submission predicts the noise levels from the AWP in 2no. scenarios: being used as a general 
playground area during break times; and being used for 7-a-side football into the evenings up to 
8pm during weekdays and 1pm at weekends.  It is predicted that the noise levels generated by the 
proposal, at the rear gardens of properties along Audley Gate (which are closest) would be 49.8dB 
during break times and 46.3dB at times when the AWP is used for sports.  These levels are both 
below the recommended 50dB limit set out in the Sport England guidance. The final resultant 
ambient noise level would only be exceeded above current levels by 1dB which the Pollution 
Control Officer has advised would not be perceptibly difference to the current levels.  

47



It is acknowledged that the objectors report considers that these projected noise levels are 
inaccurate.  They have referred to their own independent noise assessment carried out by 
professional consultants.  Despite a request to review this report, made by the Council’s Pollution 
Control Officer, it has not been made available and as such, only the information contained within 
the objectors report can be considered.  This report advises that other evidence from a 
professional consultant identifies that the maximum level of noise arising from AWPs can be 
between 60 and 75dB.  Using these figures, they conclude that the noise impact arising to 
residents of Glamis Gardens would be between 53 and 58.2dB.  

However, it must be noted that these are maximum levels arising from incidents such as hockey 
balls hitting the fencing.  Whilst such levels will occur at times, this noise will not be constant.  The 
Pollution Control Officer has advised that this assessment, whilst there is no specific authoritative 
guidance, does not accord with the widely accepted guidance from Sport England and therefore 
cannot be considered to be fully representative of the noise impact.  Furthermore, the objectors 
report fails to include mitigation which can be used in the form of shock absorbing materials to the 
rear of perimeter strike boards which reduce the level of noise emitted.  Notwithstanding this, the 
submitted noise assessment, which is accepted by the Pollution Control Officer, does not identify a 
need for this mitigation.  

Taking the above into account, it is acknowledged that the proposal would give rise to noise and 
that this would be extended throughout the year given that the AWP can be used during winter 
months whereas the grass playing fields cannot.  Furthermore, the proposal seeks community use 
which would extend the impacts beyond current school hours and at weekends.  However, with the 
mitigation proposed in the form of an acoustic fence and reduced hours of use to 8pm during the 
week (light permitting), 1pm on Saturdays and midday on Sundays, it is considered that the noise 
levels experienced at nearby residential properties would not result in significant or unacceptable 
harm to amenity.  

Noise from additional parking

As detailed above, the additional car parking would be situated adjacent to a previous car park 
extension immediately to the rear of Nos.23-27 Bradwell Road.  This car park is in very close 
proximity to shared boundary with these residential properties and as such, careful consideration 
must be given to ensuring that no unacceptable noise disturbance results.  The existing car park 
was granted planning permission in 2007 with a restrictive condition which stated that it was not be 
used at weekends or outside the hours of 07.30 to 20.30 on weekdays to ensure that no 
unacceptable impact to the amenity of occupants resulted.  

The proposal would result in additional vehicular movements through this existing car park, and 
more cars parking in close proximity to the neighbouring gardens.  Noise from engines, 
manoeuvring and the shutting of vehicle doors would be increased owing to the increase in 
vehicles.  However, provided that the same restrictive condition were imposed, it is considered that 
the impact would not result in unacceptable harm to the enjoyment of neighbouring properties and 
their gardens.  

Noise/disturbance from construction

It is acknowledged that the proposed use of Glamis Gardens for construction access could result in 
some degree of harm to resident amenity through noise and general disturbance.  This would 
particularly arise from the arrival/exit of large delivery vehicles.  It is proposed to secure by 
condition, a Construction Management Plan which would include hours of working (which should 
avoid hours of quiet amenity) and measures to prevent the control of noise and dust from 
emanating from the site.  

It is noted that the objectors report has requested that community consultation take place with 
regards to the agreed construction methods (through preparation of a Community Needs Plan) 

48



however the Applicant has undertaken individual consultation meetings with residents of Glamis 
Gardens who will be most affected by construction traffic.  It is not considered necessary that 
further public consultation take place in this respect as Officers, the Applicant and the Local 
Highway Authority (LHA) are already mindful of the concerns of residents.  

Subject to securing a robust and detailed Construction Management Plan, it is considered that the 
impacts upon resident amenity arising from construction would be minimised as far as possible.  

Overbearing/overshadowing/overlooking impact

With regards to the proposed dining hall/classroom building, this would be sited approximately 102 
metres from the rear boundary of the nearest residential dwelling (No.33 Audley Gate).  The 
proposal does not included any first floor side windows facing these neighbouring dwellings and, 
whilst windows to the rear would permit views out across to other neighbouring dwellings, the 
separation distances are considerably larger.  It is therefore considered that this relationship 
ensure that no undue overbearing or overlooking impact would result.  

With regards to the proposed AWP, it is noted that several residents along Audley Gate have 
expressed objection on the basis of an overbearing impact resulting from the associated fencing, 
particularly the 3 metre high acoustic fence.  Whilst it is acknowledged that such a tall fence could 
result in an unduly overbearing impact, in this instance the fence would be set 19.6 metres from 
the closest residential boundary (No.33 Audley Gate).  Furthermore, there is a considerable 
difference in site levels, with residential dwellings standing on land between approximately 0.8 and 
1 metres higher than the ground level on which the fence would be situated.  As such, the fence 
would stand only 0.4 metres taller than an average residential boundary fence of 1.8 metres in 
height.  

It is considered that the level of separation, in addition to this limited additional height, would 
ensure that the proposed fence does not appear unduly dominant or obtrusive to the rear gardens 
of neighbouring residential properties.   

From primary habitable windows of properties along Audley Gate, the proposal would be sited 
approximately 39 metres from the nearest rear facing window (to No.33 Audley Gate).  It is noted 
that some residents have criticised that the submitted drawings do not identify rear extensions 
which have taken place to these properties however the above separation distance does account 
for any extensions which have been constructed.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal 
would have some impact to the outlook for residents, there is no right to a view and it is considered 
that the level of separation is sufficient that no unacceptable overbearing impact would result from 
the AWP fencing.  

Additionally, the application proposal includes the planting of additional woodland buffer 
landscaping along the boundary with properties along Audley Gate which would further mitigate the 
impact of the fence upon residents’ outlooks.  

With regards to residents on Glamis Gardens, the property most affected by the proposal would be 
No.12 whose rear garden boundary would be sited approximately 20 metres from the proposed 
AWP and acoustic fence.  Whilst this would represent the southern corner of the pitch, after which 
the fence and AWP would angle away from the residential property, it is acknowledged that the 
boundary treatment to the rear garden is a mixture of open mesh fencing and hedgerow which 
would result in the AWP being readily visible to occupants’ amenity.  To mitigate this, it is 
considered appropriate to require that the additional planting include strengthening and infilling of 
the hedgerow.   Given the relationship to the AWP, it is considered that this additional planting 
would be sufficient to ensure no unduly overbearing impact would result.  

Further to the south, No.11 Glamis Gardens would be subject to relatively uninterrupted views 
towards the AWP owing to the existing gate at the end of the cul-de-sac.  The proposal AWP would 
be sited approximately 65 metres from the facing habitable windows of this dwelling and as such, 

49



whilst it would be readily visible, it is considered that this is a sufficient distance to ensure that the 
proposal does not appear dominant or obtrusive to occupants.  

Light pollution/intrusion

Many of the original objections received from local residents related to the intrusive nature of 
floodlighting proposed as part of the AWP.  However, the floodlights have been removed from the 
proposal.  It is noted some further objections received during the second round of public 
consultation express concern regarding the potential for a future planning application to install 
floodlights, however this application cannot consider any future development proposals.  Any future 
application would be subject to further public consultation and assessment.  

With regards to external lighting associated with other elements of the proposal, the submitted 
lighting assessment identifies that external lighting to the proposed dining hall/classroom block 
would result in levels of 2 lux at the closest boundary of the AWP.  As such, light spillage to 
residential gardens would not result.  With regards to the lighting of the proposed car park, this 
would be closer to residential properties along Bradwell Road.  However the submitted lighting 
assessment identifies that levels of 2 Lux would be reached within the existing car park, with even 
lower levels at the boundary with residential gardens.  As such, it is considered that the proposal 
would not result in any unacceptable levels of light pollution or intrusion to occupants. 

Human Rights 

It is noted that some local residents have raised objections to the proposed AWP on the basis that 
noise/general disturbance would result in a breach of Articles 1 and 8 of the Human Rights Act 
1998.  This Act means that it is now, broadly speaking, unlawful for a public authority to act in a 
way which is incompatible with a Convention right.  In particular, Article 8 (respect for private and 
family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property) are applicable to this 
planning decision.  

As with all planning applications, there is further provision within the Act to allow an Authority to 
take into account public interest.  In the vast majority of cases and for many years, existing 
planning law demands that a balancing exercise be made between private rights and public 
interest.  This decision, as with all others made by the Local Planning Authority, will take into 
account this balance.  All of the material considerations are detailed within Section 5 of this report 
and the planning balance is set out in Section 6.  

Conclusion

On the basis of the above, it is acknowledged that the proposal would result in some degree of 
impact to local residents by virtue of noise disturbance and outlook.  However, it is considered that 
the mitigation measures proposed in the form of acoustic fencing, hours of use and landscape 
planting would be sufficient to ensure that the impacts are reduced as far as possible.  Accordingly, 
it is considered that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable level of impact to the 
amenities of neighbouring occupants and is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012) and paragraphs 123 and 125 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).  

f) Ecology

The application has been accompanied by an Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey which details the 
assessment undertaken within the site in respect of protected species.  This has bene informed 
through field walking of habitats within and surrounding the site, as well as external visual and 
internal search inspections of 2no. buildings which would be affected by the proposals.  The 
surveys were undertaken in January, which is not the optimum time (April to September) however 
the City Council’s Wildlife Officer has raised no objections to this, or the contents of the Survey.  

50



The survey has identified that the site contains no suitable habitat to support badgers, Barn Owls, 
Great Crested Newts, invertebrates or reptiles.  Nor is there any suitable bat roosting features 
within the buildings.  Furthermore, the existing external lighting to the school would preclude bats 
from foraging/commuting within the central area of the site.  The site does however contain trees 
which could provide suitable habitat for nesting wild birds.  

The Wildlife Officer accepts the above and, to ensure no harm to nesting wild birds, recommends 
that an informative be imposed directing the Developer’s attention to the need to ensure no nesting 
birds are disturbed.  A condition is not required as this matter is already covered by the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the planning system should not seek to replicate other 
existing legislation. In addition, it is considered necessary to ensure that any loss of habitat 
features is mitigated.  The submitted survey identifies mitigation and biodiversity enhancement 
through the use of native species in new planting (where appropriate), provision of bat and bird 
boxes for roosting/nesting, and creation of log piles from any felled trees.  All of these are 
considered appropriate and reasonable, and could be secured by condition.  

It is noted that local objectors have raised concerns regarding the impact of the proposals upon 
wildlife within their gardens.  Residents have highlighted that they have experience of seeing bats, 
newts, toads, field mice, red kites, sparrow hawks, foxes and numerous different bird species.  
These concerns are noted, however the survey undertaken has identified habitat which would be 
affected by the proposals and proposed suitable mitigation.  With the removal of the proposed 
floodlighting column from the AWP, light spillage will not result in any form to these areas and as 
such, no undue impact would result to species contained within gardens.  

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to 
species of principal importance and mitigation measures will ensure no net loss to biodiversity 
within the site.  The proposal is therefore in accordance with Policy CS21 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and 
paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012). 

g) Impact upon heritage assets

Conservation Area and Listed Buildings

Whilst the application site itself is not a Listed Building or located within a Conservation Area, the 
site is visible within the setting of both the Grade I and II* Listed Thorpe Hall (and its registered 
gardens/parkland) and the Longthorpe Conservation Area.  Sections 66(1) and 72(1) place a 
statutory duty on the need to ensure that all new development either preserves or enhances the 
features for which these designations have been made.  This is further reinforced through the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and adopted Local Plan policies 
which place significant weight to this need in the decision-making process.

It should be noted that Historic England (the statutory consultee in respect of Grade I Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) have advised that they do not wish to offer any comments on 
the proposal and that the application should be determined in accordance with national and local 
planning policy guidance, and on the basis of the Council’s own specialist advice.  Accordingly, it is 
the position of the City Council’s Conservation Officer which is of most relevance.  

The comments received from the Conservation Officer highlight that the application site lies a 
significant distance from the designated heritage assets and that there is an area of mature 
landscaping to the front gardens of properties along Thorpe Road which partially obscures views 
to/from the application site.  On this basis, the proposed work would not adversely affect the setting 
of designated heritage assets, which is an important feature of their significance, and as such, the 
features for which they have been designated would be preserved.  The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and paragraphs 131, 132 and 134 of the National 

51



Planning Policy Framework (2012).  

Unidentified buried assets

The City Council’s Archaeologist has advised that there has been a lack of archaeological 
evaluation in the past within the area of the application site and surrounding.  As such, the 
archaeological potential of the site is unknown.  Taking a precautionary approach, it must be 
considered that there is potential for undiscovered buried heritage assets which may be impacted 
by the proposed development.  The Archaeologist has not raised any objections to the 
development taking place, subject to the imposition of a condition requiring archaeological 
evaluation.  

It is noted that the Archaeologist, based upon the limited information provided regarding 
groundworks, cannot confirm how this evaluation should take place.  However, it is still considered 
possible to secure this by condition, with an informative to be imposed which advises of the need 
for the Developer to provide additional groundworks information before reaching an agreed Written 
Scheme of Investigation.  

Subject to the imposition of such a condition, it is not considered that the proposal would unduly 
harm undiscovered buried heritage assets and as such, is in accordance with Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012) and paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).   

h) Trees and landscaping

Within the area to be affected by the proposed detached dining hall/classroom building, there is 
one tree which would be felled.  In addition, one tree would also be felled as a result of the 
proposed science laboratory extension.  These trees are not considered to offer any significant 
amenity value to the wider locality owing to their limited height and canopy size.  As such, their loss 
would not be notable or readily visible from the surrounding area.  This view is supported by the 
City Council’s Tree Officer.  

To the eastern boundary of the site (along Audley Gate and Glamis Gardens), there are more 
mature trees and shrubs.  There are spaces between the shrubs/hedgerow however it does extend 
the entire length down to Glamis Gardens whilst the majority of trees are located to the rear of 
Nos.27-35 Audley Gate.  Whilst the proposal has been accompanied by a Tree Survey, these trees 
have not been assessed and nor have they been covered by any Arboricultural Method Statement 
however, it is clear from the submitted Logistics Plan that the construction compound and works 
would take place a sufficient distance from any associated root protection areas.  As such, subject 
to a condition which secures appropriate tree protection measures (e.g. fencing), it is not 
considered that any undue impact would result to these landscape features.  

The proposal also includes extending the planting further to the south along the Audley Gate 
eastern boundary.  This is welcomed as it would enhance the visual amenity of the site and act as 
mitigation for the loss of existing trees.  No detailed plans have been provided however it is 
considered that this could reasonably be secured by condition.  

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable impact to 
landscape features within the site and the mitigation planting would result in an overall increase in 
tree cover within the site.  Accordingly, the proposal is in accordance with Policy PP16 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

i) Surface water drainage and flood risk 

The proposal has been accompanied by an indicative drainage strategy which seeks to utilise 
underground cellular storage tanks beneath the proposed AWP to take surface water drainage 
arising from the AWP and buildings.  This would attenuate water before travelling through a 

52



restricted flow pipe (of 8 litres per second) before entering the adopted sewage network.  

Following a request from the City Council’s Drainage Engineer, the Applicant has provided the 
detailed strategy and calculations to support this proposal, along with confirmation from Anglian 
Water that they would accept the flow rate and connection proposed.  Whilst it is acknowledged 
that there is a requirement for all developments of this size to utilise, where possible, sustainable 
drainage methods (SuDS), the Drainage Engineer is content that in this instance, such methods 
are not possible.  

The proposal would ensure that surface water run-off from the proposed development would be 
adequately managed so as to prevent any increased risk of flooding either within the site, or 
elsewhere.  Accordingly, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy CS22 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

j) Other matters

In response to the objections raised by local residents which have not been dealt with above:

 Misuse of public funds – This is not a material planning consideration and therefore cannot be 
taken into account in the determination of this application. 

 Loss of property value - This is not a material planning consideration and therefore cannot be 
taken into account in the determination of this application.

 Staggered school times – It is noted that some residents have suggested that the existing 
congestion issues surrounding the school be resolved through the staggering of school 
start/end times.  However, there are key tests which any planning conditions must meet in order 
to be applied.  One of this is reasonableness and it is considered that such a condition would 
fail this.  It would be unreasonable to impose such a condition as there will be families with more 
than one child at the school.  To impose staggered times would impose an unreasonable 
burden on parents which would therefore fail one of the key tests. 

 Chemical leaching – There is no known evidence that chemicals leaching into the ground can 
cause a public health issue.  

6 Conclusions

The above assessment sets out the detailed impacts arising from the proposed development which 
can be summarised as follows:
 there is an identified need for the proposed expansion of Jack Hunt School which will result in 

150 additional students in attendance.  The proposed extensions, building and car parking 
would provide improved/additional accommodation to meet these demands which should be 
afforded great weight, in accordance with paragraph 72 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012);

 the proposed AWP would result in the loss of playing fields however Sport England has 
advised that the benefit arising from the AWP through improved curriculum offer and 
community use would outweigh this loss, in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012); 

  the proposed development would not result in an unacceptable level of harm to the character, 
appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012);

 there are notable existing highway safety and congestion issues surrounding the school at 
peak times which would be exacerbated through increased student and staff numbers.  
Mitigation can be secured to reduce the number of car borne trips to/from the site which would 
reduce the level of impact to the surrounding highway network, in accordance with Policy 

53



CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 adequate on-site cycle and car parking would be provided to meet the needs of the proposed 
development, in accordance with Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012);

 the proposed AWP would result in additional noise impact to neighbouring residential 
properties however, subject to mitigation, the level of resultant noise would not be perceptible 
or result in an unacceptable level of harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in an undue level of overbearing impact to neighbouring 
residential properties albeit some harm to outlook would result;

 the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to ecology within the site and sufficient 
measures can be incorporated to ensure net biodiversity gain, in accordance with Policy CS21 
of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012);

 whilst the proposal would result in the loss of trees within the site, this would not result in harm 
to the visual amenity of the area and a resultant gain in tree cover would result from mitigation 
planting, in accordance with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to undiscovered buried heritage assets 
and would preserve the special character of designated heritage assets, therefore in 
accordance with Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policy PP17 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and paragraphs 131, 132 and 134 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2012); and

 the proposal would not result in increased flood risk within or surrounding the site, in 
accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would result in some level of undue impact in terms of 
traffic congestion and harm to the outlook from neighbouring residential properties, it is considered 
that on balance, the benefits arising from the expansion of the school and providing new and 
improved education facilities for the 1,950 students, would outweigh this harm.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission (Regulation 3) is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings:

- Existing Site Plan / Location Plan (drawing number 15082-101 Revision A)
- Site Block Plan (drawing number 15082-101)
- Topographical and QL "B" Utility Surveys (drawing number 3521-0216-01)
- Existing Elevations Sheet 1 of 2 (drawing number C2281-501)
- Existing Elevations Sheet 2 of 2 (drawing number CC281-501)
- Existing Floor Plans Sheet 1 of 2 (drawing number CC281-502)
- Existing Floor Plans Sheet 2 of 2 (drawing number CC281-502)
- Masterplan (drawing number L-1604-PRP-006 Revision 08)
- Dining Block Ground and First Floor Plan (drawing number 15082-110 Revision B)

54



- Dining Block Roof Plan (drawing number 15082-111)
- Dining Block Elevations (drawing number 15082-115 Revision C)
- Dining Block Key Sections (drawing number 15082-117 Revision A)
- Science Room GF Plan, Roof Plan, Sections and Elevations (drawing number 15082-

120 Revision A)
- Pitch Sections (drawing number L-1604-GAS-001 Revision 08)
- Existing Playing Field Markings - Summer Sports Layout (drawing number L-1604-EXP-

002 Revision 02)
- Existing Playing Field Markings - Winter Sports Layout (drawing number L-1604-EXP-

003 Revision 02)
- Proposed Playing Field Markings - Summer Sports Layout (drawing number L-1604-

PRP-011 Revision 01)
- Proposed Playing Field Markings - Winter Sports Layout (drawing number L-1604-PRP-

012 Revision 02)
- Landscape Site Levels (drawing number L-1604-SOP-001 Revision 02)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.
 
C 3 No development (including site preparation) shall take place until a programme of 

archaeological work including a Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No development shall take place 
unless in complete accordance with the approved scheme.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full including any post development requirements e.g. archiving and 
submission of final reports.

Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to mitigate the 
impact of their scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not 
possible, in accordance with paragraphs 128 and 141 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  This is a pre-commencement 
condition because archaeological investigations will be required to be carried out before 
development begins.

 

C 4 No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place on the approved 
building or extension until details of all external materials have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details submitted for approval 
shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour (using BS4800) and 
reference number. The development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 6 Prior to first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for the hard 

landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall include details of the following:

- Hard surfacing materials of all circulation areas;
- Boundary treatments (including colour finish);
- Bin storage;
- Outdoor dining/picnic tables; 
- Canopies; 
- Sports store; and
- A timetable of phased provision.  

55



The hard landscaping scheme shall be carried in accordance with the approved details, 
including the approved timetable.  

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).  

 C 7 Prior to first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for the hard 
landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall include details of the following:

- Planting plans including species, size and density of planting;
- Measures to strengthen the existing native hedgerow along the eastern boundary of the 

playing fields (along Audley Gate and Glamis Gardens);
- Maintenance schedule; and
- A timetable of phased provision.  

The soft landscaping scheme shall be carried in accordance with the approved details, 
including the approved timetable.

Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme (except 
those contained in enclosed rear gardens to individual dwellings) that die, are removed or 
become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall 
be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or their 
successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being replaced.  
Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall 
themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development, to protect neighbour 
amenity and for the enhancement of biodiversity, in accordance with Policies CS16 and 
CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP3 and PP16 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 8 The ecological mitigation measures and biodiversity enhancement detailed within Chapter 4 
of the submitted 'Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report: Jack Hunt School, 
Peterborough' (March 2016) shall be implemented in accordance with details submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority no later than the first planting 
season following the completion of development.  Specifically, the measures shall include:

- Inclusion of native species, where possible, within the planting scheme secured by 
condition C7 above; 

- Provision of bat roosting and bird nesting boxes; and
- Creation of log piles from any felled trees.  

Reason:  In order to mitigate habitat loss and to enhance biodiversity within the site, in 
accordance with Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 9 No work shall take on the application site (including soil stripping, preconstruction delivery 
of equipment or materials, the creation of site accesses, positioning of site huts) until a site 
specific Method Statement and/or Tree Protection Plan to British Standard 5837:2012 
'Trees in relation to design demolition and construction - Recommendations' has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Method 
Statement/Protection Plan shall identify (not exclusively) the following:

56



- Location and specification of protective tree measures in addition to appropriate ground 
protection within the Root Protection Areas of all retained trees within the application 
site;

- Details of all Root Protection Area infringement during the construction and landscaping 
phases with details on how the impact will be minimised. This includes the location and 
specification of 'no dig' constructions (where applicable);  

- Details of facilitation pruning;
- Location for access, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare facilities 

etc.; and
- Specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and changes in soil 

level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the agreed details/plans. 
The tree protection shall be erected according to the specification and locations shown on 
the agreed Tree Protection Plan. Signs shall not be placed on the tree protection 
emphasising that it is not to be moved, nor the area entered into until the end of 
development without written permission from the Local Planning Authority's Tree Officer. 

Reason:  In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C10 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 
Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with, in accordance with Policy 
PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2011) and paragraphs 120 and 121 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).

 

C11 The external lighting hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
shown on drawing number LS23023/1 'Horizontal Illuminance Levels' and prior to first use 
of the area to which it relates.  Thereafter, the lighting shall be retained in accordance with 
the approved details in perpetuity.  

Reason:  In order to protect neighbour amenity and reduce opportunities for crime and 
disorder, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C12 Notwithstanding the submitted information, no development shall take place until a 

Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The CMP shall include (but not limited to):

- A timetable for phased development;
- A scheme of working hours for construction and other site works, which should not take 

place outside the hours of 07:30 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 to 13:00 on 
Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public/Bank Holidays;

- A scheme for construction access from the City's Parkway system, including measures 
to ensure that all construction vehicles can enter the site immediately upon arrival;

- Provision of adequate space within the site to enable all vehicles to load and unload 
clear of the public highway;

- A scheme for the parking of contractor vehicles within the site;

57



- A scheme for access and deliveries, including hours, which should avoid peak school 
drop-off and pick up times;

- A noise management plan, including a scheme for the monitoring of construction noise 
in the event of complaints;

- A scheme for the control of dust arising from building and site works; and
- Provision of chassis and wheel cleaning for all construction vehicles prior to entering 

the public highway network.  

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP.  

Reason:  In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants and the safety of the 
public highway, in accordance with Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP3 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012).  This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure that no construction 
practices result in harm to neighbour amenity or highway safety.

 
C13 Prior to first occupation of the dining hall/classroom building hereby permitted, a scheme of 

off-site highway works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall include the following:

- Removal of vegetation to improve passive surveillance, improvements to lighting and 
installation of solar studs to the northern (City Hospital) footbridge in the southwards 
direction towards Buckland Close;

- Removal of chicanes and replacement with bollards, installation of white lining to 
indicate priority, improvements to lighting and installation of signage and solar studs to 
the southern (Bradwell Road) footbridge in a westwards direction towards Bickleigh 
Walk; 

- Widening to 3 metres in width, improvements to lighting and installation of signage and 
solar studs to the workhouse cycleway from Bradwell Road; and

- A timetable of phased implementation. 

The off-site highway works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, 
including the approved timetable.  

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel and reduce congestion 
surrounding the site, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C14 Prior to first occupation of the dining hall/classroom building hereby permitted, a Travel 
Plan and Parking Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The Travel Plan shall contain SMART targets to reduce car 
borne trips to the site, measures to implement those targets and a mechanism for 
monitoring accordance with the targets set.  The Parking Management Plan shall contain 
measures to control and manage traffic at pick-up and drop-off times.  The Travel Plan and 
Parking Management Plan shall be implemented in full prior to first occupation of the dining 
hall/classroom building.  

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel and reduce congestion 
surrounding the site, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C15 Prior to first occupation of the dining hall/classroom building hereby permitted, the 
additional parking spaces shown on drawing number L-1604-PRP-006 Revision 08 
'Masterplan' shall be laid out and made available for use.  Thereafter, those spaces shall be 
retained solely for the parking of vehicles in connection with the use of the site known as 

58



'Jack Hunt School' and shall not be used outside the hours of 07:30 to 20:30 (inclusive) on 
Mondays to Fridays and at no time on Saturdays, Sundays or Public/Bank Holidays.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policies PP3, PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

 

C16 The 3 metre high acoustic fencing shown on drawing number L-1604-PRP-006 Revision 06 
'Masterplan' and detailed within the submitted 'Environmental Noise Assessment' 
(reference 0409877/AC/PL Revision 01) shall be provided prior to first use of the all-
weather pitch hereby permitted.  Thereafter, it shall be retained as approved in perpetuity.

Reason:  In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring residents, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C17 The all-weather artificial pitch hereby permitted shall not be used outside the following 
hours:

a) During school term-times
- Monday to Friday 17:00 to 20:00 hours
- Saturday 09:00 to 13:00 hours
- Sunday 10:00 to 12:00 hours

b) During school holidays
- Monday to Friday 09:00 to 20:00 hours
- Saturday 09:00 to 13:00 hours
- Sunday 10:00 to 12:00

Reason:  In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring residents, to ensure that the 
viability of other facilities within the catchment area are not affected, and to ensure that 
there is overriding community benefit arising from the loss of the playing fields, in 
accordance with Policies CS16 and CS19 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), 
Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and paragraph 74 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2012).

 

C18 Use of the all-weather artificial pitch hereby permitted shall not commence until a 
community use agreement prepared in consultation with Sport England has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and a copy of the completed 
approved agreement has been provided to the Local Planning Authority.  The agreement 
shall apply to the artificial grass pitch and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, 
access by non-school users, management responsibilities and a mechanism for review, 
and anything else which the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Sport England 
considers necessary in order to secure the effective community use of the facilities, having 
regard to other facilities in the local area.  The development shall not be used at any time 
other than in strict compliance with the approved agreement. 

Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facility/facilities and 
to ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport, in accordance with Policy CS19 of 
the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and paragraph 74 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2012).

59



C19 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the surface 
water drainage details shown on and contained within the following drawings and 
documents:

- Preliminary Drainage Layout (drawing number CC281-100 Revision H)
- Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (reference CC281/FRA/GC dated April 

2016)
- Micro Drainage calculations (dated 19/09/2016)
- Phase II Geo-Environmental Assessment Report (reference C2281/PII Revision A)
- Insitu Soakaway Test Results

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not result in increased flood risk elsewhere, 
in accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

 
Copies to councillors:
Ed Murphy
Gul Nawaz
Sam Smith
 

60



9/19/2016 Peterborough City Council Mail  App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=10d1323b0b&view=pt&search=inbox&msg=15733cd958f0af1e&siml=15733cd958f0af1e 1/6

Louise Lovegrove <louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk>

App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School 

Philip Raiswell <Philip.Raiswell@sportengland.org> 16 September 2016 at 17:21
To: "planningcontrol@peterborough.gov.uk" <planningcontrol@peterborough.gov.uk>
Cc: "louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk" <louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk>

Sport England Ref: E/PE/2016/42327/S

 

Thank you for consulting Sport England on the above application. Sport England previously commented on this
proposal by letter dated 21 April 2016, when we raised concerns that the proposal had not demonstrated that it could
meet Sport England policy and we therefore requested additional information on a number of issues. These further
comments take into account the additional information and amended proposals submitted by the applicant (your
letter dated 26 August 2016 refers)

 

Summary:  Sport England raises no objection to this application which is considered to meet exception
E5 of our adopted Playing Fields Policy, subject to conditions relating to hours of use of the proposed
artificial grass pitch and a community use agreement to cover community access to this facility.

 

Sport England –Statutory Role and Policy

 

It is understood that the proposal prejudices the use, or leads to the loss of use, of land being used as a playing field
or has been used as a playing field in the last five years,  as defined in The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 595). The consultation
with Sport England is therefore a statutory requirement.

 

Sport England has considered the application in the light of the National Planning Policy Framework (particularly Para
74) and Sport England’s policy on planning applications affecting playing fields ‘A Sporting Future for the Playing
Fields of England’ (see link below): www.sportengland.org/playingfieldspolicy

 

Sport England’s policy is to oppose the granting of planning permission for any development which would lead to the
loss of, or prejudice the use of, all or any part of a playing field, unless one or more of the five exceptions stated in
its policy apply.

 

The Proposal and Impact on Playing Field

 

The application relates to the construction of a new dining block on an existing hard play area at the above
secondary school; a new full size 3G artificial pitch on the existing playing field, and new car parking and associated
landscaping. Further information has been submitted to help address concerns raised by consultees/residents
(including Sport England) with the most significant amendment being the removal of the floodlighting from the
proposed artificial grass pitch, following objections received from residential properties to the east and concerns
raised by the FA and local football clubs regarding the impact on the nearby 3G facility at The Grange.

 

Assessment against Sport England Policy

 

APPENDIX 1

61

http://www.sportengland.org/playingfieldspolicy


9/19/2016 Peterborough City Council Mail  App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=10d1323b0b&view=pt&search=inbox&msg=15733cd958f0af1e&siml=15733cd958f0af1e 2/6

In our initial response dated 21 April 2016 Sport England objected to this proposal as it was considered that further
consideration and additional information was needed with regard to the following issues, in order for Sport England to
fully assess the proposal against exception E5 of our playing fields policy, which states:

 

         E5  The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor sports facility, the
provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as to
outweigh the detriment caused by the loss of the playing field or playing fields.

 

 

The issues that were raised were as follows::

 

Full existing and proposed winter/summer pitch layouts are required in order to assess the impact of the
proposal on existing playing field provision, as part of the assessment against Sport England policy
Further consideration needs to be given to the choice of surface for this pitch, given the concerns of the FA
and England Hockey in relation to the proposed 3G pitch and (a) its impact on the nearby 3G pitch at The
Grange, and (b) its lack of suitability for competitive hockey
Further information is required to demonstrate that the proposed allweather pitch will not adversely affect the
existing cricket pitch on the adjoining playing field, and that the pitch can still provide a cricket pitch to meet
ECB guidelines (this is linked to the need to show full existing and proposed pitch layouts)
Further information is required to demonstrate that the proposed 4m access path for emergency vehicles will
not result in a games court area that fails to meet NGB recommended sizes for court use.

 

Further information has therefore been submitted to address the above concerns:

 

         Winter/summer pitch layouts have been submitted which demonstrate that the new pitch will replace an
existing junior grass football pitch, but will not adversely affect other grass pitch provision on this site, including
the existing artificial cricket wicket. Sport England’s view is that the location shown for this facility is the
preferred option from an operational point of view, as alternative locations on the northern section of the playing
field would disrupt existing pitch provision, including the existing artificial cricket wicket, which would be
expensive to relocate. In addition, the siting of the pitch on the southern section of playing field would be too
remote from the school buildings making it difficult to access and supervise, and would result in mud being
transferred from the field to the artificial pitch during the winter months. Sport England are therefore satisfied that
from an operational point of view and taking into account impact on existing pitch provision, the siting proposed
is the preferred siting for this facility, though it is accepted that the impact on adjoining residential properties
needs to be assessed by the relevant qualified Environmental Health Officers.

         With regard to the proposed surfacing of the facility, the applicants have retained the proposal to surface the
pitch with a 40mm 3G pitch. This means that the pitch is primarily suitable for football use but can also be used
for general multisport use during PE lessons. This surface can be used for recreational hockey (i.e. the delivery
of PE lessons) but is not suitable for competitive adult hockey use. The school however consider that the
proposed surface best meets their own needs for the delivery of the PE curriculum, as set out in their submitted
supporting statement. The school has also stated that in order to minimise any potential adverse impact on the
3G facility at The Grange, the following operational arrangements will be adopted: (a) the school will limit the
hours of community usage of the pitch outside of school hours, (b) the school is willing to limit the community
usage to predominantly youth use (under the age of 21), (c)  the school has confirmed that they are willing to
agree that no competitive adult football team will be able to use the pitch as its club base for home fixtures, and
(d) the school will refer any adult bookings to the local Grange facility in the first instance and only take these
bookings if The Grange could not fulfil them.

         The applicants have demonstrated that the proposed access for emergency vehicles will not have an
adverse impact on the existing games court through the need for a 4m upgraded substrata of the existing games
court to facilitate emergency access. There will be some short term disruption whilst this work is carried out but
no long term impact on the use of the games court.

As part of the ongoing process of consultation with national governing bodies of sport (NGBs), I have received the
following comments on the revised proposals:

FA (Football) – the FA still wish to object to this proposal as even given the change in terms of the lack of
floodlighting and restricted community use (as set out above) they believe the proposal will still have a detrimental
impact on the nearby 3G facility at The Grange.

APPENDIX 1

62



9/19/2016 Peterborough City Council Mail  App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=10d1323b0b&view=pt&search=inbox&msg=15733cd958f0af1e&siml=15733cd958f0af1e 3/6

England Hockey – England Hockey do not object to the proposal given the benefits to the school for PE delivery
and the fact that England Hockey will not be investing in the facility, but they reiterate their view that a facility of this
nature is not suitable for adult competitive hockey (this is a recent policy change from England Hockey), therefore
the benefit in terms of delivery of hockey within the local community is limited, especially given the lack of
floodlights.

RFU (Rugby Union) – the facility will not be suitable for Rugby Union, and it seems a shame that the facility will be
a hybrid surface that will not meet the needs of any particular sport. There are no rugby compliant 3G pitches in
Peterborough and local clubs struggle to access midweek training facilities. The lack of an up to date Playing Pitch
Strategy makes it difficult to assess AGP needs across the city.

Assessing the strategic impact of this proposal on community sport in Peterborough remains difficult given the lack
of an up to date Playing Pitch Strategy for Peterborough (a new strategy has been commissioned but is unlikely to
be finalised until Spring 2017 at the earliest). The benefits for the school in delivering the PE curriculum have been
outlined within the supporting documentation, and a facility of this type will undoubtedly benefit the school in
delivering PE and games lessons, as a facility of this nature can accommodate more intensive use and is available
for use throughout the winter months (except in instances of extreme snowfall or subzero temperatures). The need
for an allweather surface to deliver PE requirements is intensified by the increasing number of pupils at the school,
which places further burdens on existing grass pitches and games courts. The school have estimated that on
average 350 pupils a day will access the new facility during the winter and spring terms, with an average of
approximately 300 pupils a day in the summer term.

In terms of general artificial grass pitch provision in Peterborough, Sport England has developed the Facilities
Planning Model (FPM) which assesses supply and demand for sports facilities, using agreed parameters for use of
such facilities in the peak period (weekday evenings and weekends). Peterborough currently has six fullsize artificial
grass pitches (combining all surface types), scaled down to 5.26 pitches to take account of existing community
access. This equates to 0.31 pitches per 10,000 population, below the national average of 0.35 pitches and the
regional average of 0.34 pitches. Demand is calculated at 6.46 pitches, indicating a nominal deficit of 1.2 pitches in
the city (these figures do not take account of cross boundary movements). Unmet demand is calculated at 9.4% of
all demand, with 77.5% of all unmet demand due to a lack of capacity at peak times. The FPM model calculates that
all artificial grass pitches in Peterborough are operating at full capacity (100%) at peak times. This output tends to
suggest that an additional pitch within the Peterborough area would not affect existing usage of alternative pitches
during the peak period, especially as community use of this facility during out of school hours will be extremely
limited due to the lack of floodlighting proposed.

It is Sport England’s view that the relatively limited community access to this facility at peak times will have little
impact on existing artificial pitches in the Peterborough area during these peak period of use. There will be, however,
a limited direct impact on The Grange, which will lose the existing use of that facility by pupils of Jack Hunt School.
There will be no impact on existing club use of The Grange for midweek winter football training, as this can only take
place at floodlit facilities.

The school have also confirmed that there is no existing community use of the school’s winter grass sports pitches,
therefore the proposal will not adversely affect any existing community use of the school’s sports facilities (including
grass pitches). The applicants have submitted a site plan to show that the facility will not affect the existing cricket
wicket on the site, which does have some community use during the summer months.

The removal of the floodlighting from the scheme will significantly reduce the potential for residential amenity to be
affected as the facility will not be in use during after school hours for much of the year. During the spring/summer
months evening use will be limited to 8pm, whereas similar facilities that are publicly funded will usually operate until
9.30pm or 10pm. From a sport perspective this reduces the benefits from a community sport perspective, as the
main value for a facility of this type on a school site comes from the hiring out of the facility to local clubs for
midweek winter training. However, the assessment of the impact of the facility is complicated by the concerns raised
by the FA, who argue that the facility would have a detrimental impact on the 3G pitch at The Grange, which is sited
approximately 400m to the east. The school has acknowledged this and have suggested a series of measures (see
above) to reduce the impact on this facility in terms of duplication of offer. It should also be noted that the school
hire the facility at The Grange during the school day, therefore there will be the loss of this revenue for the operators
of The Grange facility. However, weighed against this are the benefits to the school of having a facility on their own
site, meaning less time is taken accessing an offsite facility, and the financial savings in hiring an offsite pitch
(estimated to be in excess of £2,300 per annum).

It is also accepted that England Hockey have stated that a facility of this type is not suitable for competitive adult
hockey, therefore any use for hockey will be limited to school/ recreational use, and even this will be limited due to
the lack of floodlights. However, the City of Peterborough Hockey Club have written to confirm that the facility will be
of use to the club in delivering training sessions and recreational hockey, particularly for younger age groups. They
write:

 

“We believe, therefore, that a new pitch at Jack Hunt School opens up a whole host of opportunities

for the Hockey Club to work with the school and the community to increase sports participation in a

APPENDIX 1

63



9/19/2016 Peterborough City Council Mail  App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=10d1323b0b&view=pt&search=inbox&msg=15733cd958f0af1e&siml=15733cd958f0af1e 4/6

fun and engaging manner without the need to bus the children over to the hockey club. We also

believe that our coaches can work with the staff at the school to support them in the delivery of

hockey to pupils.

We are therefore very happy to support fully the proposed development of the new pitch and look

forward to building our community sports engagement in partnership with Jack Hunt School to the

benefit of future generations of children in Peterborough over the coming years”.

 

It should be noted that a facility such as this which is constructed without floodlights and therefore with only limited
community use, would not attract external funding from public bodies such as Sport England or national governing
bodies of sport such as the Football Association or England Hockey. In addition, the relative lack of community use
means that external income from the use of the facility will be extremely limited. This needs to be taken into account
when assessing the economic viability of the facility, as expenditure will be required for ongoing maintenance costs
as well as the need to replace the surface of the facility, usually after a period of 1012 years, depending on the
usage of the facility and the ongoing maintenance regime. The school would need to develop a business plan that
does not jeopardise the long term viability of the facility, given the relatively limited income from external use it will
generate.

 

Conclusions and Recommendation

 

This application raises complex issues when assessing the impact of the proposal against Sport England policy.
Sport England normally seek to secure community access to facilities such as artificial pitches on school sites, as
they can help to deliver benefits in terms of access to the facility for local clubs, particularly to meet weekday winter
training requirements. However, in this instance there have been concerns raised both regard to the impact on nearby
residential properties (particularly with regard to evening floodlit use) and the potential adverse impact on other
artificial pitches in the area, particularly the 3G pitch at The Grange. The application has been submitted primarily to
meet the PE requirements of the school, with only very limited community use proposed in the light of the concerns
regarding residential amenity and impact on adjoining facilities. In many respects, the compromise solution put
forward meets both the school’s requirements for an allweather pitch whilst also meeting the concerns raised above.
However, there are concerns that the long term viability of the facility will be affected by the lack of income from
external lettings, and the school will need to budget for ongoing maintenance costs as well as the need to plan long
term for the replacement of the carpet in due course.

Given the above assessment, on balance, Sport England does not wish to raise an objection to this application as it
is considered to satisfy exception E5 of the above policy, in that the benefits to the school with regard to the delivery
of the PE curriculum will outweigh any detriment caused by the loss of a grass pitch. It is considered that a carefully
agreed community use programme can complement rather than conflict with other nearby facilities, subject to such
details being approved by Sport England. The absence of an objection is subject to the following condition(s) being
attached to the decision notice should the local planning authority be minded to approve the application:

 

1.    Hours of Use   The facility hereby approved shall only be used between the following hours:

 

TERMTIME

Community Use Mon  Fri : 17:00 – 20:00

Sat : 09:00 – 13:00

Sun : 10:00 – 12:00

SCHOOL HOLIDAYS

Community Use Mon  Fri : 09:00 – 20:00

Sat : 09:00 – 13:00

Sun : 10:00 – 12:00

APPENDIX 1

64



9/19/2016 Peterborough City Council Mail  App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=10d1323b0b&view=pt&search=inbox&msg=15733cd958f0af1e&siml=15733cd958f0af1e 5/6

 

Reason; In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure that the viability of other facilities in the catchment area
are not affected, and to comply with Development Plan Policy **

 

2.    Use of the artificial grass pitch shall not commence until a community use agreement prepared
in consultation with Sport England has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, and a copy of the completed approved agreement has been provided to the
Local Planning Authority.  The agreement shall apply to the artificial grass pitch and include details
of pricing policy, hours of use, access by nonschool users, management responsibilities and a
mechanism for review, and anything else which the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
Sport England considers necessary in order to secure the effective community use of the facilities,
having regard to other facilities in the local area.  The development shall not be used at any time
other than in strict compliance with the approved agreement." 

Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facility/facilities, to ensure
sufficient benefit to the development of sport and to accord with Development Plan Policy **.

Informative: Guidance on preparing Community Use Agreements is available from Sport England
www.sportengland.org.

 

 

Should the above conditions recommended above not be imposed on any planning consent, Sport England would
consider the proposal to not meet exception E5 of our playing fields policy, and we would therefore object to this
application. If the local authority were minded to approve the application contrary to a Sport England objection, the
application would need to be referred to the Secretary of State, via the NPCU.

 

Sport England would also like to be notified of the outcome of the application through the receipt of a copy of the
decision notice. 

 

The absence of an objection to this application in the context of the Town and Country Planning Act, does not in any
way commit Sport England  or any National Governing Body of Sport to support for any related funding application.

 

If you would like any further information or advice please contact me at the address below.

 

Yours sincerely,

 

Philip Raiswell 
Planning Manager

T: 020 7273 1824 
M: 07769 741165 
F: 020 7273 1981
E: Philip.Raiswell@sportengland.org

 

APPENDIX 1

65

http://www.sportengland.org/
mailto:Philip.Raiswell@sportengland.org
http://www.sportengland.org/


9/19/2016 Peterborough City Council Mail  App Ref: 16/00578/R3FUL  Jack Hunt School

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=10d1323b0b&view=pt&search=inbox&msg=15733cd958f0af1e&siml=15733cd958f0af1e 6/6

 

The information contained in this email may be subject to public disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act
2000. Additionally, this email and any attachment are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual to
whom they are addressed. If you are not the intended recipient, be advised that you have received this email and
any attachment in error, and that any use, dissemination, forwarding, printing, or copying, is strictly prohibited.  

This email has been scanned for email related threats and delivered safely by Mimecast.
For more information please visit http://www.mimecast.com

APPENDIX 1

66

http://www.mimecast.com/


APPENDIX 2

67



This page is intentionally left blank

68



APPENDIX 3

69



APPENDIX 3

70



APPENDIX 3

71



This page is intentionally left blank

72



73



This page is intentionally left blank

74



Planning and EP Committee                                                                                              Item 2

Application Ref: 15/01839/MMFUL 

Proposal: The extraction, processing, sale and distribution of sand and gravel; the 
erection and use of a concrete batching plant; the establishment of an 
inert waste recycling facility; the use of inert residues for restoration 
together with necessary highway and access improvements

Site: Pasture House Farm, The Causeway, Thorney, Peterborough
Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: EIA development
Applicant: Land Logical Ltd
Agent: Mr David Marsh

PDE Consulting Ltd
Site visit: 26.11.2015

Case officer: Mr A O Jones
Telephone No. 01733 454440
E-Mail: alan.jones@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings

The site covers an area of approximately 59.1 hectares in a rural location off the A47 to the east of 
Peterborough between Eye and Thorney. The site is bounded by the A47 to the North, Willow Hall 
Lane to the east and Cat's Water Drain to the west. Open fields stretch to the south, and north 
beyond the A47. The small copse known as Pasture House Plantation lies at the northeast corner 
of the site abutting Willow Hall Lane and the A47. Pasture House Farm lies centrally to the site 
along the northern boundary with the A47. Several other isolated dwellings are in close proximity, 
notably two to the northwest and two to the northeast which both lie within 150m, and two 
approximately 300m south of the site along Willow Hall Lane. 

The majority of the site lies within allocated site M1F - Pode Hole and Eye / Thorney, barring 
approximately 16ha to the northwest. Pode Hole quarry lies immediately to the east of the site 
beyond Willow Hall Lane, with Willow Hall Farm quarry lying some 500m to the south beyond the 
scheduled monument at Bar Pastures Farm. The restored north east extension of Eyebury quarry 
and landfill complex lies some 600m to the southwest on the far side of Cat’s Water Drain.

The proposal site lies within the generally flat topography of the Fens landscape.

Proposal 

The development will seek to extract some 3.4 million tonnes of sand and gravel at a rate of 
170,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) over an estimated 20 year lifespan (this includes approximately 
500,000t of sand and gravel which lies beyond the allocation boundary which would otherwise be 
sterilised, by virtue of being economically unviable to extract in the future). The site will support a 
complimentary concrete batching facility with a throughput of some 50,000 cubic metres per 
annum (cmpa) (including 17,000 tonnes per annum of imported cement). The site will also host an 
inert recycling facility with a capacity of approximately 200,000tpa. Some 100,000cmpa of 
restoration materials will be used for progressive restoration of the site, with expected recycled 
aggregate sales in the order of 190,000tpa. The concrete plant, processing and stocking areas will 
be located at the northeast of the site adjacent to Pasture House Plantation. Including both site 

75



preparation, extraction and restoration works the site will have a lifespan of some 25 years.

An estimated maximum of 266 heavy commercial vehicle (HCV) movements are expected per day 
(i.e. 133 in and 133 out). The development seeks to secure working hours of 7am - 6pm Monday to 
Friday and 7am - 1pm on Saturdays.

Access to the site will be from the south of Pasture House Plantation off Willow Hall Lane then to 
the proposed improved junction of Willow Hall Lane and the A47. The improved junction will see 
provision of right turn ghost islands to Willow Hall Lane to the south and the access to Middle West 
Farm to the north, with the length of Willow Hall Lane from the A47 to the site access widened to 
enable two vehicles to pass. A footpath / cycleway will be provided for the length of the Willow Hall 
Lane upgrade adjacent to Pasture House Plantation, and a replacement footpath / cycleway will be 
provided alongside the A47 to the east of Willow all Lane where the existing route will be affected 
by the junction improvement works.

The restoration will primarily seek to restore high grade agricultural land to ground levels similar to 
those which exist now, with field drainage re-instated, but will also include 2708 linear metres of 
new hedgerows, replacement planting adjacent to Pasture House Plantation, including an 
additional 500 square metres of lowland deciduous woodland, a new 3m wide wildlife corridor 
running alongside the new hedgerow to the A47, and additional biodiversity enhancements along 
the length of the Cat's Water Drain.

The proposal has evolved since the initial submission, such that further information has been 
provided to clarify the detail of the proposals in respect of the junction improvements and 
biodiversity enhancements, and the associated impacts on trees and the landscape. Further noise 
information has also been supplied, which has resulted in an increased bund being proposed for 
the south eastern corner of the site.

The proposal is EIA development, under schedule 1 (19) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011, and is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
15/00006/SCREEN EIA screening opinion (to ascertain whether 

or not the proposal is subject to 
Environmental Impact assessment)

Comments 04/08/2015

15/00003/SCOP Scoping opinion request (to ascertain the 
scope of the required Environmental Impact 
Assessment)

Comments 28/08/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 1 - Economic Growth 
Planning should encourage sustainable growth and significant weight should be given to 
supporting economic development.

Section 3 - Rural Economic Growth 
Should be encouraged through sustainable growth and the expansion of business/ enterprise 
including sustainable rural tourism/leisure developments which respect the character of the 
countryside, via the conversion of existing buildings and well designed new buildings. The retention 

76



and development of local services and community facilities should be promoted.

Section 6 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Housing applications should be considered in this context. Policies for the supply of housing should 
not be considered up-to-date if a 5 year supply of sites cannot be demonstrated.

Section 11 - Natural and Local Environment 
Should be enhanced through the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes, geological 
conservation interests and soils; recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; minimising 
impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity. New and existing development 
should not contribute to or be put at unacceptable risk by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or 
noise pollution and land instability.

Section 11 - Development on Agricultural Land 
Where deemed necessary areas of poorer quality land should be used in preference to that of a 
higher quality.

Section 11 - Biodiversity 
Development resulting in significant harm to biodiversity or in the loss of/deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats should be refused if the impact cannot be adequately mitigated, or 
compensated.  Proposals to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be permitted and 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity into new development encouraged.  

Development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest or other specified sites should 
not normally be permitted  where an adverse effect on the site's notified special interest features is 
likely. An exception should only be made where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development 
requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered or 
determined.

Section 11 - Noise 
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted; 
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to 
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.

Section 11 - Light Pollution 
Lighting should be designed to limit pollution on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 
areas of nature conservation.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Section 12 - Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
A balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm and the significance 
of the heritage asset.  Where the assets is demonstrably of equivalent significance to a Scheduled 
Monuments it should be subject to the policies for designated heritage assets.

77



Section 13 - Economic Benefit 
Great weight to the benefits of the mineral extraction, including to the economy. Non energy 
minerals should be provided for outside of Scheduled Monuments and Conservation Areas where 
practicable.

Section 13 - Unacceptable Adverse Impacts 
Should be avoided on the natural and historic environment, human health and aviation safety. The 
cumulative effect of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or from a number of sites in a locality 
must be taken into account.

Section 13 - Noise, Dust and Particle Emissions 
Including any blasting vibrations must be controlled, mitigated or removed at source. Noise limits 
for extraction in proximity to noise sensitive properties should be established.

Section 13 - Restoration and Aftercare 
Should be provided for at the earliest opportunity and carried out to high environmental standards 
through the use of appropriate conditions.

Section 13 - Mineral Safeguarding 
Non mineral development proposals should not normally be permitted in Mineral Safeguarding 
Areas (MSAs) where they may constrain potential future use of the minerals.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011) 

MW01 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Minerals Development 
In delivering the growth agenda there will be an increase in the use of recycled secondary 
aggregates and a preference in these over land won minerals, however, where this is not 
practicable a steady supply of mineral from the Plan area will be maintained.  Limestone only 
exists in the Peterborough area and extraction will continue thought the Plan period.  In order to 
avoid reserves becoming exhausted, new sites will need to be identified and brought forward if 
they meet environmental criteria.  Major infrastructure projects will be facilitated by the supply of 
mineral and in the case of the A14 improvements, by borrowpits close to the scheme.  Mineral 
safeguarding and consultation areas will be identified to avoid needless sterilisation and prejudice 
to future mineral extraction.  As extraction progresses across the area it will help deliver other 
objectives through restoration including increased biodiversity, amenity and recreational use.  The 
natural and historic environment will continue to be protected with increased emphasis on 
operation practices which contribute towards addressing climate change and minimise the impact 
of such development upon communities.  (Policy CS1 sets out a list of strategic objectives to 
support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the report).

MW02 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Waste Management Development 
Growth will be supported by a network of waste management facilities which will deliver 
sustainable waste management.  The facilities will be 'new generation' which will achieve higher 
levels of waste recovery and recycling in line with relevant targets.  They will also be of high quality 
design and operation, contributing towards addressing climate change and minimising impacts on 
communities in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  There will be a network of stand alone facilities 
but also co-located facilities in modern waste management 'eco-parks'. The network will manage a 
wide range of wastes from the plan area, contributing to self sufficiency but also accommodating 
the apportioned waste residues from London or authorities in the East of England.  Any long 
distance movement of waste should be through sustainable transport means - such facilities will be 
safeguarded via Transport Zones.  A flexible approach regarding different types of suitable waste 
technology on different sites will be taken and Waste Consultation Areas and Waste Water 
Treatment Works Safeguarding Areas will be designated to safeguard waste management sites 
from incompatible development.  A proactive approach to sustainable construction and recycling 
will be taken and strategic developments will need to facilitate temporary waste facilities to 
maximise the reuse, recovery and recycling of inert and sustainable construction waste throughout 

78



the development period.  Where inert waste cannot be recycled it will be used in a positive manner 
to restore sites.  The natural and built historic environment will continue to be protected with an 
increased emphasis on operational practices which contribute towards climate change and 
minimise the impact of such development on local communities. (Policy CS2 sets out a list of 
strategic objectives to support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the 
report).

MW04 - The Scale and Location of Future Sand and Gravel Extraction 
The Mineral Planning Authorities will maintain a sand and gravel landbank of at least 7 years and 
will meet the requirement to supply 2.82 million tonnes of sand and gravel per annum, including a 
margin for flexibility, thus provision is made to supply 3.0 million tonnes of sand and gravel per 
annum over the plan period.

With regard to Peterborough;
New allocations plus permitted reserves will enable the supply of an annual average of 0.75mtpa 
from the Northern Zone i.e. Peterborough and north Fenland District

The principal broad locations for sand and gravel extraction will be:

For the Northern Zone;
- Kings Delph
- Maxey
- Eye/Thorney

Allocations will be outside the Ouse and Nene river valleys.

MW07 - Recycled and Secondary Aggregates 
The Mineral Planning Authorities will give priority to the production and supply of 
recycled/secondary aggregates to be used in preference to land won aggregates.  A strategic 
provision for inert waste recycling at Block Fen/Langwood Fen.  Provision will also be made 
through the Site Specific Proposals Plan for a network of permanent and long term temporary 
recycling facilities across the Plan area.

MW14 - The Scale of Waste Management Provision 
Sets out the amounts of waste provision and timescales for the various types of waste 
management facility to be provided for by the Waste Planning Authority by 2026.

MW15 - The Location of Future Waste Management Facilities 
A network of waste management facilities will be developed across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough.  The spatial distribution of the network will be guided by various economic and 
environmental factors (the relevant details of which will be discussed in the main body of the 
report).

MW18 - Waste Management Proposals Outside Allocated Areas 
Waste management development proposals outside allocated areas will be considered favourably 
where they meet the listed criteria.

MW20 - Inert Landfill 
Strategic allocation is made at Block Fen/Langwood Fen Area of Search.

Sites to deliver the remaining 3.69 million cubic metres capacity will be made at mineral extraction 
sites requiring restoration and identified in the Site Specific Proposals Plan.

MW22 - Climate Change 
Minerals and waste proposals will need to take account of climate change over the lifetime of the 
development, setting out how this will be achieved.  Proposals will need to adopt emissions 
reduction measures and will need to set out how they will be resilient to climate change.  

79



Restoration schemes which contribute to climate change adaption will be encouraged.

MW24 - Design of Sustainable Minerals and Waste Management Facilities 
All proposals for minerals and waste management development must achieve a high standard in 
design and environmental mitigation.  Waste Management proposals must be consistent with 
guidance set out in The Location and Design of Waste Management Facilities SPD.

MW25 - Restoration and Aftercare of Mineral and Waste Management Sites 
Minerals workings and waste management sites will be restored to a beneficial afteruse with 
aftercare arrangements.  Restoration proposals will be considered on a site by site basis but must 
meet the criteria set out in the policy.

MW26 – Mineral Safeguarding Areas
Mineral Safeguarding Areas are designated for deposits of minerals considered to be of current or 
future economic importance, in order that proven resources are not needlessly or unknowingly 
sterilised.

MW29 - The Need for Waste Management Development and the Movement of Waste 
Proposals for new or extended waste management development will be permitted where they meet 
a demonstrated need within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Applicants will be required to enter 
into binding restrictions on catchment area, tonnages and/or types of waste. Permission may be 
granted for development involving importation of waste from outside the Plan area where it is 
demonstrated it is sustainable.

MW32 - Traffic and Highways 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this 
policy.

MW33 - Protection of Landscape Character 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it can be assimilated into the local 
landscape character in accordance with the Cambridgeshire Landscape Guidelines, local 
Landscape Character Assessments and related SPDs.

MW34 - Protecting Surrounding Uses 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
(with mitigation where necessary) there is no significant harm to the environment, human health or 
safety, existing or proposed neighbouring land uses, visual intrusion or loss of residential/other 
amenity.

MW35 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where there will likely be no 
significant adverse affect on local nature conservation or geological interest.  Where it is 
demonstrated there are overriding benefits to the development compensation and/or mitigation 
measures must be put in place.  Proposals for new habitat creation must have regard to the 
Peterborough Biodiversity Action Plan and supporting Habitat and Species Action Plans.

MW36 - Archaeology and the Historic Environment 
Minerals and waste development will not be permitted where there there is an adverse effect on a 
designated heritage asset, historic landscape or other historic asset of national importance and/or 
its setting unless substantial public benefits outweigh the harm, or any significant adverse impact 
on a site of local architectural, archaeological or historical importance.  Development may be 
permitted where appropriate mitigation measures are in place following consideration of the results 
of prior evaluation.

MW37 - Public Rights of Way 
Minerals and waste development will only be permitted where permanent or temporary diversions 
of public rights of way are adversely affected if appropriate alternatives are provided.  Proposals 

80



should, where practicable, provide for the enhancement of public rights of way.

MW38 - Sustainable Use of Soils 
Mineral and Waste development which affects the best and most versatile agricultural land will only 
be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this policy.

MW39 - Water Resources and Water Pollution Prevention 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it is demonstrated there 
is no significant adverse impact or risk to;

a. Quantity or quality of groundwater/water resources
b. Quantity or quality of water enjoyed by current abstractors unless alternative provision is made
c. Flow of groundwater in or near the site

Adequate water pollution control measures will need to be incorporated.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Site Specific Proposals DPD (2012)

SSP M1 – Sites Specific Sand and Gravel Allocations
Site ref. M1F Pode Hole and Eye / Thorney

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

4 Consultations/Representations

Consultation responses for all five rounds of consultation have been summarised, hence no 
specific response date has been used.

PCC - Local Highway Authority
No objections, subject to conditions to control the access, parking and turning arrangements, 
wheel washing facilities, the provision of a Construction Management Plan, and the junction 
improvements to the public highway being completed prior to the site being brought into use. 
Advice provided regarding highways works agreements (i.e. Section 278 works).

The proposed junction improvements and works to Willow Hall Lane generally comply with the 
requirements of the Local Highway Authority. Any changes to the watercourse under Willow Hall 
Lane will require an Approval In Principle prior to determination. TRACK plots were recommended 
to be provided for the largest vehicles demonstrating all manoeuvres from the site entrance to the 
A47, however it is noted that this is land under the applicants control and there is scope to provide 
sufficient space for all manoeuvres at the proposed junction.

81



Highways England
No objections subject to conditions requiring the access to comply with standards (from the Design 
Manual for Road and Bridges) and a detailed design scheme. The developer will be required to 
enter into a section 278 agreement with Highways England to undertake the required works. 

A right turn ban onto the A47, suggested by some objectors, would necessitate the creation of a 
physical barrier on the A47, creating a further hazard, and would slow down the movements on a 
strategic trunk road; it would also create further turning movements at the roundabout as 
eastbound traffic would have to double back on itself. 

The widening of the mouth of Willow Hall Lane will enable two HGVs to pass each other and 
alleviate any queuing back onto the A47. Highways England advised the applicant that they would 
be reluctant to agree to enhancing another minor access onto the A47 (i.e. at Pasture House 
Farm), and would not support an entirely new access. Highways England have stated that the 
proposed junction improvements represent the best available option.  

PCC Tree Officer
Objects to the clarified proposals which demonstrate the extent of tree loss required to 
accommodate the proposed junction improvements. 

As the proposals have been refined the extent of tree loss has become clear. The removal of some 
100 trees, of which approximately 50 are mature, alongside a major trunk road serving the 
Peterborough area is considered to represent a significant loss of public amenity. The timespan for 
any mitigation planting to reach a similar level of maturity to those trees to be lost represents a 
considerable period over which the amenity loss will be observed. 

Consideration has been given to the use of a Tree Preservation Order, either for individual trees or 
collectively. It is acknowledged that there is a wide variation in terms of longevity and condition 
across the trees likely to be affected, and it is principally on the basis of these criteria that an Order 
will not be served. 

Despite some points of disagreement with the presented information, such as the categorisation of 
some of the trees, it is acknowledged that any tree loss to the A47 is likely to be unavoidable to 
accommodate the proposed junction improvements, whereas there appears to be scope to 
minimise tree loss on the eastern side of Pasture House Plantation.

If the application is successful, conditions should be imposed to ensure remaining trees are 
suitably protected and appropriate mitigation planting and aftercare is secured.

Landscape Architects 
The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) uses appropriate criteria to identify the 
geographical extent and significance of effects. The landscape character impacts are rated for both 
the operational and post restoration scenarios, with the significance of the operational period being 
judged to be “moderate adverse” and post restoration being “very slight beneficial”. Of the 7 
dwellings with views of the site, Pasture House Farm is most affected, being assessed as 
“substantial adverse” visual impact during the operational stage. Saxon House and Toll House 
Farm will be subject to a “substantial adverse” visual impact during the operational phase.

Full analysis of the potential impact from residential visual receptors, particularly Pasture House 
Farm has not been provided to demonstrate the visual impact of the operational stage of 
development. Insufficient detail has been provided to assess whether the proposed phasing of 
operations, the positioning of the plant and the restoration cycle are appropriate to minimise the 
impacts on the residential receptors at Pasture House Farm, Saxon House and Tollhouse Farm.

Topsoil bunds should be no more than 3m high to protect the integrity of the soil, and should not be 
placed in bunds B and D (around Pasture House Farm and the southern screening bund).

82



The tree loss on the south of the A47 associated with the junction improvement works will 
emphasise the proposal as a ‘visual detractor’ visible from greater distances. It is noted that all 
planting, regardless of its state of health, has a role in alleviating the visual impact of the proposal.

The cumulative impacts of the proposal should be taken into consideration with other planning 
applications in the surrounding landscape, such as Red Brick Farm.

Should approval be granted, conditions would be required to ensure appropriate mitigation 
planting, aftercare and maintenance.

PCC Wildlife Officer 
No objections subject to a 10m stand-off to the Cat’s Water Drain being secured, and the 
imposition of conditions, including to control lighting if required, and concerning protected species 
surveys, and mitigation measures in accordance with the ES. Buffer and restoration planting 
should be undertaken at the earliest opportunity, and the bund planting is recommended to be 
retained. A biodiversity checklist has been completed which sets out how the scheme will affect 
Priority Habitats and Green Infrastructure provision. The proposal has been amended to an 
acceptable degree such that planting to Pasture House Plantation and a wildlife corridor to the 
northern boundary will also be provided alongside the original biodiversity enhancements 
(boundary trees and hedging and a buffer to the Cat’s Water Drain).

PCC Pollution Control
The proposed working hours are acceptable.

The proposed activity will not result in an increase in the ambient noise levels at the Tollhouse 
Farm and Causeway noise monitoring locations.

The proposed site noise limits will be exceeded by 1dB at Tollhouse Farm during infill operations 
within 90m (the proposed limits have been set in accordance with guidance which suggests a 
maximum of 55dB LAeq 1 hour (free field) be used). A noise level exceedance of this magnitude 
would not be audible at this location due to the ambient noise levels being above the expected 
noise levels, and is at the limit of the accuracy of sound level meters used for these purposes and 
would not increase the ambient noise at this location.

The further noise monitoring information revealed a significant variation in daily background noise 
levels at 38 Willow Hall Lane, which depend primarily on wind direction.  It is considered unlikely 
that noise limits at no. 38 exceeding the background level by more than 10dB due to the lowest 
background levels occurring when the wind is from the south (no. 38 lies to the south of the 
proposal site). The proposed site noise limits as a result of the further monitoring account for 
dewatering pumps and an increased bund size in the southern corner of the site. 

The assessment identifies operations at Pode Hole Quarry as not having been assessed at no. 38 
as this was unoccupied at the time (of the Pode Hole Quarry application). This location will have 
noise levels far in exceedance of appropriate standards as a result of operations at Pode Hole 
Quarry, and the proposal at Pasture House Farm will have a comparatively negligible impact.

Cumulative impacts for Bar Pasture Farm, if operations at Pode Hole and Willow Hall Farm 
Quarries were generating noise at permitted limits, could, in conjunction with the proposed 
operations, result in noise levels 14dB above the background level, which would be unacceptable; 
the likelihood of each site generating noise at the limits simultaneously for this location should 
therefore be considered.

Details of reversing alarms should be required by condition.

Noise monitoring should be required by condition.

Dust measures outlined in the application should be required by condition. Dust monitoring should 

83



be required by condition.

PCC Drainage Team
No objections subject to confirmation that the North Level IDB are satisfied with the proposals for 
water management on-site and any impacts on the rate of surface water discharge from the site. A 
final drainage layout with the technical specifications of drainage assets for each phase of the 
development should be secured by condition. The applicant is advised that any works affecting the 
watercourses, such as diverting the culvert at the site entrance, will require consent from the North 
Level Internal Drainage Board. No comments on the further information provided.

PCC Archaeology Services 
The Phase 1 programme of archaeological investigations has been completed pre-determination of 
the application. Phase 2 investigation, should permission be granted, should entail targeted 
investigation of the Romano British field system and strip map record on the remainder of the site, 
to be scaled up or down depending on the archaeology being found.

Environment Agency
No objections – the proposals would be subject to an Environmental Permit.

A permit application for inert waste landfill or a recovery operation using inert waste must be 
accompanied by an environmental risk assessment, which must consider; acceptance of waste 
which is not inert and how that is dealt with, noise from plant and equipment, dust emitted to air, 
suspended matter in surface water and mud on public roads and highways. A Noise Management 
Plan would be likely to be required due to the proximity of receptors – compliance with this plan 
would be required as part of the Permit.

Natural England
No adverse hydrological impacts have been identified. The provision of further information has 
established that the proposal is unlikely to have any adverse effect on the Nene Washes (SSSI, 
SAC, SPA & Ramsar site). The amended proposal, to include additional planting and a wildlife 
corridor along the northern boundary of the site represents an appropriate level of biodiversity 
enhancement in line with paragraph 109 of the NPPF, and should be required by condition.

The proposal site includes some 58.5ha of best and most versatile (BMV) land (i.e. high grade 
agricultural land). The site working and reclamation proposals meet the requirements for 
sustainable minerals development set out in the NPPF and Minerals Planning Practice Guidance, 
and include for the re-instatement of an equivalent area of BMV and agriculture should be specified 
as an afteruse. Biodiversity enhancements provided through the restoration proposals, and 
restoration and long term management should be controlled by condition. Conditions to ensure the 
sustainable use of soils are also recommended and should be imposed.

Historic England
The proposal site is 200m to the north of the Scheduled Monument at Bar Pastures Farm. HE is in 
broad agreement with the Cultural Heritage Assessments. Whilst the proposed works will be visible 
and will result in an adverse impact on the monuments setting, this will be limited to the operational 
phase of the quarry. The proposal will not result in harm to the legibility or conservation of the 
scheduled monument. Archaeological mitigation should be secured by condition, as should the full 
restoration of the area including the removal of temporary bunds.

Internal Drainage Board (North Level)
No objections. The applicant is advised that no works are allowed within 9m of IDB drains, formal 
discharge consent will be required and payment for any increased run-off. An application to ‘Alter a 
Watercourse’ will be required for any crossing of IDB Drains.

GeoPeterborough
The proposed site falls within the Eye/Thorney Area of Search Regionally Important Geological 
Site, important for its exposures of Pleistocene river gravels and noted for fossil mammal remains. 

84



The status of the Local Geological Site is not explicitly acknowledged in the application. Access to 
temporary geological sections should be a condition of the development.

It is acknowledged that the retention of a geological section as part of the restoration would be 
impractical at this site.

Eye PC
No comment.

Thorney PC
Object. Concerns regarding the access to the site from Willow Hall Lane and the location of 
batching and processing plant. The access would more appropriately be provided utilising the 
existing entrance at Pasture House Farm in respect of road safety; which would also prevent the 
unnecessary and unjustified widening of Willow Hall Lane, and associated partial loss of the copse, 
and tree loss along the A47. 

There are also concerns regarding traffic control at the A47 / Willow Hall Lane junction, and the 
Parish consider that quarry traffic should only be permitted to turn left onto the A47. 

The batching and processing plant would, visually, be more appropriately located behind Pasture 
House Farm. The proposed screening bunds will not prevent the plant being visible from the A47. 
The batching and processing plant will change a rural agricultural setting to an industrial setting 
with little or no respect for the existing rural landscape, and the vision statement in the draft Local 
Plan for ‘characterful villages set within an attractive rural landscape’.

The Parish Council also supports local residents objections on noise and dust grounds.

The further information provided does not provide clarity as to the extent of tree loss adjacent to 
the A47. Thorney Parish Council would find the loss of any trees to the north of the A47 totally 
unacceptable, but would expect a one for one replacement of any trees lost to the south of the 
A47.

A continuation of the Thorney to Eye cycle path alongside the A47 should be secured as a 
community benefit of the application.

Councillor R. Brown
Agrees with the proposal, though has concerns regarding the exit to the A47, and shares concerns 
of Thorney Parish Council.

Councillor D Sanders 
The views of Thorney PC are supported; i.e. object to the loss of trees adjacent to the A47 and 
would expect one for one replacement if approved (though would deem the loss of any trees to the 
north of the A47 unacceptable and object in principle).

Although not opposed to the site becoming a quarry, has concerns about the ingress and egress of 
traffic from this location. Objects to the loss of trees from Pasture House Plantation, and the 
proximity of the site to residential property.

85



Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 28
Total number of responses: 48
Total number of objections: 22
Total number in support: 19

Due to the multiple rounds of consultation, representations have in some cases been received from 
the same party on more than one occasion. The following summary refers to all points made during 
each stage of consultation, and accounts for instances where any given party may have submitted 
more than one representation.

16 different objections have been received, with the proposed junction improvements and 
associated impact and works being of concern to numerous parties. The objections (in no 
particular order) can be summarised as;

 access from Pasture House Farm would be more appropriate
 inadequate traffic survey
 the A47 is already operating at capacity in the vicinity of the Willow Hall Lane junction
 increased noise, dust and traffic
 negative impact on neighbour amenity
 no consideration of alternative accesses and of impact on residents and regular users of 

Willow Hall Lane
 safety impact of additional traffic on Willow Hall Lane / Green Lane
 perception of Willow Hall Lane as a viable route
 safety impact on the A47
 impact of additional lighting at the proposed junction
 Willow Hall Farm quarry access should be used
 the proposal site goes beyond the allocated site boundary (and fails to maintain a 250m 

buffer to residential dwellings)
 the need for a concrete batching plant and recycling facilities
 the need for the quarry
 ecological and landscape impact due to proposed tree loss
 significant adverse impact on the landscape, including restricted views due to bunding
 suitability of the site layout (and preference for batching and processing plant to be 

located to the rear of Pasture House Farm)
 the impact of reversing alarms has not been assessed
 cumulative noise impact assessment with existing quarries fails to consider Pode Hole 

quarry
 the need for an additional quarry in this area
 loss of high grade agricultural land
 imposition of a right turn restriction onto the A47
 the proposals offer minimal, or no benefit to the Peterborough community.

One comment has been received which notes that the proposed junction improvements may 
impact on land held under title (i.e. on third party land), that there are road safety concerns, that 
vehicles turning right onto the A47 will be impeded, that additional traffic management measures 
will make the Pode Hole Farm entrance more dangerous, and that the A47 should be double white 
lined from Pode Hole quarry to Pode Hole Farm access.

18 different letters of support have been received, all of which highlight the safety benefits of an 
improved junction of the A47 and Willow Hall Lane. Supporters also noted that the proposed 
junction improvements would reduce the likelihood of fly-tipping and associated vermin problems 
around Pasture House Plantation, that the site would be close to the likely point of use (e.g. 
construction around Peterborough), that the planned restoration would match the existing 
landscape, that employment opportunities would be provided, and that it would provide the 
opportunity for healthy competition between mineral operators.

86



5 Assessment of the planning issues
Suitability of the proposal

The proposed works include the extraction of mineral and the deposition of waste. As such it must 
accord with policies CS1 and CS2 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy DPD (the Core Strategy / CS) to support the strategic vision and objectives for 
sustainable minerals and waste management development. In particular the proposal must help to 
ensure that local requirements for sand and gravel can be met at a rate sufficient to enable the 
delivery of the planned growth of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, and help maintain a sand and 
gravel landbank in the 'Northern Zone' of the plan area (CS policy CS4), and contribute to a 
network of waste management facilities capitalising on the synergies between different types of 
waste management technique.  The proposal must be considered in the light of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, particularly the requirement to 'give great weight to the benefits of 
mineral extraction, including to the economy' (paragraph 144), and the National Planning Policy for 
Waste which requires landfill sites to be restored to beneficial after uses at the earliest opportunity 
and to high environmental standards.

Mineral extraction (and concrete batching)

The majority of the site lies within allocated site M1F - Pode Hole and Eye / Thorney - in the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Site Specific Proposals DPD (the SSP), with the remainder 
lying within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) (CS policy CS26) and all but the northwestern 
corner lying within the Minerals Consultation Area (MCA) (CS policy CS27) designated alongside 
the allocated site M1F. The Core Strategy broadly outlines an implementation strategy (Ch. 12) 
which describes the dependence of maintaining production in the northern part of the plan area on 
extensions to existing quarries, including Pode Hole.

Additional mineral extraction beyond the scope of the minerals strategy will only be permitted 
where there are overriding benefits to do so (CS policy CS13). The MSA designates mineral 
deposits considered to be of economic importance; the proposed site, extending as it does some 
16ha to the north west of the site allocation, up to the convergence of the Cat's Water Drain and 
A47, enables the accessing of approximately 500,000 tonnes of mineral reserves in this area, 
ensuring the mineral is not sterilised due to the economic viability of extracting that mineral at a 
later date. 

The proposal in terms of mineral extraction meets with all other relevant policy and material 
considerations. The principle of extraction in the area to the northwest of the site is considered 
acceptable to avoid the sterilisation of a known economic mineral reserve in accordance with CS 
policies 13 and 26. The remainder of this report sets out why this is the case, indicating how the 
proposal complies with the relevant policies.

The concrete batching plant is considered ancillary development to a mineral site, providing a 
synergy of uses and a greater degree of sustainability through reduced transport requirements of 
the primary ingredients for concrete production. The batching plant is therefore considered against 
CS policy 41, and is considered against the relevant polices of the development plan as for the 
minerals extraction. The batching plant would be limited to the lifetime of the proposed mineral 
operations and this can be controlled by condition.

Infill (and inert recycling)

The National Planning Policy for Waste sets out a number of requirements for waste planning 
authorities to consider when determining waste planning applications, including the requirement to 
"concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the Local Plan". It also highlights 
the need for Waste Planning Authorities to work on the assumption that the relevant pollution 
control regime will be properly applied and enforced.  What has been proposed is for the use of 
inert fill to restore the land to achieve a beneficial afteruse which can re-provide high grade 

87



agricultural land, enhance the landscape and provide environmental benefits through the creation 
of Biodiversity Action Plan habitats. The proposals are therefore considered primarily against the 
minerals and waste spatial strategies as set out in the Core Strategy, and operations will also be 
subject to Environment Agency permitting.

Although the proposal site is not allocated for inert fill, it does sit on high grade agricultural land. 
Core Strategy policy CS25 states that infilling by means of waste disposal may be appropriate to 
bring land levels back to those suitable for reinstatement to agriculture (or habitat creation). The 
scale of waste management provision (policy CS14) sets out the requirements for inert landfill void 
space over the Plan period to which the proposal will contribute. The location of such facilities is 
guided principally (policy CS15) by the Minerals and Waste Management Key Diagram and 
additional factors, including, for example, site availability. Of the sites within Peterborough 
identified for inert fill in policy W2 of the SSP, none are currently available, and all face uncertainty 
in providing significant capacity in the short term, although the unallocated Willow Hall Farm 
Quarry does benefit from permission for restoration with approximately 1.26 million cubic metres of 
inert fill. 

The proposal adequately demonstrates the need for inert fill to enable appropriate restoration (for 
the sustainable use of soils for agricultural purposes) and is therefore considered favourably 
against Core Strategy policy CS20, which allows for sites to deliver inert landfill capacity where 
such sites are mineral sites requiring restoration. The inert processing element of the proposal is 
considered favourably against Core Strategy policy CS18 as a waste management proposal 
outside an allocated area, as it consistent with the spatial strategy for waste management.

General suitability

Concerns have been raised as to the manner in which the proposal fits with the 'Characteristics' 
and 'Implementation Issues' for the allocated site M1F within the SSP. The characteristics and 
implementation issues are designed to give a broad understanding of the site and be used to 
inform planning applications, they are not policy requirements. The proposal adequately 
demonstrates an assessment of alternative access arrangements (see section 1.4 of the 
Environmental Statement); the suitability of the access is discussed further in the 'Transport' 
section below.

Soils and Agriculture

The proposal site, with the exception of Pasture House Plantation and the junction improvements, 
sits entirely on grade2 and 3a (i.e. high quality) agricultural land, also known as BMV (best and 
most versatile). Natural England have noted that a broadly equivalent area of BMV land is to be 
restored, and subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions regarding the treatment, storage 
and replacement of soils, including the provision of under-drainage and appropriate aftercare, are 
satisfied that the proposals represent the sustainable use of soils. 

Top soils should only be stored in 3m high bunds to ensure its integrity and suitability for re-use. 
Bunds B and D are proposed to be over 3m in height and will be constructed during the initial 
works in phases 1 and 6, as such these should be constructed from subsoil and or overburden. All 
soils and overburden (with overburden being the 'spoil' material that overlies the mineral) are to be 
stripped during the initial works enabling sufficient materials to be sourced for the bunds to 
appropriate heights.

The proposals demonstrate the sustainable use of soils, and the restoration proposals will 
positively contribute to the long term conservation of soils. Measures to protect the integrity of the 
soils can be controlled by condition and the proposals are considered to be in accordance with 
Core Strategy policies CS25 and CS38.

88



The water environment

Proposed extraction at the site will necessitate de-watering operations. A Hydrological and 
Hydrogeological Assessment has been provided, and identifies a number of mitigation measures, 
including the use of silt settling lagoons, discharging to Internal Drainage Board (IDB) drains, and 
re-creating a network of land drains and ditches in the finished landform to replicate the layout and 
capacity of the existing surface water drainage system.  Additional measures, such as bunding of 
fuel and oil tanks, and the provision of a bunded waste storage area (to temporarily accommodate 
any rogue loads that are not acceptable for recycling and / or fill purposes) to protect water quality 
can be controlled by condition.

The Drainage Team note that proposals for water management onsite and the effect this may have 
on existing water level management in the area, including the rate of surface water discharge from 
the site should have IDB approval. Additionally, a final proposed drainage layout, with technical 
specifications of drainage assets for each phase of the development is required by condition; in 
terms of water quality this will be of particular relevance for the initial phase of development 
concerning the establishment of the concrete batching plant and inert processing facility. The 
Hydrological and Hydrogeological Assessment demonstrates an acceptable approach to mitigating 
the potential impacts on groundwater quality, and this can be controlled by condition.

The Environment Agency have no objections and have advised that an Environmental Permit will 
be required. Any such permit application would have to be accompanied by a hydrological risk 
assessment and a detailed groundwater monitoring programme.
The North Level IDB have no objections, and have advised that discharge consent will be required 
and that a 9m stand-off must be retained to IDB drains. 

The application has been considered against Core Strategy policy CS39 and demonstrates that 
there would be no significant adverse impact or risk to the water environment.

Landscape and Visual Impact

The proposal site sits within the Bedford North Levels and Eye Fen Fringe Character Areas, areas 
characterised as a large scale, flat, open landscape with extensive vistas across level horizons 
typical of the Fens National Character Area. It is also noted that large built structures, such as 
farmstead silos are typical of this rural environment.

The suitability of the proposed site layout has been questioned, with the rear (south) of Pasture 
House Farm being suggested as a more appropriate location for the processing area by some 
respondents. 

The logic of the proposed site layout is dictated by a number of factors. The placing of the 
processing area and batching plant in the north-east is expedient; it focuses the majority of noise 
emitting activities at a suitable distance from residential receptors in an area subject to 
considerable background noise (i.e. the A47) whereby any increase in noise will be barely 
perceptible; it minimises internal site journeys being located proximate to the site access; and 
maximises the screening potential of Pasture House Plantation in what is a very open landscape. 
The colour of the batching plant can be controlled by condition to minimise its visual impact in this 
setting.

The methodology of the phasing minimises the operational timescales in proximity to the 
residential receptors at Pasture House Farm and to the northwest of the site, (i.e. there is no 
operational requirement for a delay between extraction and infill), and consideration needs to be 
given to how to enable access to restored areas. The proposed methods of water management, for 
both fresh water and silt lagoons, also minimise the operational timescales for these same areas 
close to Pasture House Farm and the north-west of the site.

89



The amount of sand and gravel in the north-west of the proposal site, beyond the site allocation 
boundary, is estimated to be 500,000 tonnes. With a projected output of 170,000 tonnes per 
annum, it is anticipated that extraction in this area is likely to be complete within 3 years. The 
applicant has advised that the total timeframe for the entirety of works in Phase 5, from soils 
removal through to restoration, is approximately 8 years.

The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment is considered to use appropriate criteria to identify 
the geographical extent and significance of effects. Further information has been provided in light 
of the extent of tree loss required to accommodate the proposed junction improvement works. It is 
noted that the extent of tree loss is considered to emphasise the proposal as a 'visual detractor' 
visible from greater distances, and that all planting, regardless of its state of health, has a role in 
alleviating the visual impact of the proposal (for further analysis of the tree loss resulting from the 
junction improvements see 'Transport - Junction Improvements').

The overall impact of the operational period of development is judged to be 'moderate adverse' 
with the post restoration scenario being 'very slight beneficial'. Pasture House Farm, which is in the 
same ownership as the proposal site, is the most affected of the seven dwellings affected, being 
assessed as 'substantial adverse' impact during the operational stage. Saxon House and 
Tollhouse Farm will also be subject to a 'substantial adverse’ impact during the operational phase.

Whilst it has been suggested that additional visualisations and photomontages may help give an 
appreciation of the visual impact, it is considered that there is sufficient information regarding the 
landscape character and visual impact on which a decision can be made. Notwithstanding that the 
northwest area of the proposal site which lies beyond the boundary of allocated site M1F, which as 
described above is likely to be in extractive use for 3 years (8 years in total), the majority of the site 
is allocated for sand and gravel extraction. The accompanying use for inert fill is justified as 
described above, and the complementary uses enable a more sustainable use of the site. 

The proposed bunding and boundary hedgerow / tree planting are considered appropriate 
mitigation for the adverse impact of the operational stage of development at the two residential 
receptors (Pasture House farm and Saxon House / Toll House Farm) identified by the Landscape 
Architect, and it is not therefore considered that there is any significant adverse visual impact or 
effect on the landscape character. The proposed mitigation is considered to be as effective as 
possible during the operational phase, and the longer term post restoration scenario considered to 
be beneficial. Great weight should be given to the benefits of mineral extraction as set out in the 
NPPF and the mitigation measures are considered to be appropriate and can be controlled by 
condition. 

Consideration of both the operational and post restoration landscape impacts has been weighed in 
the balance. The proposed development is considered to be able to assimilate into its surroundings 
and does not significantly harm the environment and existing neighbouring land uses, with no 
overall significant visual intrusion or loss to other residential amenity. The proposals are therefore 
considered to be in accordance with policies CS33 and CS34 of the Core Strategy.

Ecology and geodiversity

The NPPF aims to ensure the conservation and enhancement of the natural environment (Ch. 11) 
and the safeguarding of best and most versatile agricultural land through the restoration and 
aftercare of mineral sites (Ch.12) (see also the 'Soils and Agriculture' section above). The 
Ecological Impact Assessment, and the further information corroborating the views of the RSPB, 
demonstrates that the impacts on protected species and habitats, including the Nene Washes 
SSSI, SPA, SAC and Ramsar site, and the nearby Cat's Water Drain County Wildlife Site, has 
been adequately assessed, as acknowledged by both Natural England and the Wildlife Officer.

The Wildlife Officer acknowledges that there may be impacts on protected species, including bats, 
badgers and reptiles, however subject to further surveys being undertaken at the appropriate time 
in relation to the progression of the development, further mitigation can be employed as required, 

90



and such measures can be controlled by condition. 

The final restoration proposal must strike a balance between retention of the site for agricultural 
purposes and biodiversity enhancements. The two are not mutually exclusive, and effective 
husbandry of agricultural land can enhance biodiversity on a site. Notwithstanding such measures 
which can be controlled by an effective Aftercare Scheme required by condition. The proposed 
restoration of the site offers a number of biodiversity benefits over and above its current condition. 
The evolution of the proposals has established a balance approved by both Natural England and 
the Wildlife Officer, and include, in terms of priority habitats, the re-establishment of all 1,979 linear 
metres of Fenland drainage ditches, the provision of 2,708 linear metres of hedgerows, and 
although some 0.13ha of Pasture House Plantation will be lost, 0.18ha of lowland mixed deciduous 
woodland will be provided. 

An agricultural buffer will also be provided on the west of the site to Cat's Water Drain, and a 3m 
wildlife corridor inside the proposed hedge line to the north of the site. Although some of the 
proposed bunds will be planted, as they will be removed to enable the restoration works, such 
planting is not considered as a biodiversity enhancement. The extent of tree loss alongside the 
A47 has become clear as further information has been provided, and replacement planting can be 
secured by condition. 

The proposal site sits within the 'Eye / Thorney Area of Search - Regionally Important Geological 
Site'. As such the proposal presents an opportunity to provide access to the otherwise poorly 
exposed underlying geology. Temporary section recording during the working life of the quarry can 
be facilitated by condition in accordance with policy CS35. It is not considered appropriate to retain 
a representative gravel section within the restoration proposals.

There are no significant adverse impacts on sites of bio or geodiversity importance, and it is 
considered that the benefits of the development have been demonstrated. Appropriate mitigation 
measures have been proposed and can be secured by condition and the development is 
considered to be in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS35.

Cultural Heritage; Non-designated heritage assets

The application is accompanied by a Cultural Heritage Assessment, and a programme of 
archaeological investigations entailing geophysical survey and evaluation by trial trenching has 
been completed. Any buried remains at the site are considered to be a 'non-designated' heritage 
asset, and it is acknowledged that the nature of mineral extraction will result in the total loss of the 
archaeological resource. The preliminary surveys and trial trenching do not reveal the need for any 
preservation of archaeological remains in situ and the Council's Archaeologist recommends a 
standard approach of 'strip, map and record', with additional targeted excavation in the north west 
corner of the proposal site where there is evidence of a Romano-British field system. This can be 
secured by condition and the proposal is considered to be in compliance with Core Strategy policy 
CS36.

Cultural Heritage; Historic Environment

The closest Scheduled Monument (designated asset) is that at Bar Pastures, some 200m to the 
south of the site.  Whilst this falls within the radius of influence of draw down / dewatering impacts 
(i.e. the change in groundwater levels in the vicinity of the site as a result of extraction activities), 
Historic England does not consider that it will result in serious harm to the significance of the 
Scheduled Monument. Therefore the provisions of paragraph 134 of the NPPF apply. This states 
that where development will lead to less than substantial harm, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal. 

The main adverse impact to the Bar Pastures Scheduled Monument is identified by Historic 
England as being to the setting, which is not considered to contribute greatly to the Monuments 
significance. Such visual impacts are considered to be temporary, and the restoration of the site, 

91



including the removal of bunds, can be controlled by condition, and the features of the Scheduled 
Monument at Bar Pastures are considered to be preserved. It should also be noted that the 
allocated part of the site is closest to Bar Pastures SM (the unallocated part is furthest away).

Under the provisions of section 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, there is a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
features of special architectural or historical interest, and in particular listed buildings. This is 
further re-enforced through both local and national planning policies which place significant weight 
on this need. Such heritage assets, including listed buildings found at Willow Hall and the 
Conservation Area at Thorney village are of a distance from the site such that it is considered that 
there will be an insignificant impact upon the setting of these assets.. As such the proposals 
preserve the features for which the Thorney Conservation Area and surrounding Listed Buildings 
have been designated.

The significance of the proposals impacts on both designated and non-designated heritage assets 
has been considered and balanced against the public benefits of the proposal, primarily the 
contribution it makes to the Minerals and Waste Spatial Strategies, which in turn enable the 
successful implementation of the Peterborough Core Strategy, and the proposal is considered to 
be in compliance with Core Strategy policy CS36, and the NPPF paragraphs 128 - 135.

Noise

The National Planning Policy Framework clearly establishes (para. 144) that some noisy short term 
activities are unavoidable to facilitate minerals extraction, and there is a corresponding need to 
ensure that unavoidable noise emissions are controlled, mitigated or removed at source. The 
Planning Practice Guidance that accompanies the NPPF provides guidance and advice upon 
acceptable levels of noise from minerals operations.

'Typical' background levels are advised as the most appropriate means of establishing the 
permissible noise levels for the site and will minimise the impact on noise sensitive properties 
without imposing unreasonable burdens on the operator, ensuring noise levels are appropriately 
controlled, mitigated or removed at source. Cumulative impacts of existing quarries in the 
surrounding area have been taken into account.

The background noise environment has been established at the nearest sensitive receptors (i.e. 
residential dwellings), and proposed noise limits suggested. Further information has been provided 
to ensure that noise from all sources, including dewatering pumps, has been taken into 
consideration, and the proposed noise limits are generally accepted as appropriate, however the 
Pollution Control Officer has advised that there are three locations that require further 
consideration; Tollhouse Farm / Saxon House, 38/39 Willow Hall Lane and Bar Pasture Farm.

1) The calculated noise level (i.e. 56dB(A) 1h (free field)) during infilling operations within 
90 metres of Tollhouse farm / Saxon Farm (i.e. the noisiest activities to affect these 
dwellings) is expected to be 1dB(A) above the recommended noise limits in the NPPF 
guidance (i.e. 55dB(A) LAeq, 1h (free field)). However, given the existing noise levels at 
Tollhouse Farm / Saxon House, of 66dB LAeq, the Pollution Control Officer advises that 
there would be no increase in the existing ambient noise levels at this location (of 66dB), 
and has advised that a 1dB differential would be at the limits of detectability and within the 
normal range of margin of error for noise monitoring equipment. 

Although the developer has suggested that infilling within 90m of Tollhouse Farm / Saxon 
House be considered as a temporary operation (which would enable a limit of 70dB for up 
to 8 weeks in a calendar year) - it is not considered acceptable to treat infilling operations 
as a "temporary activity" in this instance (NPPF guidance on temporary activities in terms of 
noisy short term activities  includes soil stripping, the construction and removal of baffle 
mounds, soil storage mounds and spoil heaps, construction of new permanent landforms 
and aspects of site road construction and maintenance). As such, it is recommended that 

92



noise limits in compliance with the NPPF guidance are imposed for this location, and noise 
monitoring, and additional mitigation measures if required (e.g. reduced hours for infill 
within 90m of this location) can be controlled by condition. Furthermore, the proposed 
phasing of the site, which can also be controlled by condition, will enable a level of control 
of site operations which minimises the overall time period for both extraction and infill 
operations in this location.

2) As a result of further monitoring information, the proposed southern screening bund has 
been increased by 1m to ensure appropriate mitigation for the receptors to the south of the 
site (i.e. 38/39 Willow Hall Lane and Bar Pasture Farm).

Numbers 38 and 39 Willow Hall Lane lie approximately 300m to the south of the proposal 
site. The variation in background noise at this location is primarily due to wind direction. 
Whilst it may appear that the background levels may be exceeded when the wind is blowing 
from the south, the location of the proposal site to the north, renders this unlikely and the 
proposed limits are therefore considered to be acceptable from this perspective.  

The submitted Noise Assessment identifies the currently occupied residential dwellings at 
numbers 38 and 39 Willow Hall Lane, as not having been taken into consideration for the 
neighbouring Pode Hole quarry as they were reported as being unoccupied at the time of 
that proposal. The noise impact and mitigation of and for the Pasture House Farm 
proposals is considered to be acceptable. It is therefore considered that any exceedance of 
appropriate standards at this location would result from operations at Pode Hole Quarry 
and would not be attributable to this proposal. The Pasture House Farm proposals will have 
a comparatively negligible impact on numbers 38 and 39, and any additional mitigation that 
may be required is considered likely to fall to the operators of Pode Hole Quarry under their 
permission.

3) The Pollution Control Officer has identified that the cumulative impact for Bar Pasture 
farm could result in noise levels at an unacceptable 14dB above the background level. It is 
considered that this scenario would only occur in the event that operations at the three 
sites, i.e. Pasture House Farm, Pode Hole and Willow Hall Farm quarries, were taking 
place at the closest point to Bar Pasture farm. This is considered to be unlikely due to; 
extraction and restoration at the Pode Hole Quarry is moving away from the southern 
extent of this site; extraction and restoration at Willow Hall Farm quarry is likely to be 
moving to the south within the next 3 years; and operations in Phases 3, 4 and 5 (i.e. the 
southernmost phases) at the proposed Pasture House Farm would not be anticipated until 
some 7-10 years post commencement.

Reversing alarms used by quarry machinery and plant increasingly tends to be 'white noise' alarms 
rather than tonal bleepers, and indeed the use of such reversing alarms is controlled by condition 
at the neighbouring quarries, and can also be controlled by condition for this proposal. Additionally, 
operating hours and the use and maintenance of machinery and plant to manufacturers 
specifications can be controlled by condition to ensure minimal noise impacts. 

The proposed noise limits, and measures to minimise and mitigate noise impacts including 
reversing alarms are therefore considered to be acceptable and can be controlled by condition to 
protect surrounding uses in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS34.

Dust

The NPPF requires that any dust and particle emissions are controlled, mitigated or removed at 
source. The Dust assessment provided with the application establishes baseline conditions, 
identifies activities that could lead to dust emission and sets out an appropriate range of mitigation 
measures which can be controlled by condition to minimise the environmental impacts. 

93



The proposed mitigation measures include control over the phasing of the site to reduce the 
operational area at any given time, the use of water spraying equipment to minimise dust 
emissions, and the use of surfaced access roads and provision of wheel wash facilities. Restricting 
plant and vehicle movements to clearly defined haul routes will serve to both preserve the 
condition of soils, in accordance with policy CS38, and minimise the potential for dust to arise on 
site in accordance with policy CS34.

The Pollution Control Officer has confirmed that the measures outlined in the application should be 
required by condition and that dust monitoring should also be required by condition. It is therefore 
considered that there is adequate protection of surrounding uses and the proposals are in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy CS34.

Transport 

The application proposals are accompanied by a Transport Assessment. A single day of traffic 
survey results has been included to establish the baseline; 20,305 vehicles were observed at the 
junction of the A47 and Willow Hall Lane on Thursday 17 September 2015. Although some 
respondents have concerns that a single day's survey does not provide robust evidence, neither 
Highways England, who control the A47, nor the Local Highways Authority, with responsibility for 
Willow Hall Lane have expressed any concerns relating to the depth of the surveys. The survey 
revealed the AM peak to be between 07:15 - 08:15, with the PM peak falling between 16:45 and 
17:45. Highway safety figures, over a 1.5km stretch of the A47 either side of Willow Hall Lane, and 
for 500m along Willow Hall Lane, reveal there have been 12 collisions for the 5 years up to April 
2015, of which two have occurred at the junction between Willow Hall Lane and the A47.

The proposals necessitate a number of Heavy Commercial Vehicle (HCV) movements associated 
with the various activities proposed at the site; sand and gravel extraction, importation of inert fill, 
recycled aggregate sales, imported cement and concrete products. Whilst it would be in the 
operators interests to ensure backloading where possible (i.e. sand and gravel would be exported 
on one HCV, which would then bring inert fill back to the site) consideration must be given to the 
worst case scenario in terms of the maximum number of HCV movements that can be expected at 
any one time; this is suggested as being 266 HCV movements per day (or an average of 24 
movements per hour).

The proposals in respect of the junction improvements incorporate a widening of the A47 for some 
200m either side of the Willow Hall Lane junction to provide a central right hand turn (ghost island) 
for both Willow Hall Lane, and the unnamed road leading to Middle West Farm to the north of the 
A47 sitting between Willow Hall Lane and the Pode Hole Quarry entrance. Willow Hall Lane will be 
subject to widening for the length of Pasture House Plantation to the site access such that two 
vehicles are able to freely pass. To enable the safe continuation of the Green Wheel from Willow 
Hall Lane to the A47 a foot / cycle path will be constructed adjacent to the widened road such that 
there is safe separation of pedestrians and cyclists from vehicular traffic and the existing footpath / 
cycleway alongside the A47 to the east of Willow Hall Lane will be relocated where affected by the 
junction improvements

Objections and support for the scheme are split almost equally with regards the safety and 
capacity aspects of the proposed junction improvements. Subject to the detailed design of the 
proposed junction improvements complying with standards (as set out in the Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges), neither Highways England nor the Local Highways Authority have any 
objections. As above, provided the scheme complies with current standards the statutory 
consultees have no objections to the scheme in terms of highway safety.

Some concerns have been raised about the possibility of increased traffic on Willow Hall Lane. 
Traffic exiting the site can be controlled by condition to turn left only, towards the A47 (with the 
exception of any deliveries on the Lane itself). It is not therefore considered that any increase in 
traffic that may be perceived or experienced on Willow Hall Lane is attributable to the development 
proposals themselves. Furthermore, measures are available to the Local Highways Authority 

94



should it be deemed necessary / appropriate to restrict vehicular speed / weight along the 
remaining length of Willow Hall Lane, irrespective of the outcome of this application.

Concerns have also been raised about the prospect of vehicles turning right from Willow Hall Lane 
to the A47. Neither Highways England nor the Local Highways Authority have raised any concerns 
on this matter. Highways England would not support a right turn ban onto the A47, as proposed by 
some objectors, as this would necessitate the creation of a physical barrier on the A47, creating a 
further hazard, and would slow down the movements on a strategic trunk road. It would also create 
further turning movements at the roundabout as eastbound traffic would have to double back on 
itself. Additionally, it is accepted that the majority of vehicle movements associated with the 
proposals would be a left turn onto the A47 due to the proximity of the Peterborough urban area, 
and anticipated infrastructure and growth and requirements.

Access options for the proposal site have been considered by the applicant in conjunction with the 
Highways Authority. A robust approach to alternative site access options from the A47 has been 
undertaken, with the proposed method of access receiving the support of Highways England. 
Although alternative access options, over third party land have not been considered, it is accepted 
that the commercial constraints this would impose render the need to assess such alternatives 
unnecessary. 

It is acknowledged that the 'Implementation Issues' associated with site M1F in the SSP require 
that the following need to be addressed within a planning application; that access should be via the 
A47 using the existing (i.e. Pode Hole Quarry) entrance, and that no access to or from Willow Hall 
Lane will be permitted. The appraisal of alternative access options, and the minimal length of 
Willow Hall Lane used indicate that these issues have been addressed. Furthermore, explanatory 
and supporting text is not policy. 

The proposals are considered to have demonstrated that alternative methods of transport have 
been evaluated and the most appropriate pursued, and that access to the highway network can be 
made suitable, without unacceptable harm to road safety or residential amenity, and are therefore 
considered to be in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS32.

Transport - junction improvements / trees

The appraisal of access options and the basic design of the junction were presented in the original 
proposals put forward. The extent of the impact of the proposed junction design on tree loss has 
only become clear as a result of consultation and provision of further information, and further to the 
appraisal of access options such tree loss is considered unavoidable to ensure the junction 
improvements are designed to the appropriate standard. The overall landscape character, visual 
impact, and ecological impact has been updated to take into account the impact as described 
above; though a number of comments, from residents, Thorney Parish Council and the Tree 
Officer note objections to the tree loss resulting from the proposed junction improvements.

Aboricultural assessments have been provided in respect of the affected trees at both Pasture 
House Plantation and on the southern side of the A47 (no trees to the north of the A47 will be 
affected by the proposed works). The tree officer notes that some 100 trees will be required to be 
removed in total, of which approximately 50 are mature, and considers this to represent a 
significant loss of public amenity. The wide variation in terms of longevity and condition across the 
trees likely to be affected negates any requirement for the use of a Tree Preservation Order (either 
individually or collectively).

Hedgerow and tree planting is proposed as mitigation, the details of which, including, species, size, 
spacing and management, can be controlled by condition. The Tree Officer notes that the timespan 
for any such mitigation planting to reach a level of maturity comparable to those to be lost 
represents a considerable period over which the amenity loss will be observed. Thorney Parish 
Council have concerns that the batching and processing plant will change a rural agricultural 
setting to an industrial setting, and highlight that the emerging draft Local Plan sets out the vision 

95



for 'characterful villages set within an attractive rural landscape'. The Landscape Architect 
acknowledges that tree loss will emphasise the proposal as a 'visual detractor' visible from a 
greater distance, and that all planting, regardless of its state of health, has a role in alleviating the 
visual impact of the proposal.

The significance of the harm to the environment, existing or proposed neighbouring landuses, 
visual intrusion or loss to residential or other amenities, and the ability of the proposal to 
demonstrate that it can be assimilated into its surroundings and local landscape character, needs 
to be taken into consideration. Mitigation measures, including replacement planting and the colour 
of the batching plant, can be controlled by condition and the Landscape Architect has not identified 
any overall significant harm arising from the proposals. Although some parties may be 
disappointed by the loss of mature trees, they are not considered worthy of a Tree Preservation 
Order and the potential loss must be weighed in the balance with the benefits of the proposal. The 
NPPF advises that only as a last resort, if significant (biodiversity) harm arising from a 
development cannot be avoided or adequately mitigated, should planning permission be refused. 
The Wildlife Officer has not advised that significant harm will result to biodiversity from the 
proposed tree loss.

The Landscape Architect and the Tree Officer acknowledge that the proposals will result in a visual 
detractor with amenity loss associated with the loss of mature trees. The unavoidable impacts of 
the tree loss are considered to be localised in a landscape context and will change over time as the 
mitigation planting matures. The adequacy of the mitigation planting should be tempered by 
consideration of the tree quality, which is acknowledged by the Tree Officer and author of the 
Arboricultural Assessment as being very mixed.

The proposals are considered to have demonstrated that alternative methods of transport have 
been evaluated and the most appropriate pursued, and that access to the highway network can be 
made suitable, without unacceptable harm to the environment, and are therefore considered to be 
in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS32.

Other Issues

Process / notification

Some residents of Willow Hall Lane have complained that they were not directly notified of the 
proposal. Although there are a limited number of adjoining neighbours it was accepted that 
residents of the Lane, who may fall within the Mineral Consultation Area of the wider M1F site 
allocation should be given additional time to make comments on the proposals - and during 
subsequent consultation, all respondents have been directly notified. Consultation on the proposals 
have been in accordance with the regulations, the agent has presented details of the proposals 
prior to and post submission, and the Case Officer has attended a meeting of Thorney Parish 
Council to take questions on the proposals. It is not considered that any party has been prejudiced 
in their ability to comment on the proposals.

Contaminated Land

A Desk Top Study (Preliminary Risk Assessment) has been undertaken which has identified a very 
low, to low/moderate risk of potential sources of contamination (including the potential for asbestos 
containing materials occasionally found on farm track and field access points, and for ground gas). 
There is no requirement for further intrusive investigation.

Third party land

Further to a comment being received regarding possible impact on third party land, notice was 
formally served on the potential landowner. The land in question will be subject to clearance works 
associated with the junction improvements. The potentially affected party raised the issue, and 
formal notice was served by the applicant. It is not considered therefore that any party has been 

96



prejudiced on this matter. 

Footpath provision 

It has been suggested that a continuation of the Thorney to Eye cycle path alongside the A47 
should be provided as a community benefit of the application. There is no requirement for such a 
path to be provided unless it is considered necessary to make the development acceptable, which 
it is not in this case. 

Additional points

Supporters of the proposal highlight the additional employment opportunities presented by the 
proposal, and its proximity to construction projects around Peterborough. The potential for more 
competition in the minerals sector locally is also welcomed. The proposed junction improvements 
are also perceived by supporters as likely to reduce the likelihood of fly-tipping and associated 
vermin around the Pasture House Plantation.

6 Conclusions

The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development - in terms of 
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay. The application has been considered in light of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Development Plan, the NPPF and accompanying Planning 
Practice Guidance.

The principle of development is generally in accordance with policy SSP M2 of the SSP which 
allocates the site for sand and gravel extraction; the proposed extraction area lying beyond the 
allocation satisfies policies CS14, CS25 and CS26 of the Core Strategy. The proposal also 
includes the restoration of the site through the importation of inert waste. The site is not allocated 
for inert fill but the proposal complies with polices CS18 and CS25 of the Core Strategy with 
regards to managing waste outside allocated areas due to the requirements to restore high grade 
agricultural land. The proposed concrete batching plant and inert recycling facilities are considered 
to be co-located complimentary to the quarrying and landfill activities and accord with policies 
CS18 and CS41 of the Core Strategy.

An Environmental Statement, including the additional information requested and provided, 
accompanies the application which is considered comprehensive and meets the requirements set 
out in the Town and Country Planning Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2011. 

Detailed topic areas have been assessed and considered;- With regard to soils and agriculture, the 
proposal is in compliance with policies CS 25 and CS38. The water environment has been 
assessed and the proposal is in compliance with policy CS39. The landscape character and visual 
impacts of the proposal are in compliance with policies CS25, CS33 and CS34. Ecology and 
geodiversity, including impacts on protected species and habitats, including those of both national 
and local designations, such as the Nene Washes SSSI, SPA SAC and Ramsar site, and the 
nearby Cat's Water Drain County Wildlife Site have been carefully considered and are in 
compliance with polices CS25, CS34 and CS5. Cultural heritage, including archaeology, the 
historic environment and Scheduled Monuments such as the nearby Bar Pasture Farm SM, have 
been assessed and are in compliance with policy CS36. Issues of noise and dust have been 
considered and are in accordance with policy CS34. Transport, including access, highway safety 
and enhancement of the Green Wheel path network, have been carefully considered and are in 
accordance with polices CS32 and CS37. Other specific matters, such as contaminated land, 
climate change and quarry design have also been considered and are in compliance with 
development plan policy.

Cumulative impacts with the neighbouring quarries and landfill sites at Eyebury, Willow Hall Farm 
and Pode Hole have also been taken into account.

97



Comments of consultees have been taken into account and suitable conditions attached to 
address any issues raised. The comments of the neighbours and other respondents, both for and 
against the proposals, have also been taken into account, and the positive and negative aspects of 
the proposal weighed in the balance. Further, given that the majority of the site is allocated for 
sand and gravel extraction and in all other respects the proposal is acceptable, there is no reason 
not to approve the application in line with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act.

7 Recommendation

The case officer recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the proposed junction 

improvements, based on drawing M14.185D024 dated September 2015, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The access is to comply with 
the standards laid out in "TD 41/95 Vehicular Access to All-Purpose Trunk Roads" of the 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges. The new access should be a minimum of 7 metres 
wide at 15 metres from the existing kerb line of the A47 trunk road. The scheme shall 
include details showing;

i. how the improvement interfaces with the existing highway alignment and 
carriageway markings including lane destinations;

ii. full construction details relating to the highway improvement. This should include 
any modification to existing structures or proposed structures, with supporting 
analysis;

iii. full signing and lighting details, where applicable
iv. confirmation of full compliance with Departmental Standards (DMRB) and policies 

(or approved relaxations/departures from standards);
v. evidence that the scheme is deliverable within land in the control of either the 

Highways Authority or the Applicant, notwithstanding that this may require a 
reasonable departure from normal standards;

vi. an independent stage 2 Road Safety Audit (taking account of any stage 1 Road 
Safety Audit recommendations) carried out in accordance with Departmental 
Standards (DMRB) and advice notes.

The proposed junction improvements shall be carried out and completed prior to the site 
being brought into use.

Reason: The proposed junction improvements are required to be completed to an approved 
standard prior to commencement of development to ensure a safe and appropriate access 
to the highway is secured, in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals 
and Waste Core Strategy policy CS32.

 
C 3 Prior to the site being brought into use, the proposed Foot / cycle path adjacent to Pasture 

House Plantation shall be provided in accordance with details submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Minerals Planning Authority.

98



Reason: To ensure provision of an appropriate section of foot / cycle path for the Green 
Wheel network along the length of Willow Hall Lane affected by the proposed junction 
improvements in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy policy CS37.

 
C 4 No vehicles shall turn right out of the site onto Willow Hall Lane other than for the delivery 

or collection of goods and services to Willow Hall Lane. A directional sign shall be provided 
within private land and close to the site access to ensure that all operational vehicles turn 
left out of the quarry access.

Reason: To ensure the most appropriate method of access to the highway network is 
secured in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy policy CS32.

 
C 5 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 

following approved documents and plans, except as may be required elsewhere in this 
scheme of conditions;

- Planning Application and Supporting Statement, dated October 2015
- Environmental Statement, including Non-Technical Summary and Technical 

Appendices, dated October 2015
- Letters from David Marsh, dated 24 March 2016, 27 May 2016 and, dated 09 

August 2016
- Tree Report, ref. A1405/Trees v1, dated November 2015
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment, dated 6th March 2016
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment, dated 6th July and 13th July 2016
- Landscape Assessment of the Require Removal of Trees, Issue 1, dated August 

2016
- Letter from Jeremy Hurlstone, dated 23 February 2016
- Noise report Addendum, Ref 4442, dated 16 March 2016
- Location Plan, ref. M14.185.D.001, dated July 2015
- Proposed Block Phasing, ref. M14.185.D.003A dated Feb 2016
- Initial Works / Phase 1, ref. M14.185.D.004A, dated Feb 2016
- Phase 2 Working & Restoration, ref. M14.185.D.005A, dated Feb 2016
- Phase 3 Working & Restoration, ref. M14.185.D.006A, dated Feb 2016
- Phase 4 Working & Restoration, ref. M14.185.D.007A, dated Feb 2016
- Phase 5 Working & Restoration, ref. M14.185.D.008A, dated Feb 2016
- Phase 6 Working & Restoration, ref. M14.185.D.009A, dated Feb 2016
- Phased Restoration, ref. M14.185.D.022, dated September 2015
- Concept Restoration Scheme, ref. M14.185.D.010A, dated Feb 2016
- Concrete Batching Plant Cross sections, ref. M14.185.D.011, dated Sept 2015
- Detailed Plant Site Proposals, ref. M14.185.D.031, dated Feb 2016
- Plant Site Elevations, ref. M14.185.D.026, dated Oct 2015
- Crusher and Screener Elevations, ref. M14.185.D.027, dated Oct 2015
- Proposed Access and Highway Improvements, Figure 7, Rev B, dated Sep 2015

Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved.
 
C 6 The site shall be restored on a phased basis in accordance with the numerical phasing as 

demonstrated on the 'Proposed Block Phasing' plan, ref. M14.185.D.003, dated July 2015. 

Prior to the commencement of operations within Phase 5, a sub-phasing plan for this phase 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority.

Notwithstanding any additional landscaping, biodiversity enhancement or aftercare works, 
the restoration of the site shall be complete no later than 25 years after the development is 
commenced, or within 4 years of extraction being completed, whichever is the sooner.

99



Reason: To ensure that the site is restored in a timely manner in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS25.

 
C 7 Prior to the commencement of development an Environmental Management Plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include, but is not limited to;

i. a badger survey to establish whether any badger setts will be affected by the works 
and any required mitigation measures.

ii. a Reptile Method Statement.
iii. a bat survey on all trees of Medium or High potential that may be affected by the 

development and any required mitigation measures.
iv. monitoring and mitigation measures to ensure any flow disruption to Cat's Water 

drain

The development thereafter shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
Environmental Management Plan.

Reason: To protect features of nature conservation importance, in accordance with Policy 
CS35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

 
C 8 No removal of hedgerows or soil stripping shall be carried out on site between the 1 March 

and 31 August inclusive in any year, unless it is demonstrated that nesting birds are not 
present or that the works will not disturb nesting birds. 

Reason: To protect features of nature conservation importance, in accordance with Policy 
CS35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

 
C 9 No development shall take place within 10m of the Cat's Water Drain running adjacent to 

the west of the site.

Reason: To protect features of nature conservation importance, in accordance with Policy 
CS35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

 
C10 The operations authorised, required or associated with the development hereby permitted 

shall only be carried out between the following times;

07:00 - 18:00 Mondays to Fridays
07:00 - 13:00 Saturdays

and at no other times including Sundays and Bank Holidays.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 
C11 Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for the monitoring of noise from the 

site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
scheme.

Reason: To secure an appropriate noise monitoring scheme in the interests of the amenity 
of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34. 

 

100



C12 Except for temporary operations, the level of noise emitted from the site when measured 
(as dBLAeq 1 hour (free field)) at the noise sensitive properties listed, shall not exceed the 
permitted limits during working hours as set out in Table 1 below;

Table 1
Location During permitted daytime working hours
38/39 Willow Hall Lane 48
Pasture House Farm 55
Tollhouse Farm 55
58/59 The Causeway 55
Bar Pasture Farm 48

At the locations listed above the noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 42dB LAeq 1 
hour (free field) at any other time.

 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C13 All plant, machinery and vehicles operated within the site shall be maintained in accordance 
with the manufacturer's specification and shall be fitted with and use effective silencers in 
accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations and shall be operated so as to 
minimise noise emissions. The manufacturer's specifications shall be provided to the 
Mineral Planning Authority within 5 days of being so requested.

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C14 Prior to the commencement of development details of reversing alarms to be fitted to all 
mobile plant shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The approved reversing alarms shall be utilised on all mobile plant throughout the 
period of development.

 
Reason: To secure appropriate reversing alarms in the interests of the amenity of the 
nearest residential occupiers in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C15 For temporary operations essential for site preparation work and restoration such as soil 
stripping and replacement, bund formation and removal, the free field noise level due to 
operations at the nearest point to the locations identified in Table 1, condition 12, shall not 
exceed 70 dB LAeq, 1 hour (free field). The Mineral Planning Authority shall be notified 
between 7 and 21 days in advance of essential temporary operations. Temporary 
operations shall not take place for more than eight weeks in any calendar year.

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C16 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the mitigation measures outlined 
in the 'Dust Assessment' report dated September 2015.

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C17 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme for the monitoring and reporting of 
dust emissions to enable an effective response to complaints shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Mineral Planning Authority.

 

101



Reason: To secure an appropriate dust monitoring scheme in the interests of the amenity of 
the nearest residential occupiers in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C18 Prior to commencement of development a programme of archaeological work, including a 
Written Scheme of Investigation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Mineral Planning Authority. The development thereafter shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved scheme. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full 
including any post development requirements e.g. archiving and submission of final reports.

 
Reason: To secure the obligation on the applicant or developer to mitigate the impact of the 
scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not possible, in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS36.

C19 Plant and vehicle movements shall be restricted to clearly defined haul routes or to the 
overburden surface and shall not cross areas of topsoil or subsoil except for the express 
purpose of soil stripping or replacement operations.

 
Reason: To minimise dust and to ensure the sustainable use of soils in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS34 and 
CS38.

C20 The developer shall make allowance for Temporary Section Recording of the sand and 
gravel sequences on an annual basis and / or at the request of the Minerals Planning 
Authority.

 
Reason: To secure the benefits of exposing the geological interest within a RIGS in 
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policy CS35.

C21 Any fuel, oil or chemical storage above ground and refuelling facilities shall be bunded to at 
least 110% of the tank capacity and constructed on an impermeable base with an 
independent sealed drainage system with no direct discharge to any watercourse, land or 
underground strata.

 
Reason: To protect the water environment in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS39.

C22 Prior to the installation and use of any permanent lighting, a scheme of lighting shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include details of the types of lights, mountings and positions, lux values and measures to 
prevent light spillage occurring outside the site. No lighting shall be erected except in 
accordance with approved scheme.

 
Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C23 Wheel cleaning facilities shall be provided on site and retained in a location adjacent to the 
hard surfaced access to the site, and used as necessary to prevent detritus being tracked 
onto the public highway. In the event of breakdown, temporary wheel cleaning measures 
should be deployed until the permanent wheel cleaning facility is operable. The wheel 
cleaning facility shall remain in use on site until the final works of restoration have been 
completed.

 

102



Reason: In the interests of the amenity of neighbouring uses and highway safety in 
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policies CS32 and CS34.

C24 No waste shall be received at the site until a bunded facility for the receipt of waste found to 
be unacceptable after delivery has been provided within the stockyard area, in accordance 
with details which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The approved facility shall be retained until the last waste delivery has been 
received.

 
Reason: In the interests of water pollution prevention in accordance with Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS39.

C25 Prior to the commencement of development a detailed landscaping scheme, including the 
timing of planting, to include mitigation planting in the first available planting season 
following completion of the junction improvement works, species numbers, size, spacing 
and density, and aftercare and management, including management responsibilities and 
schedules, for a period not less than the duration of the approved development, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral planning Authority based on the 
'Concept Restoration Scheme', ref.  M14.185.D.010A dated Feb 2016, and including 
appropriate replacement planting for tree loss resulting from the junction improvements 
works.

Should any trees, shrubs or other planting die, become diseased or be removed within 5 
years from its planting, it shall be replaced in the first available planting season with a plant 
/ plants of a similar size and species to that removed.

The development shall not take place except in complete accordance with the approved 
scheme.

 
Reason: To secure appropriate mitigation for the unavoidable short term visual impact and 
provide long term enhancement in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS25, CS33 and CS34.

C26 Prior to the commencement of development, an Arboricultural Method Statement, 
describing all tree protection measures, and defining the interface of the Willow Hall Lane 
improvement works, provision of foot / cycle path and Pasture House Plantation shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority.

 
Reason: To secure appropriate protection for retained trees in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C27 The operator shall give the Mineral Planning Authority between 7 and 21 days written 
notice prior to the commencement of top or sub soil stripping from any part of the site. Prior 
to soil stripping any standing crop or vegetation shall be removed.

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of surrounding uses and to ensure the sustainable 
use of soils in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy policies CS34 and CS38.

C28 Prior to the commencement of any top or sub soil stripping in each phase (or part phase) a 
scheme of soil handling and movement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme shall include, but is not limited to;

i. soil handling techniques (e.g. Defra's Good Practice guide for Handling Soil, moving 
soils when in a dry and friable condition, avoiding soil handling during and shortly 

103



after significant rainfall, not handling and moving soils between November and 
March);

ii. identifying the origin, intermediate and final locations of all soils (top and sub) for 
use in agricultural restoration, as defined by soil units, together with details 
balancing the quantities, depths and areas involved;

iii. bund formation and management

The development shall thereafter be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
scheme.

 
Reason: In the interest of securing the sustainable use of soils in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS38.

C29 Prior to the final placement of soils a scheme of soil placement and agricultural aftercare 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include, but is not limited to;

i. measures for soil replacement, stone removal and under-drainage
ii. the depth of sub and top soils to be placed
iii. remediation measures for any areas of differential settlement
iv. provision for a minimum of 5 years agricultural aftercare with an outline aftercare 

strategy

Soil replacement and agricultural aftercare shall thereafter be carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved scheme other than such minor variations as may be required 
in the annual detailed programmes for the forthcoming year which have been approved by 
the Mineral Planning Authority.

 
Reason: In the interest of securing the sustainable use of soils in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS38.

C30 Only inert material to which the developer has fulfilled their duty to apply the waste 
hierarchy shall be used for the restoration of the site.

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt of the extent of the proposed development and 
operations hereby permitted, and to ensure that the principles of the waste hierarchy have 
been applied in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy policy CS2.

C31 No topsoil or basal clay shall be removed from the site.
 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt of the extent of the proposed development and 
operations hereby permitted in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34 and 39.

C32 No stockpile of processed, unprocessed or mineral material shall exceed a height at any 
point of 5 metres above the ground at the time of working.

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the surround area and in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C33 Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Management Plan for the initial 
works including the construction of the concrete batching plant, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. The Plan shall include, but is not 
limited to;

104



i. a scheme of chassis and wheel cleaning for all HCV's including contingency 
measures should these facilities become in-operative and a scheme for the cleaning 
for affected public highways

ii. a scheme of working hours for construction and other site works
iii. a scheme for construction access including measures to ensure that all construction 

vehicles can enter the site immediately upon arrival, adequate space within the site 
to enable vehicles to turn / /load and unload clear of the public highway and details 
of any haul routes across the site

iv. a scheme for parking of contractors vehicles

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved plan.
 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the surrounding area and the sustainable use of 
soils in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy policies CS34 and CS38.

C34 Prior to extraction of any mineral, a parking area appropriate in size to accommodate the 
parking requirements of 25 cars and 15 HGVs shall be provided within the site for vehicles 
to park and turn clear of the public highway, and those area shall not thereafter be used for 
any purpose other than the parking and turning of vehicles.

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS32.

C35 Prior to the commencement of each phase of development, a drainage layout scheme shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall include, but is not limited to;

i. technical specifications of drainage assets, including any pump specifications
ii. attenuation capacity of any lagoons / sumps
iii. maximum discharge rates

The development thereafter shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
drainage scheme.

 
Reason: In the interests of water resources management and prevention of flood risk in 
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policy CS39.

C36 Prior to the commencement of development, a colour scheme for all buildings, including the 
office and concrete batching plant shall be submitted to and approved by the Mineral 
Planning Authority. The colour scheme shall be retained, and maintained as required, 
thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of mitigating the visual impact of the development hereby permitted 
in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policy CS34.

 
C37 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (or any other statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that 
order) no fixed or mobile plant, machinery or buildings connected with the development 
shall be erected or placed on site without the express permission of the Mineral Planning 
Authority.

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt of the extent of the development and operations 
hereby permitted, and to safeguard the amenity of the area and minimise disturbance to 

105



adjacent land users in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

C38 In the event of cessation of operations prior to the completion of development hereby 
permitted, which in the opinion of the Mineral Planning Authority constitutes a permanent 
cessation within the terms of paragraph 3 Schedule 9 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, a revised scheme, to include details of the restoration, landscaping and aftercare, 
shall be submitted within 12 months of the cessation to the Minerals Planning Authority for 
approval. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full within 12 months of the written 
approval.

 
 Reason: To secure a beneficial afteruse for the site in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS25.

Copies to Councillors:
Steve Allen
Richard Brown
David Sanders

106


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 6 September 2016
	5.1 16/00578/R3FUL - Jack Hunt School, Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough
	5.1 1600578R3FUL - Jack Hunt School Report
	5.1 Appendix 1 1600578R3FUL - Jack Hunt School Report
	5.1 Appendix 2 1600578R3FUL - Jack Hunt School Report
	5.1 Appendix 3 1600578R3FUL - Jack Hunt School Report

	5.2 15/01839/MMFUL - Pasture House Farm, The Causeway, Thorney, Peterborough
	5.2 1501839MMFUL - Pasture House Farm Report




